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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE 
 
 
 
To the Hon John Kobelke MLA 
Minister for Consumer and Employment Protection 
 
 
 
 

In accordance with Section 62 of the Financial Administration and Audit Act 1985, 
I hereby submit for your information and presentation to Parliament the Annual Report 
of the Department of Consumer and Employment Protection for the year ended 
30 June 2003. 

 

The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the 
Financial Administration and Audit Act 1985. 

 

This report also fulfils my obligations pursuant to Section 26 of the Consumer Affairs 
Act 1971, Section 60 of the Credit (Administration Act) 1984, Section 10A of the 
Employment Agents Act 1976, Section 7(5) of the Petroleum Products Pricing Act 
1983, Section 175ZE(1) of the Electoral Act 1907 and Section 12(1) of the Retirement 
Villages Act 1992. 

 

 
Brian Bradley 
Director General 
Department of Consumer and Employment Protection 
 
30 August 2003 
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DIRECTOR GENERAL’S REPORT 
 
 

I am pleased to report to the Western Australian community that the department’s 
second full year as one integrated organisation resulted in numerous enhancements to 
the services provided by our staff. 

In organisational terms, the department successfully bedded down some issues still 
remaining from the previous year’s merger of WorkSafe Western Australia, the Ministry 
of Fair Trading, Department of Productivity and Labour Relations and the Office of 
Energy Safety. Such issues included new administrative systems, reviewing human 
resource, compliance and management policies and establishing a strategic approach 
to staff training. I am particularly pleased to note every staff member received training 
in equal employment opportunity, while investigators were provided with additional, 
specialised training in their fields of operation. 

The Department of Consumer and Employment Protection also finalised changes to its 
office locations, both in Perth and country areas. Staff of the previous agencies are 
now co-located at one office in each regional centre, so customers now benefit from a 
one-stop service arrangement for most services offered by the department.  These 
changes have resulted in better overall customer service. 

We continued our commitment to rapidly address emerging issues across all 
compliance and inspection areas. For example, the department’s WorkSafe Division 
worked closely with industry and the WorkSafe Western Australia Commission to 
confront problems in the tilt-up and pre-cast concrete construction industry, in 
developing a new code of conduct and training curriculum for the industry’s people. In 
response to widespread concern about safety in construction generally, the 
Government committed to more inspectors to this area. 

Consumers’ concerns about unsolicited scams led to the development of the on-line 
WA ScamNet service, which encourages the public to assist the department in 
exposing, then shutting down, scams likely to cost West Australians hundreds of 
thousands of dollars. This has been an innovative and successful compliance initiative. 

At a policy level, a major project for the department was preparing to assist the 
Government in its reform of Consumer Protection boards and committees. Whilst likely 
to streamline processes for industries and the public, these reforms have significant 
administrative and policy implications for the department which will need to be finalised 
in the coming year. 

Gas and electrical safety legislation was reviewed with amendments likely in the near 
future, while wide industry consultation on the system of granting restricted electrical 
worker licences took place. 
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The Labour Relations Division played a key role in the implementation of the Labour 
Relations Reform Act, which significantly altered the State’s industrial relations 
landscape. Strong education, industry liaison and advice through the Wageline call 
centre supported this and other significant reforms. 

Sadly, there were increases in the number of electrocutions and other workplace 
fatalities this year. The WorkSafe Division will harden its resolve in 2003-04 to monitor 
workplaces and carry out effective education programs. 

Significant information campaigns continued, such as the ThinkSafe television 
advertising campaign, promotion of changes to commercial transport attitudes to 
fatigue-management, and planning for the forthcoming on-line roll-out of both REVS 
and the Business Names Register. 

Finally, I wish to congratulate staff for their unwavering efforts in a year of ongoing 
change. In general terms, the department’s workforce is experienced, diverse and 
committed to what it is charged to do. Over and above good management, sound 
processes and technological advances, excellent customer service ultimately rests 
upon the commitment by our people to do their jobs well and I am satisfied they have 
done so this year. 

 

I commend this annual report to you. 

 
Brian Bradley 
Director General 
Department of Consumer and Employment Protection 
 
29 August 2003 
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INTRODUCING DOCEP 
 
 

RESPONSIBLE MINISTER 
 

The Department of Consumer and Employment Protection is responsible to the Hon 
John Kobelke MLA, Minister for Consumer and Employment Protection for the 
administration of consumer protection, labour relations, energy safety and occupational 
safety and health legislation. 

The department’s Energy Safety Directorate is responsible to the Hon Eric Ripper MLA, 
Deputy Premier, Treasurer and Minister for Energy, for administration of legislation 
dealing with the technical and safety regulation of all electricity and most gas activities 
in the State. 

OUR PURPOSE 
To create an employment and trading environment that protects consumers and 
workers. 

WHAT WE DO 
We achieve this by: 
 

�� taking an approach which appropriately balances the interests of consumers 
and traders, and employees and employers; 

�� administering legislation and regulations related to consumer protection, 
labour relations, occupational safety and health, and energy safety; 

�� monitoring compliance with legislation and taking appropriate action when 
there is non-compliance; 

�� providing policy and legislative advice to the Minister and other key 
stakeholders; 

�� providing information and community education services; 
�� licensing and registration of entities and individuals to ensure appropriate 

standards are met; 
�� ensuring appropriate dispute resolution procedures are in place where 

relevant; 
�� managing fidelity funds to provide compensation for people who have suffered 

losses in specific areas of consumer protection; and 
�� providing emergency management services, particularly in relation to liquid 

fuel supplies. 
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OUR CUSTOMERS 
We work with and provide services to: 

�� the Western Australian public; 
�� employees; 
�� employers; 
�� consumers; 
�� traders; 
�� business; and 
�� employee and employer organisations. 

 

OUR OPERATING ENVIRONMENT 
The department operates within a demanding environment. Changes to work and 
trading environments are placing greater demands on workers and consumers than 
ever before. 

Some of the external issues impacting on our operating environment are: 

�� rapidly changing technological advancements; 
�� growth in the small business sector; 
�� globalisation and the power of big business; 
�� the State’s ageing population; 
�� the changing nature of the workforce; 
�� the increasing complexity of consumer transactions; 
�� a growing emphasis on information access; and 
�� ever-increasing customer expectations. 

 

These issues were an important consideration in developing our plans for the future. 
The department’s four-year strategic plan, Future Directions 2002-2005, can be found 
at www.docep.wa.gov.au. 
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DOCEP’S ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE 
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CORPORATE EXECUTIVE 
 

Brian Bradley 

Director General and WorkSafe Western Australia Commissioner 

Brian Bradley was appointed substantively as Director General during December 2002 
after acting in this position from July 2001. Brian has 38 years’ experience in the state 
public sector, having been involved principally in safety and health since 1983.  He also 
has experience in labour relations and consumer protection and is the current 
Chairperson of the Workers’ Compensation and Rehabilitation Commission. 

Brian is also a member of the National Occupational Health and Safety Commission 
(NOHSC), chair of the NOHSC Prevention Committee and deputy chair of the 
WorkSafe Western Australia Commission. He was awarded a Public Service Medal in 
June 2003. 

Patrick Walker 

Executive Director, Consumer Protection, Commissioner for Fair Trading and Prices 
Commissioner 

Patrick Walker commenced his current position as Commissioner for Fair Trading and 
Prices Commissioner in June 1998.  Prior to this he had extensive management 
experience in local government with his most recent positions as Chief Executive 
Officer at the City of Subiaco (1993 to 1998) and Chief Executive Officer at the Town of 
Narrogin (1986 to 1993). 

In addition to performing the role of Executive Director, Consumer Protection, Patrick is 
also a member of the Legal Aid Commission of Western Australia; a member of the 
Medical Board of Western Australia; and a Trustee of the National Travel 
Compensation Fund. 

Jeff Radisich 

A/Executive Director, Labour Relations 

Jeff Radisich was appointed as Acting Executive Director Labour Relations in 
July 2001.  Prior to this appointment he was Acting Chief Executive Officer, 
Department of Productivity and Labour Relations from February 2001. 

Jeff has extensive experience in public sector labour relations since 1982.  
His experience and expertise covers the provision of services to the Government, 
public and private sectors on labour relations legislation, policy and practice. 
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Nina Lyhne 

A/Executive Director, WorkSafe Division 

Nina Lyhne was appointed as Acting Executive Director of the WorkSafe Division in 
September 2002. Prior to this appointment she was Acting Executive Director of the 
department’s Strategy Division, and was previously a member of the WorkSafe 
Corporate Executive, and Executive Director of the Office of Road Safety (1998 to 
2000). 

Nina has extensive experience in the State Government where she has worked for five 
different agencies in sectors ranging from commerce and trade to community 
development to occupational safety and health. She has been a member of the 
Corporate Executive of the last three agencies in which she has worked. 

Brian Roche 

A/Executive Director, Corporate Services 

Brian Roche was appointed Acting Executive Director, Corporate Services in August 
2001. Prior to this appointment, he was the Assistant Commissioner, Corporate 
Services at the Office of the Commissioner of Workplace Agreements. 

Brian has extensive experience in corporate services and management at executive 
levels in State and local government as well as in large private organisations. 

Chris White 

A/Executive Director Strategy 

Chris White was appointed Acting Executive Director Strategy in November 2002. Prior 
to this, he held the position of Assistant Director Strategy at WorkCover Western 
Australia. Chris has extensive experience within WorkSafe, where he held the positions 
of Director of Policy and Director of Information. He has experience in policy 
development and implementation, and strategic planning. 

Declaration of interests 

The Corporate Executive Team of DOCEP acknowledges the requirement to declare 
any existing or proposed contract between the department and a senior officer and 
reports that during this financial year there were no conflicts of this nature to declare. 
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YEAR IN REVIEW 
 
 

HIGHLIGHTS OF THE YEAR 
This year the department undertook a number of significant projects across the 
operational, policy and administrative areas.  Highlights during the year for DOCEP 
included: 

�� transferring the Technical & Safety Division of the Office of Energy to the 
Department of Consumer and Employment Protection, where it is now known 
as the Energy Safety Directorate; 

�� development of an on-line services plan, including strategies to deliver a 
number of key customer services on-line, beginning with REVS in September 
2003; 

�� implementing a new Code of Conduct for department staff; 
�� providing tailored investigation training for investigators and inspectors, which 

should further raise the quality of compliance work by staff; 
�� carrying out enforcement drives in relation to unsafe work practices associated 

with tilt-up concrete construction, cranes and forklifts; 
�� introducing a comprehensive regulatory framework to better control fatigue in 

the road transport industry; 
�� conducting the next phase of the high-profile ThinkSafe television advertising 

campaign, to make employers and workers aware of common workplace 
hazards and how to deal with them; 

�� creating a new weights and measures database to guide  inspectors’ program 
of inspections for equipment such as weighbridges, flowmeters and other 
devices used to measure for trade purposes; 

�� further developing WA ScamNet – an innovative compliance program by the 
Consumer Protection Division to counter the vast number of scams flooding 
into Western Australia from overseas or other States; 

�� the passage of new legislation to allow for the regulation of the motor vehicle 
repair industry in Western Australia; 

�� addressing policy and management issues that will help the department deal 
with significant administrative changes expected in 2004, arising from the 
Government’s review of Consumer Protection boards and committees; 

�� establishing new safety standards by publishing the Code of Practice – Power 
Line Crossings of Navigable Waterways. This followed recommendations by 
the State Coroner inquiring into the electrocution of a yachtsman; 

�� completing a comprehensive review and public consultation on cornerstone 
consumer protection legislation, the Fair Trading Act 1987 and the Consumer 
Affairs Act 1971. Changes to these Acts are now likely to move forward; 

�� participating in the first national liquid fuel shortage simulation, to test 
processes for implementing restrictions and rationing, through the work of the 
National Oil Supplies Emergency Committee; 
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�� amending the Gas Standards (Gasfitting and Consumer Gas Installations) 
Regulations 1999 to update the technical requirements for consumer gas 
installations so they conform with the latest national standards. These 
regulations deal with the technical and safety aspects of consumers’ gas 
installations and the work of gas fitters; 

�� completing a review of work practices within the electrical contracting industry. 
This review was in response to an increasing number of serious electrical 
accidents involving electrical workers, and involved extensive consultation. 
It identified the need to set out particular safety requirements for “live” 415/20v 
electrical work; 

�� implementing the Labour Relations Reform Act, including the development of 
four new set of regulations to support and enhance the new labour relations 
regulatory framework; 

�� completing a promotional and education campaign for the Labour Relations 
Reform Act, using radio and newspaper advertisements, public seminars, 
publications and advice through Wageline and the Education and Advisory 
Service; 

�� establishing collective agreements as the primary form of employment 
regulation in the public sector, reducing the number of agency agreements 
from approximately 350 to 55, with a set of core conditions for the majority of 
employees; and 

�� implementing an information campaign for young people about pay rates, 
conditions of employment and their legal rights at work.  This comprised a 
mail-out of information to schools and TAFE colleges and universities, a new 
youth oriented website and a series of press advertisements. 

PLANNING FOR THE FUTURE 
The department operates within an integrated planning framework that encompasses 
high-level output based management and performance measurement, along with 
detailed corporate strategies and business plans. 

The planning framework is made up of: 

�� a purpose and outcome statement; 
�� a strategic plan - Future Directions 2002-2005; 
�� corporate strategies; and 
�� business plans. 

The Minister endorsed the department’s Strategic Plan Future Directions 2002-2005 
during May 2002.  The plan details the directions and the corporate strategies that the 
department will pursue during the next few years.  The four directions identified for the 
department are outlined below. 
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Enhancing the capability of the community 

 The WA community will have access to knowledge and information so that 
consumers and traders, and employees and employers can exercise their rights 
and meet their obligations. 

1. Enhancing the regulatory environment 

 Legislation regulating the trading and employment marketplace will be reviewed 
and changes sought to reflect the changing environment and achieve outcomes 
acceptable to the community. 

2. Enforcing the law 

 Compliance with regulation governing consumer protection, labour relations, 
and occupational safety and health will be motivated and enforced effectively, 
efficiently and equitably. 

3. Building DOCEP as an organisation 

 DOCEP will have the required skills, resources and commitment to deliver 
consumer and employment protection outcomes that meet Government 
expectations. 

 

A new performance framework has been developed that will provide all areas of 
DOCEP with a single, unified approach for planning and evaluating service delivery.  
The new performance framework is aligned to the three externally focused direction 
statements of the Strategic Plan.  The new performance framework and its integration 
with the department’s corporate planning initiatives will commence during July 2003. 
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PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
 

 

 

 

CERTIFICATION OF PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
 
 
 
 

I hereby certify that the performance indicators are based on proper records, are 
relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the Department of Consumer 
and Employment Protection’s performance, and fairly represent the performance of the 
Department of Consumer and Employment Protection for the financial year ended 
30 June 2003. 

 
Brian Bradley 
Accountable Officer 
 
30 August 2003 
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RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN DESIRED OUTCOMES AND OUTPUTS 
The Department of Consumer and Employment Protection’s performance framework 
was revised during 2001 to accommodate a new role regarding energy safety and 
quality.  The review resulted in the department aiming to achieve three government 
desired outcomes through the delivery of four outputs to the Western Australian 
community.  Key performance indicators for each area of responsibility are included in 
the performance framework.  The diagram below illustrates links between the 
outcomes desired by Government and the outputs of the department. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Output 

Consumer Protection and Business Regulation Services 

Description 

The provision of consumer protection advice, information, education and business 
regulation services. 

Outcome Statement 
Consumers have access to a fair and competitive marketplace.

 
 

Output 
Occupational Safety and Health 

Services 

Description 

The provision of occupational safety and 
health information, education and 

regulation services. 

 
Output 

Energy Safety and Quality  
Services 

Description 

The provision of energy safety and 
quality information, education and 

regulation services. 

Outcome Statement 
A community in which workplaces are operated in a safe and 
healthy manner, and in which energy related safety and quality 
standards are met. 

 
Output 

Labour Relations Services 

Description 

The provision of labour relations advice, information, education and compliance services. 

Outcome Statement 
A Western Australian labour relations environment that 
balances the rights and obligations of employees and 
employers. 
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Effectiveness Performance Indicators 

Effectiveness Performance Indicators have been established for each of the desired 
Outcomes.  Largely the Indicators are based on effectiveness measures previously 
applied and reported by the department.  New measures have been adopted in relation 
to energy safety and quality, and labour relations.  The Effectiveness Performance 
Indicators presented are consistent with those published by the Department of 
Treasury and Finance in the Budget Papers for 2002-03.  Where possible comparisons 
with data from previous years has been provided. 

Efficiency Performance Indicators 

Efficiency Performance Indicators have been calculated for each of the output areas of 
the department.  The Indicators are based on cost measures for the output areas as 
published by the Department of Treasury and Finance in the Budget Papers for 2002-
03.  Where possible comparisons with data from previous years has been provided. 

Atypical Items 

The department’s total expenditure for 2002-03 included two atypical items as outlined 
in Table 1.  These items were not directly attributable to the production of the 
department’s outputs.  Consequently, the cost associated with these items has been 
excluded from the calculation of the department’s Efficiency Performance Indicators. 

TABLE 1:   ATYPICAL ITEMS 

Item Cost 2000-01 Cost 2001-02 Cost 2002-03 Overview 

Finance Brokers 
Supervisors $ 3,712,130 $3,223,328 $ 385,317 

Finance Brokers 
Supervisors presents the 
administration of costs for 
supervisors and 
administrators appointed to 
Grubb, Global and 
Knightsbridge finance 
brokers. 

Direct Support 
to Boards $ 465,941 $ 687,788 $ 786,951 

The costs recorded against 
Direct Support to the 
Boards are costs incurred 
by the Real Estate and 
Business Agents 
Supervisory Board and the 
Settlement Agents 
Supervisory Board which 
are paid, in the first 
instance, by the 
department.  The costs are 
fully recoverable from the 
Boards. 
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Output 

Consumer Protection and Business Regulation Services 
 

Description 

The provision of consumer protection advice, information, education and business 
regulation services. 

Outcome Statement 
Consumers have access to a fair and competitive marketplace. 

OUTCOME ONE  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The department’s effectiveness in achieving the outcome of consumers having access 
to a fair and competitive marketplace is indicated by the extent to which consumers 
perceive:  

�� that businesses generally act fairly toward consumers; and 
�� that consumers are well informed about their rights and responsibilities 

with the marketplace being defined as the Western Australian market for consumer 
goods and services. 

Effectiveness Performance Indicator Results 

During 2002-03 a survey of 405 Western Australian consumers was undertaken by a 
private research firm.  A sample size of 405 enables a maximum sampling error of �5% 
(at the 95% confidence level).  That is, for the results presented in the tables, we can 
be 95% confident that the “true” population response lies within �5% of the result 
obtained from the survey. 

The survey sample was generated from a database called ‘Australia on Disc CD ROM’ 
which is, in turn, sourced from the White Page listings.  Respondents in the household 
were selected using the “birthday method” whereby the interviewer requests to speak 
to the person currently in the household who was next in line to celebrate his or her 
birthday.  A response rate of 27% was achieved as 405 of the people contacted agreed 
to participate in the survey and 1,115 of the people contacted refused to participate.  
Attempted calls made totalled 4,154.  However, 2,634 of these calls were not included 
in the calculation of the response rate due to the response being no answer, a wrong or 
disconnected number, engaged line or answered by a machine. 

Table 2 provides the results, over six years, of responses to questions designed to 
elicit consumer perceptions of the commercial environment.  The department defines a 
fair marketplace to be one in which consumers believe businesses: 
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�� provide consumers with accurate information about standards and availability 
of goods and services; and  

�� act fairly in relation to consumers. 

Compared to 2000-01, for 2001-02 there was a slight increase in the number of 
respondents who indicated that they believed businesses generally act fairly towards 
consumers.  The 2002-03 result is slightly lower than that reported for 2001-02.  
Compared to 2000-01, the slight increase is attributed to more positive views of 
particular industries and a greater number of consumers believing that businesses 
provide consumers with accurate information.  During the past six years a slight 
upward trend has occurred. 

TABLE 2: TO INDICATE A FAIR MARKET PLACE 
Effectiveness 
Performance Indicator 1997-98 1998-99 1999-00 2000-01 2001-02 2002-03 Target 

The extent to which 
consumers believe 
businesses generally act 
fairly toward consumers. 

65.8% 66.4% 70.6% 67.7% 73.6% 73.1% 70% 

Table 3 provides the results, over six years, of responses to questions designed to 
elicit consumer perceptions of the marketplace.  The department contributes to the 
development of a competitive marketplace by empowering consumers through 
information and education.  The department believes that the provision of information 
and education will equip consumers to make choices that encourage fair and 
competitive trading practices by business.  

The 2002-03 results denote an increase in the extent to which consumers believe they 
are well informed about their rights and responsibilities compared to 2001-02.  The 
increase is attributable to the number of survey respondents who are aware of at least 
one organisation which provides information about consumer rights and 
responsibilities, and awareness of organisations that assist in dispute resolution. 

TABLE 3: TO INDICATE CONSUMERS ARE WELL INFORMED 
Effectiveness 
Performance Indicator 

1997-98 1998-99 1999-00 2000-01 2001-02 2002-03 Target 

The extent to which 
consumers believe they 
are well informed about 
their rights and 
responsibilities. 

65.3% 72.7% 67.5% 66.7% 59.9% 68.7% 70% 
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OUTPUT ONE  

Efficiency Performance Indicator Results 

The Efficiency Indicators for the Output of Consumer Protection and Business 
Regulation Services are calculated by distributing total expenditure in accordance with 
the proportion of operational staff time devoted to delivering each service. 

To determine the proportion of staff time committed to the delivery of each service a 
staff resources survey is undertaken.  Staff record the time spent undertaking the 
activities that define the individual Efficiency Indicators.  Additionally, the staff 
resources allocated by the Communications Directorate determine the portion of that 
directorate’s expenditure allocated to this output. 

TABLE 4: EFFICIENCY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS FOR THE OUTPUT AREA OF CONSUMER 
AND BUSINESS REGULATION SERVICES 

Efficiency Performance 
Indicator  

Assumed 
average cost 
for 2000-01 

Assumed 
average cost 
for 2001-02 

 Average cost for 
2002-03 

Average cost per service to 
and on behalf of Government  $513 $544  $777.15 

Average cost per advice 
service  $5.84 $6.87  $7.59 

Average cost per information 
and education service  not comparable not comparable  $1.48 

Average cost per regulation 
service  $15.58 $16.09  $19.87 

The department adopted new Efficiency Indicators for the output of Consumer 
Protection and Business Regulation Services for 2002-03.  Performance information 
provided for 2000-01 and 2001-02 has been recalculated.  The comparative data is 
intended to be a guide, not an unequivocal report of performance.  

Efficiency Performance Indicator Explanation of Result Variations 

There are noteworthy differences between the 2001 - 2002 and 2002-03 results for the 
Efficiency Indicators that apply to a number of the service activities undertaken within 
the Output of Consumer and Business Services.  The department has identified various 
factors contributing to the results, which are outlined in the following. 

�� Performance information provided for 2000-01 and 2001-02 has been 
recalculated using ‘best fit’ base data. 
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Output 
Occupational Safety and Health 

Services 
 

Description 

The provision of occupational safety and 
health information, education and 

 
 

Output 
Energy Safety and Quality  

Services 
 

Description 

The provision of energy safety and quality 
information, education and regulation 

Outcome Statement 
A community in which workplaces are operated in a safe 
and healthy manner, and in which energy related safety 
and quality standards are met. 

�� The average cost per information service reported for 2002-03 is not 
comparable to results reported for previous years.  The department adopted 
the Department of Industry and Technology recommendation to use ‘visitor 
sessions’ to monitor the number of services provided via the internet, rather 
than ‘hits’.  The implementation of this recommendation resulted in a 
significant decrease in the quantity of units reported for information and 
education.  A reduction in quantity resulted in an increase in average cost. 

�� Services to and on behalf of Government is a new measure which 
amalgamated several indicators reported previously.  A newly developed 
weighting systems was implemented for 2002-03 to overcome the aggregation 
of required to report against the single new indicator. 

OUTCOME TWO  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Outcome Statement ‘A community in which workplaces are operated in a safe and 
healthy manner, and in which energy related safety and quality standards are met’ was 
adopted at the beginning of 2002-03.  The statement reflects the Government’s 
expectation that the department should significantly impact upon the levels of safety in 
workplaces, and the extent to which electricity and gas safety and quality standards are 
met within the community.  The department aims to achieve this Outcome through the 
delivery of two outputs to the Western Australian community. 

The department’s effectiveness in bringing about workplaces that are operated in a 
safe and healthy manner is assessed in terms of the extent to which workplaces meet 
set criteria for work safety and health in priority areas.  The department establishes 
priority areas each year. 

A review of the priority areas was undertaken during 2002-03.  The results of the 
review were the replacement of demolition with slips and trips, and the broadening of 
the priority area of young people in the workplace to include new workers.  Additionally, 
lifting activities were the particular focus of the priority area of manual handling. 
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The department’s effectiveness in ensuring that safety and quality standards regarding 
electricity and gas are met is assessed in terms of the: 

�� number of electricity caused accidents per million population; 
�� number of gas caused accidents per million population; 
�� extent to which electricity supply meets quality benchmarks; and 
�� extent to which gas supply meets quality benchmarks. 

Effectiveness Performance Indicator Results 

WORKPLACE SAFETY 
The result for the Effectiveness Indicator regarding workplace safety is obtained by 
assessing workplaces against the criteria established by the department for the afore 
mentioned priority areas.  During the course of investigations the department 
inspectors complete Priority Investigation Reports (PIRs).  PIRs contain a checklist of 
elements that constitute the minimum requirements for inspectors to assess when the 
workplace being visited falls within one of the priority areas.  All investigations for PIRs 
are conducted using a standard format introduced during 2000-01.  The checklist of 
elements, used as the assessment tool, is not a full compliance check, but represents 
the key elements established for the relevant priority area.  The checklist of elements 
used for 2002-03 is provided as Attachment One. 

During 2002-03 a total of 8,926 PIRs were completed.  Presented in Table 5 is the 
actual number of elements checked during PIR investigations, and extent of 
compliance with the elements for each priority area.  Results for comparable 
assessments undertaken during 2000-01 and 2001-02 have been included in the table. 

It is important to note that improved compliance in the priority areas and for individual 
elements may not be reflected from one year to the next.  Inspectors visit a range of 
workplaces and do not necessarily return to the same workplace from one year to the 
next.  A pattern of continuous improvement may not be evident in the short term.  
However, the approach of identifying and assessing priority areas is a useful one, 
enabling longer term trends in the level of compliance to be identified. 

Although the level of compliance for the priority area of new and young workers is 
lower for 2002-03 (78%) compared to 2001-02 (83%), it should be noted that the 
results are not directly comparable due to the amendment to the scope of the priority 
area.  During 2001-02 the priority area was restricted to young workers.  Broadening 
the priority area to include new workers may have resulted in the detection of relatively 
lower levels of compliance for the priority area. 
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TABLE 5: TO INDICATE THAT WORKPLACES ARE OPERATED IN A SAFE AND HEALTHY MANNER 
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ENERGY SAFETY AND QUALITY 
Under the Machinery of Government reform recommendations the Technical and 
Safety Division of the Office of Energy was transferred to the Department of Consumer 
and Employment Protection as a Directorate within the WorkSafe Division on 1 July 
2003.  The amalgamation necessitated the development and inclusion of appropriate 
key performance indicators for 2002-03.   

Following the transfer of the energy safety and quality function from the Office of 
Energy, new effectiveness indicators were developed effective from 2002-03.  
Comparable figures for 2000-01 and 2001-02 are not available for electricity supply and 
gas supply quality (which includes “reliability”). 

The results for the Effectiveness Indicators regarding energy safety, as presented in 
Table 6, are obtained by monitoring the number of reported accidents involving 
electricity or gas within Western Australia.  It is assumed that if all energy related safety 
standards are met a result of nil will be recorded.  However, it is recognised that an 
expectation of no accidents is idealistic, therefore, the department endeavours to 
achieve a downward trend.  Graph 1 depicts the data of Table 6 and provides evidence 
of a sustained downward trend for the period 1989 - 2003.  However, a slight upward 
trend for gas related accidents is evident for the short term 2000 - 2003. 

Under Regulation 63 (1) of the Electricity (Licensing) Regulations 1991 every member 
of the community, consumer or industry, is required to report electricity caused 
accidents that has resulted or is likely to cause danger to life or property to the Director 
of Energy Safety and the relevant supply authority.  During 2002-03 the total number of 
electricity related accidents when injury has been sustained requiring hospital 
treatment, including seven fatalities, was 37. 

Under Regulation 42 (1) of the Gas Standards (Gasfitting and Consumer Gas 
Installations) Regulations 1999 any incident involving gas that causes or is likely to 
cause injury to a person or damage to property must be reported to the Director of 
Energy Safety or gas supplier.  During 2002-03 the total number of gas accident 
reports was 17.  Such accidents are defined as those resulting in injury and assessed 
as having gas as the primary cause. 

The incidents reported to the Director of Energy Safety are recorded and the 
performance result is calculated as a number of reported incidents per million 
population.  The Western Australian population, as reported by the Australian Bureau 
of Statistics for the December 2002 quarter was 1,940,500, this value was used as the 
2002-03 mean. 
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TABLE 6: TO INDICATE ENERGY RELATED SAFETY STANDARDS ARE MET 
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electricity caused 
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million population 

26 22 17 25 28 27 21 15 11 22 15 12 11 19 Nil 

Number of gas 
caused accidents 
per million 
population 

13 20 6 11 9 5 10 4 6 5 3 7 8 9 Nil 

 
 
 
GRAPH 1: GAS AND ELECTRICITY ACCIDENT TRENDS – GRAPHICAL REPRESENTATION OF 

TABLE 6 DATA 
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The results for the Effectiveness Indicators regarding energy quality are presented in 
Tables 7 and 8.  The results are obtained by collecting information regarding the quality 
(including reliability, or continuity) of electricity supplied to consumers and the technical 
quality of natural gas. 

As the regulator of suppliers of electricity within the State the department aims to 
influence the quality of supply to consumers.  Table 7A presents data regarding the 
reliability of electricity supplies within Western Australia using benchmarks which are 
set in the Electricity (Supply Standards and System Safety) Regulations 2001.  The 
department administers these Regulations. 

The regulatory benchmarks and the actual systems averages achieved are reported 
according to established geographical regions.  The performance data presented is for 
the Western Power electricity supply system only, as other networks in the State are 
very small by comparison and service a relatively small number of consumers. 
Interruptions are defined as those exceeding one minute in duration. 

The average number of times a consumer’s supply is interrupted per year is calculated 
as an average for all the consumers within a geographical area. 

The data represented is averages, and it is acknowledged that there may be many 
consumers along a single power line that experience better or worse than average 
reliability of supply.  For this reason the department has commenced developing trend 
data in relation to consumer complaints about electricity supply reliability and quality.  It 
is expected that complaints data will indicate the extent of problems experienced by 
consumers, especially at the extremities of the networks.  Table 7B presents the 
complaints data. 

The overall reliability of supply for each geographical area is determined by considering 
the results for the frequency of supply interruption benchmark and the duration 
benchmark.  The combined result can be used to form an opinion about the general 
level of service.  The actual combined benchmark result achieved for each 
geographical area, compared to the desired result was: 

�� Perth Central Business District 80% better; 
�� Rural and Country Region 6% better, 
�� Perth Metropolitan Region 51% lower; and  
�� Isolated Networks 43% lower. 

It is difficult to identify at this early stage why these parts of the Western Power network 
performed below the desired level, as many factors such as the age and level of 
maintenance of the system, and significantly adverse weather can impact results.  It is 
known that during the last year severe electrical storms and summer thunderstorms 
caused problems with the distribution network in the southwest of the State.  The 
current work associated with complaints in investigations will gradually provide more 
information on the state of the power system. 
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The Electricity (Supply Standards and System Safety) Regulations 2001 include 
provisions for consumers to complain regarding the quality and reliability of electricity 
supplied.  During 2002-03 Energy Safety received 397 complaints regarding the quality 
or reliability of supply.  Based on a population of 764,675 customers of electricity 
supplied through the Western Power electricity supply system (the other networks in 
the State are very small by comparison and service only a relatively small number of 
consumers), the 397 complaints received in total represent less than 0.1% of all 
electricity customers.  Three of the complaints lodged, all from the Perth Metropolitan 
Region, were found to not relate to the reliability of supply. 

Many of the electricity complaints were from regional areas around Koorda, 
Narembeen, Corrigin, Toodyay, Northam, York and Bremer Bay.  An investigation was 
carried out and it was assessed that upstream, systemic factors such as excessive 
high-voltage feeder lengths and inadequacies in the rural sub-transmission system 
were the problem.  Consumers would have been experiencing inconvenience due to 
poor voltage control, inadequate load balance, protection system operation and 
reduced performance during lightning storms.  The 393 complaints received for this 
area represent 0.28% of the Western Australian Rural and Country electricity 
customers. 

In order to arrive at a single result to report against the Effectiveness Indicator, the 
extent to which electricity supply meets quality benchmarks, each benchmark is equally 
weighted and determined to have been met or not.  There are 8 benchmarks relating to 
the reliability of supply.  Performance for 5 of the benchmarks was better than the 
target set.  Performance for all of the 4 benchmarks regarding customer complaints 
was satisfactory.   

Therefore performance for 9 out of 12 benchmarks was satisfactory, providing a result 
of 75%.  However, the result is below the 95% target.  The target was set as an ideal.  
To achieve the target all benchmarks would need to be met.  Results over time will 
provide a better indication of what is good or average performance. 
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TABLE 7: TO INDICATE EXTENT TO WHICH ELECTRICITY SUPPLY MEETS QUALITY 
BENCHMARKS 

Effectiveness Performance Indicator 2002-03 
Result 

2002-03 
Target 

The extent to which electricity supply meets quality benchmarks 75% 95% 

 
TABLE 7A: RELIABILITY OF CONSUMERS’ ELECTRICITY SUPPLIES DURING 2002-03 

 
Average number of times a 

consumer’s supply is 
interrupted per year 

Average duration of 
interruption 

Geographical area 2002-03 
Result 

Benchmark 
Target 

2002-03 
Result 

Benchmark 
Target 

Perth Central Business 
District 0.26 1 23 minutes 30 minutes 

Perth Metropolitan Region 1.64 3 124 minutes 45 minutes 

Western Australian Rural and 
Country Region 1.21 4 186 minutes 60 minutes 

Western Australian Isolated 
Networks 3.36 5 64 minutes 30 minutes 

TABLE 7B: COMPLAINTS DATA REGARDING THE RELIABILITY AND QUALITY OF SUPPLYvi 

Geographical area 2002-03 number of complaints 
received 

Perth Central Business District 0 

Perth Metropolitan Region 4 

Western Australian Rural and Country Region 393 

Western Australian Isolated Networks 0 

TOTAL 397 

Table 7A shows that the situation is complex, especially as the performance data is 
necessarily based on averages.  There may be many consumers, for example, in rural 
and country areas, who receive a supply better or worse than the data would indicate – 
and indeed, this appears to be the case, using information gathered during the 
investigations of complaints in rural areas.  Ultimately the effectiveness of the 
department’s efforts to have Western Power improve its system performance will be 
best represented by a reduction in the number of justified complaints, over the years 
ahead.  As this is an entirely new regulatory scheme, the complaints aspect of which is 
only gradually being appreciated by consumers, and as the department has no formal 
control over Western Power’s decisions in relation to system improvements for power 
quality and reliability, the trend data is the best way to ascertain effectiveness. 

The quality of natural gas entering reticulation systems is monitored for quality against 
specifications contained within the Gas Standards (Gas Supply and System Safety) 
Regulations 2000.  Monitoring programmes include gas within the Dampier to Bunbury 
Gas Pipeline and Parmelia Pipeline, which both supply gas to the south west of the 
State, and the Goldfield Pipeline, which supplies Kalgoorlie.  Insufficient natural gas 
odorant levels were found in 3 out of 22 samples. 
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A result for the quality of Autogas and Heating Grade Liquid Petroleum Gas (LPG) was 
obtained by taking 21 samples from service stations and LPG reticulation systems.  
Samples were assessed for compliance of the gas composition and odorant level 
requirements contained within the Gas Standards (Gas Supply and System Safety) 
Regulations 2000.  All samples were found to comply with the quality specifications and 
contained the required level of odorant. 

TABLE 8: TO INDICATE EXTENT TO WHICH GAS SUPPLY MEETS QUALITY BENCHMARKS 

Effectiveness Performance Indicator 2002-03 
Result 

2002-03 
Target 

viiThe extent to which gas supply meets quality benchmarks 93% 100% 

OUTPUT TWO  

Efficiency Performance Indicator Results 

The Efficiency Indicators for the Output of Occupational Safety and Health Services are 
calculated by distributing total expenditure in accordance with the proportion of 
operational staff time devoted to delivering each service.  The Efficiency Indicators 
duplicate the cost performance measures required under the department's output 
based management commitments to the Department of Treasury and Finance. 

To determine the proportion of staff time committed to the delivery of each service a 
staff resources survey is undertaken.  During the survey sampling period staff record 
the time spent undertaking the activities that define the individual Efficiency Indicators.  
During 2002-03 the staff resources survey was undertaken on two occasions.  An 
average of the two samples showed that: 

�� 82% of the occupational safety and health staff resources were directed 
towards occupational safety and health investigations; and 

�� 18% of the occupational safety and health staff resources were directed 
towards information and education services provided to the community. 

�� Additionally, the staff resources allocated by the Communications Directorate 
determine the portion of that directorate’s expenditure allocated to this output. 

TABLE 9: EFFICIENCY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS FOR THE OUTPUT AREA OF 
OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH SERVICES 

Efficiency Performance 
Indicator 

Average cost for 
2000-01 

Average cost for 
2001-02 

Average cost for 
2002-03 

Average cost per information 
and education service - - $4.21 

Average cost per occupational 
safety and health investigation 
unit 

$861 $622.79 $655.42 

The Efficiency Indicator relating to information and education was revised and a 
significant change regarding the quantity unit was implemented for 2002-03.  
Comparable figures for 2000-01 and 2001-02 are not available. 
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The department’s occupational safety and health inspectors conduct investigations 
which may be either reactive or proactive.  The overall objective of undertaking 
investigations is that firm and fair enforcement of safety requirements increases the 
level of compliant behaviour within Western Australia workplaces.  By this means the 
department endeavours to increase the extent to which workplaces are operated in a 
safe and healthy manner. 

The department provides information and education services to the community in order 
to increase awareness and understanding of occupational safety and health, the 
objective being to increase the level of compliance of workplace behaviour through a 
greater level of understanding and the ability to apply knowledge to the workplace.  
Information and education services to the community include a variety of activities such 
as the number of publications distributed and the number of online visitors to the 
SafetyLine website.  

Output Three  

Efficiency Performance Indicator Results 

The Efficiency Indicators for the Output of Energy Safety and Quality Services are 
calculated by allocating Branch or area expenditure according to the service delivered 
by the Branch or area.  The Efficiency Indicators duplicate the cost performance 
measures required under the department's output based management commitments to 
the Department of Treasury and Finance. 

Branch or area expenditure is monitored by the Finance Directorate using cost centres.  
Each cost centre within Energy Safety is identified as relating to either technical and 
safety regulation or information and education.  Additionally, the staff resources 
allocated by the Communications Directorate determine the portion of that directorate’s 
expenditure allocated to this output. 

TABLE 10: EFFICIENCY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS FOR THE OUTPUT AREA OF ENERGY 
SAFETY AND QUALITY SERVICES 

Efficiency Performance Indicator Average cost for 2002-03 
Average cost per technical and safety regulation 
service $256.68 

Average cost per information and education service $4.65 

The Energy Safety Directorate, formerly the Office of Energy Technical and Safety 
Division, commenced operation within DOCEP on July 1st 2002.  The department 
performed a review of the output structure and adopted new Efficiency Indicators 
relevant to the energy quality and safety role, effective from 2002-03.  Comparable 
figures for previous years are not available.  
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Output 

Labour Relations Services 

Description 

The provision of labour relations advice, information, education and compliance 
services. 

Outcome Statement 
A Western Australian labour relations environment that
balances the rights and obligations of employees and
employers.

In general, the services provided within the Energy Safety and Quality output are 
demand driven.  The majority of services are provided in response to requests from 
customers or to specific situations that occur in the community. 

In addition, both gas and electricity supply authorities perform sample consumer 
installation inspections across the State under statutory obligations that require 
compliance with Inspection Plans and Policy Statements.  Energy Safety audits the 
suppliers Inspection Plans and Policy Statements and investigates the more serious 
regulatory breaches that are reported under the Inspection Plan obligations. Licensing 
and compliance activities are undertaken by Energy Safety officers in order to 
administer the energy safety and quality regulatory framework.  Through the effective 
and efficient administration of the regulatory framework Energy Safety aims to establish 
and maintain a community in which energy related safety and quality standards are 
met. 

To underpin the administration of the regulatory framework a variety of information and 
education services are provided to the community.  Access to information and 
education enables industry participants and consumers to be better informed and 
operate safely within the community.  Additionally, the objective of providing access to 
information and education for industry participants is to encourage the extent to which 
compliance with electricity and gas regulations is achieved. 

OUTCOME THREE  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Outcome Statement ‘A Western Australian labour relations environment that 
balances the rights and obligations of employees and employers’ was adopted by the 
department for 2001-02 in response to the Government’s new labour relations 
initiatives. 
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The role of the Labour Relations division is diverse in regard to the services provided to 
the Government, the public and private sectors.  To adequately monitor the 
department’s effectiveness in achieving a balanced labour relations environment for the 
various stakeholders, two Effectiveness Indicators are presented.  One indicator 
focuses on the perspective of the employee and the second on the perspective of the 
employer.  As a whole, the indicators demonstrate the extent to which the outcome has 
been achieved through the output of Labour Relations Services. 

Following a review of the department’s performance structure two new effectiveness 
indicators were developed relating to the labour relations outcome for 2002-03.  The 
department’s effectiveness in achieving the outcome of a labour relations environment 
that balances the rights and obligations of employees and employers is indicated by 
the extent to which:  

�� employees believe that the labour relations environment within Western 
Australia balances the rights and obligations of employees and employers; 
and 

�� employers believe that the labour relations environment within Western 
Australia balances the rights and obligations of employees and employers. 

Effectiveness Performance Indicator Results 

During 2002-03 data was collected from 766 clients of the Labour Relations Division of 
the department via a telephone survey.  The survey of private sector clients was 
undertaken by a private research firm and included clients throughout the State.  The 
sample of 766 clients was made up of 383 employees and 383 employers who were 
selected at random from clients who contacted Wageline during April and May 2003. 

A total of 2,839 calls were made, of which 842 contacts were made and 766 responses 
were obtained.  A response rate of 91% was achieved.  The samples sizes of 383 
employees and 383 employers both enable a maximum sampling error of �5% (at the 
95% confidence level).  This is, for the results presented in Table 11, this provides 95% 
confidence that the “true” population response lies within �5% of the results obtained 
from the survey. 

The Government’s labour relations reforms of 2002 were aimed at restoring fairness 
and balance to the Western Australian labour relations system.  The Labour Relations 
division of DOCEP provides information to employees and employers to increase their 
awareness and understanding of their employment rights and obligations with the 
objective of increasing the level of compliance with their legal obligations. 

Table 11 provides the new effectiveness indicators effective from 2002-03, and the 
overall results based on data obtained from the survey respondents.  As these are new 
indicators comparable figures for previous years are not available. 
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TABLE 11: TO INDICATE THAT WESTERN AUSTRALIA HAS A LABOUR RELATIONS 
ENVIRONMENT THAT BALANCES THE RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF EMPLOYEES 
AND EMPLOYERS 

Effectiveness Performance Indicator 2002-03 
Result 

2002-03 
Target 

The extent to which employees believe that the labour 
relations environment balances the rights and obligations of 
employees and employers 

78% 70% 

The extent to which employers believe that the labour 
relations environment balances the rights and obligations of 
employers and employees 

82% 70% 

OUTPUT FOUR  

Efficiency Performance Indicator Results 

The Efficiency Indicators for the Labour Relations division are calculated by distributing 
total expenditure of each cost centre in accordance with the proportion of operational 
staff time devoted to delivering each service.  Additionally, the staff resources allocated 
by the Communications Directorate determine the portion of that directorate’s 
expenditure allocated to this output.  The Efficiency Indicators duplicate the cost 
performance measures required under the department's output based management 
commitments to the Department of Treasury and Finance. 

The department reviewed the Efficiency Indicators for this output and adopted a more 
concise set of key indicators, effective 2002-03.  Comparative performance information 
has been provided for those indicators for which true comparisons can been made.  
Due to significant changes to the methodology and the units of measure used to 
calculate some of the indicators, equivalent data for previous years is not available.  
Table 12 presents the results against the Efficiency Indicators for the output of Labour 
Relations Services. 

TABLE 12: EFFICIENCY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS FOR THE OUTPUT AREA OF LABOUR 
RELATIONS SERVICES 

Efficiency Performance 
Indicator 

Average cost for 
2000-01 

Average cost for 
2001-02 

Average cost for 
2002-03 

Hour of service to and on 
behalf of Government - - $ 78.18 

Enquiry answered by Wageline $8.93 $12.99 $ 10.18 
Information and education 
service - - $ 4.18 

Compliance action $2,147 $1,557 $ 2,485.16 

 

Efficiency Performance Indicator Explanation of Result Variations 

There is a noteworthy difference between the 2001-02 and 2002-03 result for the 
Efficiency Indicator regarding compliance actions.  Resources were reallocated to 
facilitate legislative reforms.  This resulted in the postponement of programmed 
compliance campaigns and delays in file closures. 
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OPERATIONAL REPORTS 
 

CONSUMER AND BUSINESS SERVICES 

Overview 
The Consumer Protection Division promotes consumer protection and fair trading in 
Western Australia by: 

�� providing information and advice to consumers and traders about their rights 
and responsibilities; 

�� helping consumers resolve disputes with traders; 
�� investigating complaints about unfair trading practices; 
�� prosecuting unscrupulous traders; 
�� regulating and licensing some business activities; and 
�� reviewing and developing laws that protect consumers. 

Major achievements 
The Consumer Protection Division of the department continued its operational and 
policy activities, with significant legislative change occurring during the 12-month 
period. Specific industries and business practices were targeted by investigators this 
year. Other initiatives focused on improving customer service or access.  Major 
achievements by the division are listed below:  

REVS 

The department trialled extended weekend access to the Register of Encumbered 
Vehicles (REVS) database.  This service, previously available through the week and on 
Saturdays between 9.00am to 12.00noon was extended from October 2002 to cover 
both Saturday and Sunday 9.00am to 4.00pm.  This extended access enables 
encumbrance checks at times when many private vehicle sales are conducted.  
A marketing strategy to increase the profile of the service is scheduled for September 
2003. 

Better trained investigators 

Fifty compliance investigators from Consumer Protection, WorkSafe, Energy Safety 
and Labour Relations successfully completed the ANTA-accredited Certificate IV 
Government Statutory and Enforcement Training Course in April 2003 (two streams of 
25 participants).  This followed earlier completion of the course by 40 Consumer 
Protection and Labour Relations investigators in July 2002 (two streams of 
20 participants). 
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Weights and measures database 

The weights and measures database went live and is now fully operational.  This 
database tracks the accuracy of instruments and frequency of maintenance checks of 
all measuring instruments in Western Australia.  It will be used to identify instruments 
that have recurring accuracy problems and instruments that have not been subject to 
review over an extended period.  Compliance visits by inspectors will be guided by risk 
areas identified through this process. 

Real estate and settlement trust account audits 

A comprehensive trust account, audit and bank reconciliation process was established 
for the trust accounts of real state and settlement agents.  Cross referencing across 
various databases has occurred to validate information and sample checks of interest 
earnings have been undertaken to confirm the integrity of interest earnings.  
Implementation of these rigorous procedures will continue into 2003-04. 

Temby Royal Commission into the Finance Broking Industry 

On 21 December 2001, the Temby Royal Commission of Inquiry into the Finance 
Broking Industry reported to the Government, which accepted its recommendations 
including repealing the Finance Brokers Control Act 1975 and abolishing the Finance 
Brokers Supervisory Board, subject to there being a form of regulatory control for the 
industry to ensure that public protection is maintained.  The Finance Brokers 
Supervisory Board and the department have continued to develop a range of alternate 
legislative proposals to ensure that the activities of this expanding area of activity are 
adequately controlled. 

The drafting of a Bill to repeal parts of the Act has been withheld pending the 
introduction of legislation relating to the State Administrative Tribunal (SAT).  The SAT 
legislation will be introduced into the 2003 Spring session of Parliament in time for the 
Tribunal to commence in January 2004.  It is expected that amendments to the Finance 
Brokers Control Act 1975 will be introduced into Parliament during the latter part of 
2003. 

Associations 

The department reviewed and reprinted all forms and information sheets relating to 
incorporated associations.  The department also conducted visits to regional centres to 
educate the community about association processes. 

Product safety 

A new product safety website directory was established which displays all current 
product safety orders and regulations.  This enables access by both traders and 
consumers to ensure goods bought and sold comply with product safety requirements.  
New brochures were produced on the topics of baby walkers, cots and bunk beds in 
consultation with the key child-safety stakeholder, Kidsafe.  Additionally, existing 
brochures on domestic furniture, curtain and blind cords and trampolines were 
reviewed and updated.  Visits to regional centres and country shows were also 
undertaken. 
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The department continued to actively regulate product safety in the marketplace.  
Mandatory standards in relation to the following products were introduced in 2002-03: 

�� Bunk beds – regulations introduced in November 2002 require safety barriers 
on beds to prevent children falling from the top bunk; 

�� Baby walkers – regulations introduced in November 2002 require baby 
walkers to have a braking mechanism and wide base to limit the risks of 
tipping, accessing overhead benches and falls down stairs; 

�� Pullback action target game – a product safety order was introduced in 
December 2002 to address a choking hazard; 

�� Solar eclipse glasses - an interim product safety order was gazetted in 
December 2002 in response to concerns about the dangers of cardboard solar 
eclipse sunglasses.  Further liaison with eye specialists is occurring to assess 
whether these should be banned permanently; 

�� Yo Yo balls – interim and then permanent prohibition orders were established 
in May and June 2003 respectively, following identification of these as a 
strangulation hazard and the discovery these were being sold in WA stores; 

�� Children’s umbrellas – an order prohibiting spring-loaded children’s umbrellas, 
and one requiring that the spokes on these comply with published Australian 
and New Zealand Standards, were established in June 2003; 

�� Seven product safety orders were revoked following confirmation that they 
were addressed through Regulations administered by the Health Department 
of WA; and 

�� All 60 product safety orders are under constant review to ensure the most up 
to date Australian Standards are referenced, and where possible alignment 
with the Trades Practices Act regulations is achieved. 

Plumbing industry 

The Consumer Protection Division released consultation and discussion papers on a 
proposal to establish a State-wide compliance and inspection regime for the plumbing 
industry. 

Temperature correction on fuel 

Regulations were introduced in Western Australia on 1 April 2003 requiring petrol and 
diesel sold by volume from refineries and terminals to be temperature-corrected to 15 
degrees Celsius.  This ensures transparency in transactions, as fuel volume varies 
when the product is heated or cooled (expands when heated). 

Greater sophistication and complexity of fraudulent schemes 

In response to a growing trend for scams to become more global and sophisticated, 
often utilising new technologies such as the internet and email, the Consumer 
Protection Division launched a new service called WA ScamNet in April 2002 which 
uses the department’s website to provide a regular update of newly named scams to a 
wide audience. 
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Western Australia is the only Australian State that actively seeks information on all 
scams targeting consumers. Furthermore, WA ScamNet is the only service in Australia 
that uses the assistance of the community to extend the department’s compliance 
reach. WA ScamNet has changed the traditional approach from “Don’t participate, 
throw it in the bin” to “Don’t participate, send it to us”. 

The new approach ensures the department has up to date information on new and 
developing scams and can use this information to advise the community accordingly. In 
its first year WA ScamNet: 

�� received over 6000 items from consumers; 
�� established a network of over 1000 contributors; 
�� publicly named more than 50 scams; and 
�� issued numerous media releases on scams. 

Motor vehicle sales industry 

In 2002-03, 64 unlicensed-dealing investigations were begun, 3 prosecutions went 
before the courts and at the close of the year, there were 4 further briefs nearing 
completion and ready for prosecution. During the year formal information exchange 
arrangements were put in place with the Department of Planning and Infrastructure to 
enable enhanced access to licensing databases. It is anticipated that with improved 
access to this information, and the current level of investigation resources, 
investigations will progress more readily. 

Consumer credit 

The department continued to provide funding to the Consumer Credit Legal Service 
which provides specialist credit advice and information to consumers, financial 
counsellors and other community workers assisting consumers. 

Motor Vehicle Repairers Amendment Bill 2002 and Motor Vehicle Dealers 
Amendment Bill (No. 2) 2002 

These two Bills were introduced into the Legislative Assembly on 5 December 2002.  
The Bills passed through the Legislative Assembly and were Second Read in the 
Legislative Council on 27 June 2003. The object of the Bills is to protect consumers in 
their dealings with motor vehicle repairers, promote high standards of workmanship 
and enhance consumer confidence in the motor vehicle repair industry. 

The Motor Vehicle Repairers Amendment Bill 2002 will require those who carry on 
business as motor vehicle repairers to be licensed and to ensure that repairs to 
vehicles are conducted or supervised by appropriately qualified [certificated] persons.  
The Motor Vehicle Dealers Amendment Bill (No.2) 2002 gives responsibility for the 
licensing of motor vehicle repairers to the existing Motor Vehicle Dealers Licensing 
Board. The Government has allocated funding to establish the new licensing and 
certification regime. 
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Product Safety Regulations 

A series of regulation changes were made relating to product safety matters in Western 
Australia: 

�� Fair Trading (Product Safety Standard) Amendment Regulations 2002; 
�� Fair Trading (Product Safety Standard) Amendment Repeal Regulations 2002; 
�� Fair Trading (Product Safety Standard) Amendment Regulations (No. 2) 2002; 
�� Fair Trading (Product Safety Standard) Amendment Regulations (No. 3) 2002; 
�� Fair Trading (Product Information Standard) Regulations 2003; and 
�� Fair Trading (Product Safety Standard) Amendment Regulations 2003. 

Review of Fair Trading and Consumer Affairs Act 

One of the key commitments in the Government’s Consumer Justice Strategy was to 
undertake a review of the Fair Trading Act 1987 and the Consumer Affairs Act 1971.  
These two Acts constitute the foundation of consumer protection law in Western 
Australia and neither has been significantly amended since their introduction. 

To facilitate this review, a comprehensive issues paper was released for public 
consultation on 13 November 2002. 

Consideration of submissions on the review is continuing with a report due to the 
Minister in 2003. 

Fitness industry code of conduct  

During 2002-03, as a result of extensive consultation with Fitness WA and the 
Department of Sport and Recreation, the Consumer Protection Division produced a 
draft code of practice under the Fair Trading Act 1987 for the fitness industry.  This 
draft code, together with a discussion paper, was circulated for public consultation. 

The code will introduce a number of enhanced protections for consumers, including: 

�� a two-day cooling off period for fitness centre memberships; 
�� improved disclosure to prospective clients; 
�� improved consumer protection measures in membership agreements; and 
�� pre-paid membership agreements to be limited to 12 months. 

It is expected that the new code will be introduced in the second half of 2003. 

Car rental industry review 

The department was an active participant in a national review of the car rental industry 
in Australia.  This review was established in response to the recognition by several 
jurisdictions that car hire issues were negatively impacting on consumers, in particular, 
overseas tourists visiting Australia.  The review is being undertaken under the auspices 
of the Ministerial Council on Consumer Affairs which is made up of the Consumer 
Protection Ministers of all Australian States and Territories, together with New Zealand. 
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The purpose of this review is to: 

�� examine a range of car rental industry problems affecting consumers; and 
�� consider options for addressing these problems. 

A discussion paper was released for broad public consultation on 18 March 2003 and 
consultation with stakeholders is continuing. 

Review of boards and committees 

A review of the boards and committees in the Consumer and Employment Protection 
portfolio was initiated during 2001-02.  The review was undertaken in response to the 
recommendations of the Machinery of Government Taskforce and in light of the 
establishment of a State Administrative Tribunal (SAT).  Recommendations of the 
Gunning Committee of Inquiry into Fair Trading Boards and Committees and findings of 
the Temby Royal Commission into the Finance Broking Industry also were taken into 
account. 

In November 2002 a Consultation Draft of the report on the review was released for 
comment to members of the boards and committees subject to the review, and to other 
key stakeholders.  The Consultation Draft outlined proposals for the continuing role and 
functions of the boards and committees.  In response to concerns raised by the boards 
and various stakeholders substantial changes were made to the proposals as they 
related to the regulatory boards.  In May 2003 the Minister endorsed a model for the 
future role and functions of the boards and committees, and Cabinet approved the 
drafting of a Bill and Regulations to implement the model. 

Consumer Advisory Council 

As part of the Government’s Consumer Justice Strategy to restore a strong consumer 
protection focus back into Government, the Minister for Consumer and Employment 
Protection established a Consumer Advisory Council.  The council will provide input to 
the department and the Minister on: 

�� strategic approaches to building capacity in consumer groups so as to 
increase and improve consumer input in consumer affairs; and 

�� the review of the Consumer Affairs Act 1971 and Fair Trading Act 1987. 

The council's initial term will be for two years, subject to the recommendations made 
regarding capacity building strategies. 

Nominations for membership of the council were sought from the public and relevant 
stakeholder groups by direct mail, and also through State-wide advertising in June 
2003. The council is expected to commence sitting in August 2003. 

Community Education Plan 

Consumer Protection adopted and published its first Community Education Plan in 
2003.  The plan set out three objectives for the community education function: 
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�� To provide accurate and effective information and education to consumers 
and traders about their rights and responsibilities and to promote fair trading 
practices by and among traders; 

�� To increase the Western Australian community’s awareness of Consumer 
Protection’s services; and 

�� To support and encourage non-government, not-for-profit, consumer 
information and education services. 

Education of senior consumers 

Consumer Protection finalised a Senior Consumers’ Education Plan in 2003.  This plan 
is another step in the development of the Government’s comprehensive strategy to 
restore consumer protection in Western Australia. The plan is but one of a range of 
specific programs being developed and implemented by Consumer Protection to give 
effect to the Consumer Justice Strategy; the community education plan created in 
support of the Consumer Justice Strategy; and DOCEP’s Future Directions strategy. 

This plan also provides the specific framework for the implementation of the 
Government’s commitment to protect senior consumers from financial abuse. That 
framework will be supported by other actions, including: enforcement of existing 
consumer protection and other relevant laws; the development of an appropriate 
regulatory framework; and the work of the Active Ageing Taskforce and other relevant 
government agencies and initiatives. The Senior Consumers’ Education Plan has been 
endorsed by the Active Ageing Taskforce. 

Consumer Protection Conference 2003 

Consumer Protection held its second biennial Consumer Protection Conference in 
2003.  The conference was held to mark both World Consumer Rights Day and 
National Consumers’ Day, both of which occur on 15 March annually. The theme for 
the conference was “Telecommunications”, with a particular focus on mobile phones 
and broadband. The conference was very successful, with 107 attendees hearing a 
wide range of local and national speakers. 

Expanded community education program 

The Consumer Protection Division continued to expand its community education 
program in 2003.  In addition to a range of existing, regular events, the department was 
represented at the following events for the first time: 

�� Broome NorthWest Expo; 
�� City of Stirling Youth Festival; 
�� Kalgoorlie Fair; 
�� Pride Fair; 
�� Survival Day; and 
�� universities’ student orientation days. 
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Secondment to WACOSS 

As part of the Government’s commitment under the Consumer Justice Strategy to 
support non-government consumer services, the division sought expressions of interest 
from non-government consumer service providers in 2002 for the secondment of a 
policy officer to undertake projects of benefit to Western Australian consumers. The 
WA Council of Social Service Inc (WACOSS) was the successful applicant in this 
process and a senior Consumer Protection policy officer was seconded to WACOSS 
for 12 months beginning in March 2003. 

Petrol pricing and monitoring 

Fuel price regulation continued to be a topical issue amongst Western Australian 
consumers. During the latter half of the 2002-03 financial year local fuel prices were 
heavily influenced by international factors, most notably the tensions in the Middle East 
that culminated in the war in Iraq. As a result consumer and media interest in the fuel 
pricing information provided by the FuelWatch service was very high. 

The media has continued to strongly support the FuelWatch program and during the 
year The West Australian newspaper commenced free daily publication of fuel pricing 
information. FuelWatch information is now published by the electronic and print media 
across metropolitan and regional Western Australia and during the course of the year 
the division responded to 304 media inquiries on fuel pricing related matters. 

Also during the 2002-03 year the number of email subscribers to the FuelWatch service 
increased by over 75% and there were over 34 million ‘hits’ on the FuelWatch web site. 
The division has also explored new methods of information delivery to meet the 
increasing demand for real time information including a trial program involving the use 
of SMS technology for mobile phone users. 

Changes in the environment surrounding the market for petroleum products including 
the cessation of traditional ‘borrow and loan’ arrangements between the major oil 
refiners necessitated a review of existing regulatory measures as well as consideration 
of other measures to address emerging issues. 

In response the division introduced the following initiatives: 

�� As a result of the Government’s view that the Maximum Wholesale Price 
(MWP) arrangements were not working as intended, new wholesale price 
transparency arrangements known as Terminal Gate Pricing (TGP) were 
introduced on 19 December 2002 via the Petroleum Products Pricing 
(Maximum Terminal Gate Price) Order 2003. The Petroleum Products Pricing 
(Maximum Wholesale Price) Order (No. 4) 2001 was subsequently revoked. 
The TGP system requires the oil companies which operate terminals to 
provide to the Prices Commissioner the maximum “spot” (uncontracted) price 
including how that price has been made up. These prices are then published 
on the FuelWatch website; 
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�� The Petroleum Products Pricing Amendment Regulations 2003 extended the 
FuelWatch “boundary” to include a further 5 shires and 24 new towns from 
13 May 2003. Extensive community consultation prior to the introduction of the 
Regulations resulted in 90% support for boundary extension (from around 800 
responses). Consumers in the new and existing towns/shires are provided 
with pricing information 24 hours a day/7 days a week by the FuelWatch 
website and telephone service; 

�� Following the launch in May 2002 of the discussion paper “Retail Fuel Price 
Capping in Major Regional Centres of Western Australia” public seminars 
were conducted in each of the eight regional centres that were the subject of 
the price-capping proposal. The seminars were attended by the Prices 
Commissioner and other divisional staff and provided an opportunity for local 
communities to discuss price capping and related issues. 

�� The consultation process indicated a general lack of public support for the 
introduction of retail price caps, which led to the Government announcing a 
deferral of the introduction of retail price caps; and 

�� Two separate prosecutions were progressed against Mobil Oil Australia Pty 
Ltd and BP Australia Limited both for alleged refusal to supply under the 
Maximum Wholesale Price arrangements. The Mobil matter came before the 
Court of Petty Sessions on 27 February 2003 when it was set down for trial 
from 16-18 September 2003. The BP matter came before the Court of Petty 
Sessions again on 19 February 2003 when it was set down for trial between 
6-8 October 2003. 

Performance measures for Consumer and Business Services 
The output of Consumer and Business Services is the provision of consumer protection 
information and advice to Government and the community; registration services; the 
implementation of compliance activities; and the application of sanctions in relation to 
the promotion of consumer protection and fair trading by business. 

Services provided to the community within the Consumer and Business Output are 
largely provided by the Consumer Protection Division of the department.  Additionally, 
the Strategy Division directly contributes to the Output through the provision of 
communications strategy and services and the co-ordination of policy tasks and 
projects which impact on more than one output. 

Key objectives 

The Consumer Protection Division developed a Consumer Justice Strategy which 
underpins the Government’s ‘Restoring Consumer Protection’ reform policy.  The plan 
drives the division’s direction for the next few years. 

The Consumer Justice Strategy focuses on the following seven themes.  The themes 
spearhead the division’s aim to restore respect for consumer rights and address many 
of the current issues within the marketplace.  The seven themes of the Consumer 
Justice Strategy are to: 
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��EMPOWER consumers through information and education; 

��DEVELOP an appropriate regulatory framework; 
��ADMINISTER the regulatory framework efficiently and effectively; 
��PROMOTE fair trading by business; 
��SUPPORT non-government consumer services; 
��FACILITATE effective dispute resolution; and 
��PROTECT consumers and business through effective investigation of 

complaints and application of sanctions. 

Performance measures 

Table 13 outlines the department’s performance measures and commitments within the 
Output of Consumer and Business Services for 2002-03.  Output performance 
measures are intended to provide information that assists in: monitoring what is being 
done; accounting for what has been achieved; and improving the provision of goods 
and services.  The services provided within each Output are evaluated in terms of the 
quantity, quality, timeliness and cost. 

Quantity measures for 2002-03 

Quantity measures have been developed for each of the services provided within the 
Output of Consumer and Business Services.  Each measure presented represents a 
unique service area.  The quantity figures report the actual number of occasions of 
service delivery, or the completion of a predetermined and well-defined project 
milestone. 

Quality measures for 2002-03 

For the majority of services, customers were asked to evaluate the quality services 
delivered.  During 2002-03 customer surveys included: 

�� the Home Buyers Assistance Fund, an Advice Service, and 
�� the occupational licensing and registration activities, Regulation Services. 

Customers were asked questions and provided comments regarding the quality of 
services being provided.   For the results reported for each service we can be 95% 
confident that the “true” population response lies within �5% of the result obtained from 
the survey. 

Additionally, the quality of Information and Education Services were evaluated for 
quality by a panel of appropriate experts.  Panel members were asked to assess 
various information and education products against set criteria. 

Projects provided to or on behalf of Government are evaluated for quality based on 
acceptance by the highest ranking officer that receives the product.  Accepting officers 
can be a Director within Consumer Protection or the Minister for Consumer and 
Employment Protection. 
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Timeliness measures for 2002-03 

To measure the timeliness of services provided Consumer Protection set performance 
standards for the individual activities that constitute a service.  The result reported for 
each performance measure is the aggregation of all the results for each group of 
activities related to the specific service. 

Cost measures for 2002-03 

The cost measures reflect the full cost, including overheads, of providing the service.  
The proportion of Consumer Protection’s expenditure attributed to the provision of a 
service is determined by the amount of staff time allocated to undertaking the activities 
and tasks required to provide the service.  The total cost of the service is then divided 
by the quantity of services provided. 
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TABLE 13: OUTPUT PERFORMANCE MEASURES – CONSUMER AND BUSINESS SERVICES 

 2002-03 
Target 

2002-03 
Actual 

Quantity   

Advice services 819,505 717,205 

Regulation services 884,353 886,217 

Services to and on behalf of Government 7,479 6,518.7 

Information and education services provided to the community 29,584,565 1,350,600 

Quality   

Advice services meeting quality standards 85% 79% 

Regulation services meeting quality standards 85% 90% 

Services to and on behalf of Government meeting quality 
standards 85% 100% 

Information and education services meeting quality standards 85% 87% 

Timeliness   

Advice services meeting required timeliness standards 85% 95.6% 

Regulation services meeting required timeliness standards 85% 92.6% 

Services to and on behalf of Government meeting required 
timeliness standards 85% 86% 

Information and education services meeting required 
response and turnaround times 85% 90% 

Cost (Efficiency)   
Average cost per advice service $7.34 $7.59 

Average cost per regulation service $17.12 $19.87 

Average cost per service to and on behalf of Government $750 $777.15 

Average cost per information and education service $0.06 $1.48 
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Consumer Protection prosecutions 

TABLE 14: CONSUMER PROTECTION PROSECUTIONS 2002-03 
Date of 
finding / 
sentence 

Matter type Court/ 
board 

Type of charge Outcome Penalty 

ABBOTT, David John   

05-Nov-02 Prosecution District 
Court 

Fair Trading Act:  s.12(1)(e):   
Misrepresentation regarding warranty. 

Guilty Fine $500 

AMOS INC 
04-Jun-03 
 

Civil 
Litigation 

Supreme 
Court 

Associations Act s.34,35:   Action against 
Commissioner cancelling registration. 

Writ of 
Prohibition 
denied.  

N/A 

ANIMAL LIBERATION [WA] INC. 

03-Dec-02 Civil 
Litigation 

Supreme 
Court  

Associations Incorporation Act Section 
31(1)(h):  Application by Commissioner to 
windup association. 

Action 
discontinued 

Costs $1,000 
to DOCEP. 

ANZ BANKING GROUP LTD.    

16-Sep-02 Inquiry Commer
cial 
Tribunal 

Consumer Credit Code   s.15:   Matters 
which must be contained in credit contract 

Penalty 
applied in 
Victoria 
jurisdiction 
confirmed 

 $8,800 

ANZ BANKING GROUP LTD. -v- VARIOUS RESPONDENTS 

07-Nov-02 Civil 
Litigation 

Commer
cial 
Tribunal 

Credit Act 1984 civil penalty:  s85, 86.  
ANZ’s application for reinstatement of 
credit charges on personal loan contracts 
which contained errors.  

Reinstateme
nt  refused. 

$496,000 

AUSTAR & PACIFIC GOOD FOODS 

28-Feb-03 Prosecution  Perth 
CPS 

Fair Trading Act Section 12(1)(l):  
Misrepresentation about the services 
offered in a voucher book. 

Pleaded 
Guilty to 2 
charges   

Fine $500  
Bond $2000 
 

AUSTAR   

07-May-03 Prosecution  Perth 
CPS 

Sentencing Act:  Breach of undertaking a 
conditional release order. 

Ongoing.   
Trial listed for 
21/8/03 

N/A 

BARR, Barry  & CHERITON NOMINEES   

03-Oct-02 Inquiry FBSB Finance Brokers Control Act s.48:  Breach 
of the trust account provisions of the Act. 

Disciplinary 
action. 

Fined $600 
and costs of 
$2,000 

BAYSWATER CAR RENTAL   

13-Jan-03 Prosecution Perth 
CPS 

Fair Trading Act s.12(1)(e): 
Misrepresentation about the prices and 
conditions  applying to car rentals. 
 

Guilty on 7 
charges 

Fine $6,000 
Costs $3044

BELL, John   

21-Oct-02 Inquiry FBSB Finance Brokers Control Act : Breach of 
Article 7 of the Code of Conduct (1991)—
failure to take all reasonable precautions to 
protect his clients. 
 

Disciplinary 
action. 

Severe 
reprimand 
Fined $500 
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Date of 
finding / 
sentence 

Matter type Court/ 
board 

Type of charge Outcome Penalty 

BELMONT TEEBALL ASSOCIATION 

03-Dec-02 Prosecution Perth 
CPS 

Association Incorporations Act – s.27:   
Committee members unlawfully refused 
access to membership register. 

Guilty McCormack 
fined $50, 
Morse $76 - 
Costs 
$191.50ea. 

BENSUSAN Lawrence Joseph T/as CABLETECH & ANOR   

02-Jul-02 Injunction Supreme 
Court 

Fair Trading Act  s.74 & 76:   
Commissioner seeking injunction 
restraining respondent from making 
misleading statements. 

Interim 
injunction 
granted 

N/A 

BLACKBURN & DIXON 

06-Aug-02 Inquiry FBSB Finance Brokers Control Act :  Code of 
Conduct (1991) Articles 4, 7, 15, 17 - not 
acting in client’s best interest.  

Disciplinary 
action. 

Company 
permanently 
disqualified  

BLACKBURN Jason 

17-Jul-02 Inquiry FBSB Finance Brokers Control Act :  Code of 
Conduct (1991) Articles 4, 7, 15 - not 
acting in client’s best interests.  

Disciplinary 
action. 

Cautioned. 

BLACKBURN,  Kaye 

16-Jul-02 Inquiry FBSB Finance Brokers Control Act:  Code of 
Conduct (1991) Articles 4, 7, 15 - not 
acting in client’s best interests. 

Disciplinary 
action. 

Permanently 
disqualified  

BROMLEY Stuart James 

22-July-02 Appeal Supreme 
Court 

Travel Agents Act:  Appeal against 
conviction in July 2001 in Perth CPS 
relating to unlicensed activity at which 
Bromley was fined $15000, costs $9000 
and pay restitution of $89,000 to the 
Victorian Scouts Association 

Appeal 
dismissed 

N/A 

BROMLEY Stuart James 

23-Jul-02 Prosecution Perth 
CPS 

Associations Incorporation Act 1987 s.39:  
As the public officer for an association 
failed to provide documents required by 
the Commissioner and submitted 
documents containing statements he knew 
were false or misleading. 

Guilty  Fine $900 
Costs $1800 

BROMLEY Stuart James 

22-Nov-02 Appeal Full 
Court 

Travel Agents Act:  Appeal against 
decision of Supreme Court to dismiss 
appeal. 

Appeal 
withdrawn 

N/A 

CLIFTON, Kim 

N/A Inquiry FBSB Finance Brokers Control Act:  s.48 & 
s.48.3. Irregularity in trust account.  Code 
of Conduct 1999 Articles 2.6 & 2.7 
Misleading a party to loan & not giving 
undivided fidelity to Principal. 

Ongoing N/A 

D J POOLS   

02-Oct-02 Prosecution 
-indictable 

Perth 
CPS 

Fair Trading Act. s.52:  Supplying skimmer 
box in contravention of a banning order. 

Pleaded 
Guilty 

$2,000 fine & 
$150 costs 
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Date of 
finding / 
sentence 

Matter type Court/ 
board 

Type of charge Outcome Penalty 

DAVENPORT, Alan   

27-Aug-02 Inquiry MVDLB Motor Vehicle Dealers Act:  Intervention 
by Commissioner objecting to renewal of 
Yard Managers Licence. 

Disciplinary 
action. 

Disqualified 
from holding 
a licence 
until further 
notice of 
Board 

DNA ENTERPRISES (Aust) Pty Ltd t/a All Mitsubishi Motor Wreckers & PIHAMA, Dennis Tanginoa 

10-Jun-03 
 

Inquiry MVDLB Motor Vehicle Dealers Act:   Engaging in 
activities not permitted by licence. 

No cause for 
disciplinary 
action. 

Formal 
warning 
issued.   

DOBRA, Michael 

18-Mar-03 Inquiry MVDLB Motor Vehicle Dealers Act :  Engaging in 
activities not permitted by licence. 

Disciplinary 
action. 

Reprimand 

DOME REALTY & JONES, Chris 

06-Sep-02 Inquiry REBASB Real Estate & Business Agents Act:  s.64:  
Had interest in the purchase of property 
without the vendor’s consent. 

Disciplinary 
action. 

Fine $7500   
Licence 
suspended 
18 months 

DOUGLAS, Oliver 

13-Jan-03 Inquiry   FBSB Finance Brokers Control Act:  Alleged 
breach of Sections 26(1), 34(3), 48 & Code 
of Conduct (1991) Article 14,16  - conduct 
of business. 

No  proper 
cause for 
disciplinary 
action 

Costs $875 
awarded 
against 
department 

DOUGLAS, Oliver 

14-Feb-03 Inquiry FBSB Finance Brokers Control Act 1975 s34(3), 
44(3), 44(6).   Code of Conduct (1991) 
Articles 4, 12, 15 - not acting in client’s 
best interests.  

Disciplinary 
action. 

Fine $600 
Costs $6376
Reprimand  

FANCHI, Giuseppe   

07-May-03 
 

Inquiry   LVLB Land Valuers Licensing Act s.28:  
Allegation of negligence and incompetence 
in the preparation of the valuation; failed to 
declare a conflict of interest between 
himself and the proprietor of the property. 

Ongoing N/A 

FARMER Charles T/as LEATHER WORLD SOFAS PLUS   

12-Feb-03 Civil 
Litigation 

District 
Court 

Business Names Act s.5A:  Intervention by 
the Commissioner in Mr Farmer’s 
application to the  District Court to register 
a name.   

Application 
refused.  

N/A 

FERMANIS - Charge No 5363/2002 

07-Aug-02 Prosecution Perth 
CPS 

Finance Brokers Control Act s.26 FBCA:  
Unlicensed Finance Broker. 

Not Guilty N/A 

FISHER, Herbert Ross 

01-May-03 Inquiry FBSB Finance Brokers Control Act:  Code of 
Conduct (1991) Articles 4, 7 -  not acting in 
the client’s best interests. 

Disciplinary 
action 
(Article 7) 

Severely 
reprimanded
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Date of 
finding / 
sentence 

Matter type Court/ 
board 

Type of charge Outcome Penalty 

FLEETWOOD FINANCE P/L 

19-Dec-02 Prosecution Perth 
CPS 

Consumer Credit Code Section 15(M):  
Matters that must be contained in Credit 
Contract. 

Application 
withdrawn  

N/A 

FRANKLIN, Glenn   

N/A Inquiry LVLB Land Valuers Licensing Act s.28:  
Allegation of negligence. 

Ongoing N/A 

GAMEL William 

N/A Appeal District 
Court 

Finance Brokers Control Act :  Appeal 
against Board decision in Inquiry 2/2000. 

Ongoing N/A 

GAMEL William & GAMEL WARD 

24-Jul-02 Inquiry FBSB Finance Brokers Control Act s.34(3): 
Failure to comply with licence condition. 
Articles 3 & 16 of 1991 Finance Brokers 
Code of Conduct.  (person in control failed 
to provide  information to lenders. 

Disciplinary 
action. 

Fine $1000  
Costs $2500  
Mr Gamel. 
Both parties 
permanently 
disqualified. 

GAMEL William and GAMEL WARD 

7-Feb-03 Inquiry FVIB Finance Brokers Control Act:  Code of 
Conduct (1991) Articles 4, 7,  - failure to 
acting in the client’s best interests. 

No proper 
cause for 
disciplinary 
action. 

Costs 
awarded 
against  
Department 
$1000 

GLOBAL SUPERVISOR 

N/A Civil 
Litigation 

District 
Court 

Finance Brokers Control Act:  Special 
application under FBC Act. 

Conclusion 
of Supervisor 

N/A 

GRIDA, Carmelo 

19-Jul-02 Inquiry FBSB Finance Brokers Control Act .  Code of 
Conduct (1991) Articles 4, 7, 15, 17 –
failure to act in the client’s best interests.  

Disciplinary 
action. 

Severely 
reprimanded

GRUBB, Graeme & Rowena Nominees P/L 

8-Aug-02 Inquiry FBSB Finance Brokers Control Act s.48:  Breach 
of trust account provisions. 

Disciplinary 
action. 

Both parties 
permanently 
disqualified. 
licence 

HAM, Richard Anthony   

19-May-03 Prosecution  
i 

Perth 
CPS 

Fair Trading Act s.12:  Misrepresentation 
in provision of pest control services. 
 

Guilty. Fine $3000 
Costs $1000 

HERSEY, J R & A    

26-Nov-02 Prosecution Perth 
CPS 

Weights and Measures Act 1915 s.34. Fair 
Trading Act s.12:  Short weight firewood. 

Guilty. Fine $500 
Costs $600 

HOLZ, Rene and IFMO Profoto 

03-Dec-02 Injunction Supreme 
Court 

Fair Trading Act s.74:  Application by 
DOCEP for permanent injunction. 
Employment related misrepresentation. 

Awaiting date 
for hearing. 

N/A 
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Date of 
finding / 
sentence 

Matter type Court/ 
board 

Type of charge Outcome Penalty 

HOLZ, Rene and IFMO Profoto 

08-Apr-03 Injunction Supreme 
Court 

Fair Trading Act s.74: Hearing for Interim 
Injunction.  Employment related 
misrepresentation. 

Holz parties 
entered into 
an 
undertaking.   

N/A 

HOLZ, Rene and IFMO Profoto 

01-May-03 Appeal Full 
Court 

Fair Trading Act:  Appeal against 
conviction in Perth CPS in Jan 2001 for 
misrepresentation about availability of 
modelling contracts. 

Awaiting date 
for hearing 

N/A 

HOLZ, Rene and IFMO Profoto 

01-May-03 Prosecution  Perth 
CPS 

Fair Trading Act s.12 :   Misrepresentation 
about availability of modelling contracts. 

Trial listed for 
December 
2003 

N/A 

HOUGH, Frank 

05-Jul-02 Prosecution Perth 
CPS 

Motor Vehicle Dealers Act   Unlicensed 
dealing in Motor Vehicles 

Case 
dismissed 

N/A 

ILLOGAN P/L  & GARLAND, John 

17-Dec-02 Prosecution District 
Court 

Fair Trading Act s12(2)(b);  Real Estate & 
Business Agents Code - description of 
property for sale. 
 

Garland 
acquitted. 

N/A 

BAINBRIDGE J & G LAWTON (non-party discovery) 

22-Oct-02 Summons & 
Subpoena 

Supreme 
Court 

Private civil matter in which DOCEP 
documents requested under subpoena. 
 

N/A N/A 

JOHNSON, Greg  JOHNSON, Corrina PROPERTY HEADQUARTERS PTY LTD 

09-Sep-02 Inquiry REBASB Real Estate & Business Agents Act Trust 
account provisions 

Disciplinary 
action. 

Greg 
Johnson  
Fine $1000 
Costs $1000 
Licence 
Cancelled. 
Corrina 
Johnson 
Fine $3000 
Costs $3000
Licence 
suspended 
18 months. 
 PHQ - Costs 
$1000 
Licence 
cancelled  
 

KLUCK,  Arnoldus 

13-Jan-03 Prosecution Perth 
CPS 

Fair Trading Act s.12(1)(e)  
Misrepresentation about car rental  prices 
and conditions. 

Guilty Fine $4,000 
Costs $3044
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Date of 
finding / 
sentence 

Matter type Court/ 
board 

Type of charge Outcome Penalty 

LEE STEERE, Herbert Timothy   

07-May-03 Inquiry LVLB Land Valuers Licensing Act s.28:  
Allegation of negligence in the preparation 
of the valuation. 

Ongoing   N/A 

LINDSAY & Ors-v-MCMANUS, Leo   

10-Jun-03 
 

Writ Supreme 
Court 

Civil Matter:  Summary judgment 
application - DOCEP acting for defendant.  
Solomon Bros applying for summary 
judgment to compel McManus to deliver 
documents to Plaintiffs. 

Ongoing  N/A 

LONG, Peter Sean and HICOM MOTORS Pty Ltd 

24-Jul-02 Inquiry MVDLB Motor Vehicle Dealers Act:  
 Fitness to hold licence. 

Disciplinary 
action. 

Permanent 
disqualification

LONG, Peter Sean and HICOM MOTORS Pty Ltd 

30-Oct-02 Appeal Perth 
CPS 

Motor Vehicle Dealers Act:  Appeal by 
Long against disqualification. 

Upheld - 
licence 
granted. 

N/A 

MAGIC CARPET TOUR & TRAVEL 

07-Aug-02 Inquiry Commer
cial 
Tribunal 

Travel Agents Act:  Objection to licence 
renewal. 

Discontinued 
by consent. 

No costs 
order 

MAJOR, Gerald 

18-Nov-02 Inquiry LVLB Land Valuers Licensing Act s.28:  
Intervention by DOCEP to licence 
application. 

Disciplinary 
action. 

Licence 
granted with 
provisions.  
Mr Major to 
pay DOCEP 
costs. 

MARGARIA, John 

N/A Inquiry FBSB Finance Brokers Control Act:  Breach of 
trust account provisions and breach of 
Article 7 Code of Conduct (acting in clients 
interests) 

Ongoing N/A 

MARR, Clanan Richard 

5-Dec-02 Inquiry LVLB Land Valuers Licensing Act:  Intervention 
by DOCEP to licence application. 

Mr Marr 
withdrew 
application 
for licence. 

N/A 

O'BRIEN, Kenneth 

18-Jul-02 Inquiry FBSB Finance Brokers Control Act:  Code of 
Conduct (1991) Articles 4, 7, 15, 17 – 
failure to act in the client’s best interests.  

Disciplinary 
action. 

Permanently 
disqualified. 

OLIFENT, Stephen   

12-Jul-02 Inquiry LVLB Land Valuers Licensing Act s.28(2)(b), 3(a) 
& 4(a) Code of Conduct.  Incompetence or 
negligence in preparing a valuation. 

Disciplinary 
action. 

Fine $500 
Costs $6300
12 month 
suspension  

PEARCE,  Dennis & GERALDTON FINANCE 

N/A Inquiry FBSB Finance Brokers Control Act:  s.48(3) & 
s.48(5) s.50(1):  Irregularities in  trust fund.

Ongoing N/A 
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PERRY, Graeme and FIRST CHARTER MORTGAGE 

23-Jun-03 Inquiry FVIB Finance Brokers Control Act:  Code of 
Conduct (1991) Articles 4 & 7  - failure to 
act  in clients' best interest. 

Disciplinary 
action. 

Mr Perry  
Disqualified   
2 yrs - Costs 
$14,500 

POYNER, Stephen   

18-Feb-03 Inquiry MVDLB Motor Vehicle Dealers Act s.15(1)(b):     
 Fit and proper person  

Disciplinary 
action. 

Disqualified  

POYNER, Stephen 

14-May 03 Appeal Perth 
CPS 

Motor Vehicle Dealers Act:  - Appeal 
against disqualification & application to 
suspend Board Orders.  

Disqualificati
on orders 
suspended 
until hearing 
of Appeal. 

N/A 

RAISIN, Stephen Charles t/as PERTH AUTO WRECKERS   

12-Nov-02 Prosecution Perth 
CPS 

Motor Vehicle Dealers Act s.30(1):   
Unlicensed dealing  

Ongoing   

SADAT, Said Padsha Sadat t/a KABUL JAPAN AUTOP WRECKERS & KABUL SMASH REPAIRS 

18-Mar-03 Inquiry MVDLB Motor Vehicle Dealers Act:  Failure to 
complete licensing course prerequisite & 
record particulars in stock register. 

Disciplinary 
action. 

Sadat 
disqualified  

SADAT, Said Padsha Sadat t/a KABUL JAPAN AUTOP WRECKERS & KABUL SMASH REPAIRS 

18-Jun-03 Appeal Perth 
CPS 

Motor Vehicle Dealers Act:  Application for 
suspension of Board order pending appeal 
s.25 & 15(1) of MDVA. 

Upheld N/A 

SETPRO PTY. LTD. T/ras PROJECT SETTLEMENTS 

16-Oct-02 Inquiry SASB Settlement Agents Act:  Articles 11, 15, 16 
of Code of Conduct:  Failure to provide 
proper advice and providing misleading 
advice. Failure to refer for legal advice. 

Disciplinary 
action. 

 Fine $500  

SPARROW, Alan 

30-Jul-02 Inquiry MVDLB Motor Vehicle Dealers Act:  Application for 
License –assessment of fitness to hold 
licence. 

Application 
withdrawn  

n/a 

TALMAGE, E. L. O’Rourke Realty Investments v Registrar 

24-Oct-02 Inquiry REBASB Real Estate and Business Agents Act:   
s.64(1), s.64(4), & 2, 7, & 10(3) of Code of 
Conduct. 

No cause for 
disciplinary 
action. 

N/A 

THOMPSON  T/A Orange Grove Garden and Wood Supplies 

17-Mar-03 Prosecution Perth 
CPS 

Weights and Measures Act 1915- s.34(c) 
and s.47(1):  Short weight firewood sales. 

Guilty Fine$1600 
Costs $1000 

VAN STOKKUM 

Ongoing Writ Supreme 
Court 

Damages action against the Finance 
Brokers Supervisory Board. 
 

Ongoing N/A 

WILLIAMS Hugh Vernon   

11-Jul-02 Appeal Joondalu
p  CPS 

Motor Vehicle Dealers Act:   Appeal from 
decision of Motor Vehicle Dealers 
Licensing Board. 

Discontinued N/A 
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WILLIAMS Hugh Vernon   

29-Oct-02 Inquiry MVDLB Motor Vehicle Dealers Act:  s.20:  Licence 
application - Insufficient financial resources 
to hold a licence. 

Disciplinary 
action. 

Disqualified  

WILLOUGHBY, Brent Ray          

03-Apr-03 Prosecution Perth 
CPS 

Motor Vehicle Dealers Act:   Unlicensed 
motor vehicle dealing. 

Guilty Fined $1500 
Costs $300 
Penalties 
$15,700 
 

WINTERFORDE-YOUNG, David 

14-Aug-02 Appeal District 
Court 

Motor Vehicle Dealers Act:  DOCEP 
appeal  to District Court against Perth CPS 
decision to uphold appeal against licence 
disqualification.  

Upheld  David 
Winterforde-
Young 
disqualified. 

WONG, Khon Meng 

18-Feb-03 Inquiry MVDLB Motor Vehicle Dealers Act:   Failing to 
keep and display proper records. 

Disciplinary 
action 

Disqualified  

WORTHINGTONBernard 

N/A Inquiry LVLB Land Valuers Licensing Act s.28:  
Negligence or incompetence in preparing 
valuation. 

Ongoing N/A 

WRIGHT, Kimberley 

28-Feb-03 Prosecution  Perth 
CPS 

Fair Trading Act Section 12(1)(l):  
Misrepresentation about discount voucher 
book 

Pleaded 
Guilty to 2 
charges   

Fine $500  
Bond $2000. 
Conditional 
Release 
other 
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WORKSAFE AND ENERGY SAFETY SERVICES 

Overview 
When the Department of Consumer and Employment Protection (DOCEP) was formed 
on 1 July 2001, the corporate structure included the WorkSafe Division, formerly an 
independent agency WorkSafe Western Australia.  In July 2002 the Technical & Safety 
Division of the Office of Energy joined DOCEP as a directorate within the WorkSafe 
Division.  The WorkSafe Division now consists of three directorates: 

�� Energy Safety; 
�� WorkSafe Operations; and 
�� WorkSafe Policy & Education. 

During the year, the statutory office of WorkSafe Western Australia Commissioner was 
held by Mr Brian Bradley, and the statutory office of Director of Energy Safety was held 
by Mr Albert Koenig. 

The role of the WorkSafe Division is to: 

�� continuously promote and improve safety and health in Western Australian 
workplaces, and in the broader community with respect to energy safety; 

�� protect the community by the technical and safety regulation of energy supply 
quality, reliability and metering accuracy, and by ensuring energy utilisation 
safety and efficiency; and 

�� participate in the State’s emergency management framework. 

The division’s goals are to ensure: 

�� Western Australian workplaces are free from death, injury and disease;  
�� the Western Australian community has safe, compliant systems of energy 

supply and uses energy safely and efficiently; and 
�� the organisation is prepared and able to respond to emergencies. 

Outputs 

For the year 2002-03 the WorkSafe Division provided two outputs: 

�� Occupational Safety and Health Services - Output Two; and 
�� Energy Safety and Quality Services - Output Three. 

 

WorkSafe 
The public face of the WorkSafe Division are the inspectors, who are primarily 
responsible for ensuring compliance with legislation and workplace safety and health 
standards.  The WorkSafe Operations Directorate is structured into three 
industry-based branches: 
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�� Manufacturing, Transport and Service Industries; 
�� Construction, Plant and Primary Industries; and 
�� Health Hazards. 

The WorkSafe Legal Services Unit reports to the division’s Executive Director, with 
corporate functions being managed by the Corporate Services Division of the 
department.   

WorkSafe - Major achievements 
Compliance and enforcement 

Enforcement involves inspecting workplaces and plant, issuing improvement and 
prohibition notices, resolving issues, investigating incidents, advising on requirements 
for compliance, and prosecuting those in breach of the legislation.  The directorate is 
also responsible for issuing licences, certificates and registrations. 

Active enforcement of the legislation continued across a broad range of industry areas 
with inspectors giving special attention to the seven priority areas.  Those priority areas 
were determined after consideration of workplace death and injury statistics and an 
overall assessment of the Western Australian work environment by WorkSafe’s 
inspectors.  The priorities are: 

�� forklifts; 
�� work at heights; 
�� manual handling 
�� electricity; 
�� slips and trips; 
�� hazardous substances; and 
�� new and young workers. 

Fact sheets and checklists of critical elements for each priority are made available to 
workplaces when inspectors undertake visits.  While they do not include all mandatory 
legal requirements, they cover many common safety problems and are a good starting 
point for workplaces seeking to meet their responsibilities. 

Occupational safety and health performance in the construction sector continues to 
receive special attention, with revised regulatory and training requirements being 
developed to improve safety standards for the operation of cranes and the tilt-up and 
pre-cast concrete sector of Western Australia’s construction industry. 

During the year, a number of enforcement drives were conducted targeting areas of 
poor occupational safety and health performance, the most significant being in relation 
to:  

�� concrete panel construction and erection (tilt-up and pre-cast); 
�� construction industry crane operations; and 
�� forklift use in the Canning Vale Markets. 
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Developing the regulatory framework 

To further develop the occupational safety and health regulatory framework, projects 
were undertaken in relation to: 

�� regulations and a revised code of practice for fatigue management in the 
commercial vehicle industry; 

�� regulations and a code of practice for tilt-up and pre-cast panel construction 
and erection techniques; 

�� regulations regarding crane safety; 
�� regulations for elevated work platforms and hoists, particularly in relation to 

the fruit growing industry; and 
�� regulations to put into effect the phase out of chrysotile (white asbestos) and 

other forms of asbestos by December 2003. 

Inspector training and development 

During 2002-03, as part of the increased focus on the training and development of 
compliance staff across the department, nationally agreed workplace inspector 
competencies were introduced and the training and development of occupational safety 
and health inspectors initiated using the nationally agreed competencies. 

Campaigns and forums 

To assist employers and employees to know their rights and responsibilities regarding 
occupational safety and health, the WorkSafe Division: 

�� conducted the 2003 phase of the ThinkSafe advertising campaign, which was 
aimed at motivating employers, particularly those in small business, to better 
manage occupational safety and health hazards; 

�� carried out forums in Bunbury, Kalgoorlie and Perth, targeting managers, 
supervisors, safety officers, safety and health representatives and 
professionals, regarding topics such as the impact of working hours, skills 
development, the role of safety and health representatives and enforcement of 
the law; 

�� conducted the annual Safety Achievers’ Dinner at which employers and 
companies with exemplary occupational safety and health standards are 
recognised for their achievements; and 

�� conducted various information campaigns to raise community awareness of 
occupational safety and health priorities and reforms. 

Policy and education 

In policy and education matters, the Policy and Education Directorate of the WorkSafe 
Division: 

�� supports the work of the WorkSafe Western Australia Commission; 
�� provides occupational safety and health advice to the Minister and other key 

stakeholders; 
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�� undertakes research on occupational safety and health issues including 
identification of emerging issues; 

�� provides a library service for both internal and external stakeholders; 
�� implements community education programs relevant to occupational safety 

and health; and 
�� produces and analyses data to underpin decision-making. 

Support for the WorkSafe Western Australia Commission 

In 2002-03 the WorkSafe Western Australia Commission was supported by providing 
administrative support, undertaking research, providing policy advice and producing 
codes of practice and guidance material. 

In addition, a new Agriculture Industry Safety Advisory Committee, a Tilt-up and 
Pre-cast Concrete Panel Working Party, and an Aged Care Industry Safety Working 
Party were established on behalf of the WorkSafe Western Australia Commission. 

Review of the Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984 

One of the challenges in occupational safety and health is ensuring that the legislative 
framework remains relevant in an environment where there is significant societal, 
technological and economic change. 

The final report of the review of the Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984, prepared 
by Mr Robert Laing, was tabled in the Parliament in November 2002.  Implementation 
of changes arising from the report’s recommendations, including a raft of legislative 
changes, is being progressed. 

A significant development during this year was the Occupational Safety and Health Act 
1984 being amended to extend its jurisdiction to provide protection for police officers. 

Public sector leadership 

As part of a move to position the Western Australian public sector as a leader in 
occupational safety and health, significant progress was made in improving 
occupational safety and health performance in major government construction projects.  
Good occupational safety and health performance is now the first priority in pre-
qualification requirements for construction contracts and the Department of Housing 
and Works has established an expert consultant panel to ensure contractual 
requirements with respect to occupational safety and health are being met. 

National and international activities 

As a result of confirmation that all Australian jurisdictions could comply with the 
requirements of the International Labour Organisation Convention 155 Occupational 
Safety and Health 1981, Western Australia has taken the lead to persuade the Federal 
Government to progress ratification of this convention.  Progress toward ratification will 
continue to be monitored at State level. 
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Ministers responsible for occupational safety and health across Australia agreed to a 
National Occupational Health and Safety Strategy for the period 2002-12.  The strategy 
includes national targets to sustain reductions in the frequency of work-related fatalities 
and the frequency of work-related injury and disease. 

During 2002-03, the promotion of trade in occupational safety and health services and 
products was continued with support for a network of providers and developing 
supportive government-to-government links, aimed at demonstrating the State’s ability 
to deliver services to China and South-east Asia. 

WorkSafe priority areas 

This initiative, first introduced during 2000-01, provides areas of specific focus for both 
enforcement and proactive educational programs.  The regulatory priorities for 2002-03 
were: 

�� forklifts; 
�� work at heights; 
�� manual handling; 
�� electricity; 
�� demolition*; 
�� slips and trips*; 
�� hazardous substances; and 
�� new and young workers. 

*Note: Demolition, while remaining an area of interest, was replaced by slips and trips on 1 January 
2003. 

During 2002-03 the focus on young people was broadened to include new workers, 
while lifting activities were a particular focus for the priority area of manual handling. 

Injury and disease trends 

The most recent work-related injury and disease statistics show a continuation of the 
long-term downward trend in the frequency of work-related injury and disease.  The 
total rate of improvement since the Occupational Safety and Health Act came into 
effect during 1988-89 is 60%, and the rate of improvement from July 1997 to June 
2002 is 40%.  Despite the overall downward trend, the number of traumatic 
work-related fatalities recorded during 2002-03 remains unacceptably high. 

Macro indicators of occupational safety and health (OSH) performance 

One of the most significant indicators of the success and effectiveness of programs 
and activities is the level of work-related injury and disease in comparison to previous 
years. 

An extensive range of data is collected and used to guide preventative occupational 
safety and heath strategies and to provide quality reliable information to stakeholders. 
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FIGURE 2:   

19
88

/89

19
89

/90

19
90

/91

19
91

/92

19
92

/93

19
93

/94

19
94

/95

19
95

/96

19
96

/97

19
97

/98

19
98

/99

19
99

/00

20
00

/01

20
01

/02
0

10

20

30

40

50

Total Males Females

Work Related Injuries/Diseases W.A. 1988-89 to 2001-02
FREQUENCY RATES
LTI/Ds Per Million Hours Worked

 
 
Note: The workers’ compensation data from which frequency rates are derived are dynamic, and 
subject to ongoing revision. 2001-02 is the latest year for which figures are available due to delays in 
claim lodgements and processing. 

In 2001-02 there was an overall 5% reduction in work-related injury and disease since 
2000-01, continuing the long-term downward trend.  The total rate of improvement 
since the Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984 came into effect in 1988-89 is 60%, 
and the rate of improvement in the five-year period from July 1997 to June 2002 is 
40%. 

TABLE 15: WORK RELATED INJURIES/DIDEASES WA 1988-89 TO 20001-02 
Year Persons Male Female 

2001-02 14.0 15.8 10.9 
2000-01 14.8 17.2 10.8 
1999-00 17.5 20.5 12.4 
1998-99 20.5 24 14.3 
1997-98 23.5 27.6 16 
1996-97 24.3 28.8 16.5 
1995-96 25.5 30.7 16.4 
1994-95 26.5 31.9 16.7 
1993-94 28.8 34.3 19.2 
1992-93 32.3 38.5 21.7 
1991-92 32.4 39.3 20.8 
1990-91 36.2 44.0 22.7 
1989-90 34.7 42.6 20.7 
1988-89 35.3 42.7 21.7 
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FIGURE 3:   
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Note: Work-related injuries and diseases are recorded against the principal industry of the employer 
of the injured worker.  For example, labour hire contract workers are counted under “Property and 
Business Services”, not the industry in which they are performing their work. 

The rate of injury to male workers in 2001-02 ranged from 2.1 LTI/Ds per million hours 
worked in the Finance and Insurance Industry to 24.3 in Manufacturing. For female 
workers the range was from 4.0 in Electricity, Gas and Water Supply to 19.2 in Health 
and Community Services.    

FIGURE 4:   
Work Related Injuries/Diseases W.A. 2001-02
OCCUPATIONAL GROUPS - FREQUENCY RATES
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Male labourers and related workers are the male category with the highest rate of 
injury, while the same category ranks second for females.  This occupation category 
includes cleaners, process workers, construction labourers, farmhands and 
kitchenhands.  Tradespersons and related workers had the second-highest frequency 
rate. Since 1999-00 all occupational groups have experienced a reduction in frequency 
rates, except for Intermediate Clerical Workers, which has risen by 7%. 

Fatalities 

WorkSafe collects and maintains a list of known traumatic work-related fatalities falling 
under the legislative jurisdiction of the Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984 and, 
for completeness, includes in its statistics those work-related fatalities covered by the 
Mines Safety and Inspection Act 1994 under the jurisdiction of the Department of 
Industry and Resources. 

FIGURE 5: 
Work-related fatalities 
Incidence rates 
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Note: This data includes all categories of workers and self-employed persons, regardless of whether 
they are covered by the state’s workers’ compensation system.  Not included are the deaths 
attributed to occupational disease, natural causes and journey claims that may result in an accepted 
workers’ compensation claim.  Deaths resulting from on-duty road traffic accidents are only included 
where there is a clear relationship between the accident and the work being performed and there is 
an occupational safety and health hazard identified in the causal factors of the accident. 

Although there were 22 work-related fatalities in 2002-03 - an increase of 5 since 
2001-02 - there has been a continuing downward trend in fatality rates since the Act 
came into effect in 1988-89.  The average annual work-related fatality incidence rate 
for the five-year period from 1988-89 to 1992-93 was 36.3 fatalities per million workers.  
In contrast, the average annual work-related fatality incidence rate for the five-year 
period from 1998-99 to 2002-03 was 20.2 fatalities per million workers. 
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There were a total of 22 work-related fatalities during 2002-03 in Western Australia.  
Six of these fatalities occurred on mine sites covered by the Mines Safety and 
Inspection Act 1994 administered by the Department of Industry and Resources.  The 
remaining 16 fatalities were under the jurisdiction of the Occupational Safety and 
Health Act 1984 administered by the WorkSafe Division. The list below provides details 
of these fatalities: 

TABLE 16: WORK-RELATED FATALITIES 2002-03 
11 July 2002 
A 20 year-old shed hand received fatal head injuries when her head came in contact with the scissor 
action of a hay processor. 
10 September 2002 
A 50 year-old bricklayer received fatal crush injuries when he was struck by a falling kibble used to hoist 
bricks up to the work area inside a boiler that was being relined with refractory bricks. 
18 September 2002 
A 47 year-old rigger received fatal injuries when steelwork he was working on collapsed and a concrete 
panel fell on him at a tilt-up panel construction site. 
9 October 2002 
A 54 year-old road worker received fatal injuries when he was run over by a reversing front-end loader on 
a road construction site. 
28 October 2002 
A 33 year-old jockey died from head injuries received in a trial race at a city racecourse when the horse 
shattered its front leg and fell.  The jockey was catapulted forward and the horse landed on top of him. 
12 November 2002 
A 27 year-old electrical mechanic/fitter subcontractor was electrocuted in the ceiling space of a shopping 
centre whilst attempting to reconnect the wiring to an external floodlight. 
12 November 2002 
A 52 year-old construction worker received head injuries when he slipped and fell 1 to 1.5 metres, hitting 
his head in the process.  He died from these injuries six days later. 
14 November 2002 
A 57 year-old skipper of a crayfishing boat is missing presumed drowned off the south coast 400km east 
of Esperance.  Last radio contact was made on 9 November 2002.  Two people are missing in this event. 
14 November 2002 
A 61 year-old deckhand on a crayfishing boat is missing presumed drowned off the south coast 400 km 
east of Esperance.  Last radio contact was made on 9 November 2002.  Two people are missing in this 
event. 
5 December 2002 
An 80 year-old self-employed farmer died when he was run over by a tractor when he attempted to “jump 
start” the tractor while it was in gear. 
10 December 2002 
A 16 year-old student on work experience on a farm received severe burns in a crop fire.  He died from 
these burns on 28 January 2003. 
11 December 2002 
A 33 year-old worker was electrocuted while assisting in installing metal street light poles.  The pole that 
he was steadying was being lifted by a truck-mounted crane when it came in contact with high-voltage 
overhead power lines and caused an electricity discharge to earth. 
25 January 2003 
A 35 year-old dozer driver received fatal injuries when he was run over by a reversing scraper on a 
housing estate development site. 
26 January 2003 
A 32 year-old volunteer firefighter died as a result of injuries received when the vehicle he was driving 
was struck by another fire fighting vehicle and rolled down an embankment. 
17 February 2003 
A 20 year-old traffic controller was run over by a reversing multi-wheeled road roller and died of the 
injuries received. 
9 June 2003 
A 53 year-old member of the public received fatal crush injuries when the vehicle she was driving was 
struck by a roll of sheet steel that fell from a truck travelling in the opposite direction. 
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Note: Other electricity-related fatalities, including two incidents mentioned in the list above 
because they were work-related, are reported in the Energy Safety section of this annual report. 

Not all compensated fatalities are recorded by the WorkSafe Division.  The following 
table shows the difference between numbers of fatalities recorded by the WorkSafe 
Division and numbers of fatalities for which workers’ compensation claims were made 
in 2001-02.  As a result of delays in claim lodgement and processing 2001-02 is the 
most recent year for which comparable data is available. 

TABLE 17: WORK-RELATED FATALITIES – WESTERN AUSTRALIA 2001-02 
 Claims Received 

by WorkCover 
Notified to 
WorkSafe as 
Work-Related 

Total Reported 
Work-Related 
Fatalities 

Compensable fatalities 
  (EXCLUDING MINING, 
COMMUTING AND 
  DISEASE) 

 
9 

 
9 

 
9 

Compensable mining fatalities 3 3 3 
Motor vehicle-related compensable 
fatalities 3 - 3 

Aircraft-related 
compensable fatalities - 1 1 

Compensable disease 
          Heart disease 
          Strokes 

 
2 
1 

 
- 
- 

 
2 
1 

# Self Employed - 4 4 
# Bystanders - - - 
# Students - - - 
# Commonwealth Government 
workers - - - 

# DEFENCE SERVICES 
PERSONNEL - - - 

Claims lodged for occurrence 
outside current year 5 - 5 

TOTALS 23 17 28 
 
# Non-compensable fatalities under Western Australian legislation. 

Review of notices 

A request for a review of an improvement notice can be lodged with the WorkSafe 
Western Australia Commissioner before the deadline for compliance specified in the 
notice.  A request for a review of a prohibition notice can be lodged with the 
Commissioner within seven days of the issue of the notice (or such further time as may 
be allowed by the Commissioner). 

Improvement notices are suspended while they are being reviewed by the 
Commissioner, but prohibition notices remain in force.  After considering a request for a 
review of a notice, the Commissioner can affirm, modify or cancel the notice.  An 
applicant who is not satisfied with the decision of the Commissioner may refer the 
matter to a safety and health magistrate for further review. 
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During 2002-03, 895 requests for the WorkSafe Western Australia Commissioner to 
review a notice in accordance with Section 51 of the Occupational Safety and Health 
Act 1984 were processed. 

Review outcomes were as follows: 

TABLE 18: REVIEW OF IMPROVEMENT NOTICES 2002-03 
Outcome Number 

Affirmed 8 
Affirmed with time extended 741 
Cancelled by Commissioner 41 
Review request withdrawn 3 
Compliance effected on time and while under review 19 
Received too late for review 70 
TOTAL REVIEWED FROM 1 JULY 2002 TO 30 JUNE 2003 882 

 
TABLE 19: REVIEW OF PROHIBITION NOTICES 2002-03 

Outcome Number 
Affirmed 8 
Affirmed with modification to wording 1 
Cancelled by Commissioner 2 
Received too late for review 2 
Total reviewed from 1 July 2002 to 30 June 2003 13 

There were 5 requests for a safety and health magistrate to further review an 
improvement notice under Section 51A of the Act.  Four were subsequently withdrawn 
by the applicants. In the remaining case, the decision of the Commissioner was 
affirmed. 

The tables below show the percentage of notices reviewed in comparison with the total 
number of notices issued over the past three years. 

TABLE 20: REVIEW OF IMPROVEMENT NOTICES 2000-03 
Year Improvement notices issued Improvement notices reviewed % 

2000-01 8,460 644 7.6 
2001-02 9,818 669 6.8 
2002-03 10,274 882 8.6 

 
TABLE 21: REVIEW OF PROHIBITION NOTICES 2000-03 

Year Prohibition notices issued Prohibition notices reviewed % 
2000-01 736 10 1.4 
2001-02 887 15 1.7 
2002-03 875 13 1.5 

The following table shows the level of enforcement over the past three years: 

TABLE 22: LEVELS OF ENFORCEMENT 2000-03 
Year Improvement notices Prohibition notices Prosecutions 

2000-01 8,460 736 37 
2001-02 9,818 887 55 
2002-03 10,274 875 61 



Department of Consumer and Employment Protection 2002-03 Page:  63 

Exemption from Regulations 

The Commissioner granted 32 exemptions from the Occupational Safety and Health 
Regulations 1996.  Exemptions were generally granted on a conditional basis, following 
consultation with relevant parties, and published in the Government Gazette. 

Performance measures Occupational Safety and Health Services 
The output of Occupational Safety and Health Services is the provision of occupational 
safety and health information and advice to Government, industry and the community; 
the delivery of a range of promotional services and the application of firm and fair 
enforcement to secure compliance with occupational safety and health legislation. 

Services provided to the community within the Occupational Safety and Health Output 
are mainly provided by the WorkSafe Division.  Additionally, the Strategy Division 
directly contributes to the Output through the provision of communications strategy and 
services and the co-ordination of policy tasks and projects which impact on more than 
one output. 

Table 23 outlines the department’s performance measures and commitments within the 
Output of Occupational Safety and Health Services.  Output performance measures 
are intended to provide information that assists in monitor what is being done, account 
for what has been achieved, and improve the provision of goods and services.  The 
services provided within each Output are evaluated in terms of quantity, quality, 
timeliness and cost. 

Quantity measures for 2002-03 

Quantity measures have been developed for each of the services provided within the 
Output of Occupational Safety and Health Services.  Each measure presented 
represents a unique service area.  The quantity figures report the actual number of 
occasions of service delivery. 

Quality measures for 2002-03 

The quality of investigation decisions is determined by the number of enforcement 
notices cancelled by the Commissioner of Safety and Health Magistrate per 
100 notices issued. 

The quality of Information and Education Services were evaluated for quality by a panel 
of appropriate experts.  Panel members were asked to assess various information and 
education products against set criteria. 

Timeliness measures for 2002-03 

To measure the timeliness of services provided WorkSafe set performance standards 
for investigations, information and education services.  The timeliness of investigations 
is measured using the average duration of a proactive investigation.  The timeliness of 
information and education services is measured using the percentage of on-line and 
hard copy publications that were finalised within an agreed timeframe. 
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Cost measures for 2002-03 

The cost measures reflect the full cost, including overheads, of providing the service.  
The proportion of the WorkSafe’s expenditure attributed to the provision of a service is 
determined by the amount of staff time allocated to undertaking the activities and tasks 
required to provide the service.  The total cost of the service is then divided by the 
quantity of services provided. 

TABLE 23: OUTPUT PERFORMANCE MEASURES – OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH 

 2002-03 
Target 

2002-03 
Actual 

Quantity   

Units of occupational safety and health investigations 15,000 17,555 

Information and education services provided to the community 520,000 939,911 

Quality   

Investigation decisions overturned on appeal 0.5% 0.38% 

Information and education services meeting quality standards 85% 87% 

Timeliness   

Average days to complete an occupational safety and health 
investigation 8 days 5 days 

Information and education services meeting required 
response and turnaround times 85% 90% 

Cost (efficiency)   

Average cost per occupational safety and health investigation 
unit $624.00 $655.42 

Average cost per information and education service $6.49 $4.21 

 

WorkSafe prosecutions 
WorkSafe Legal Services co-ordinates functions relating to the authorisation and 
conduct of prosecutions for alleged breaches of the Occupational Safety and Health 
Act 1984 and Occupational Safety and Health Regulations 1996, and support for the 
Commissioner’s functions in reviewing notices under the Act, and considering 
applications for exemptions under the Regulations. 

In 2002-03, 61 new prosecutions were authorised.  Thirty-two arose through proactive 
investigations by the department (ie, not as a result of an injury or fatality) and the 
remainder were in response to work-related accidents.  Proactive prosecution action 
covered the following areas: 

�� potential falls from height; 
�� plant; 
�� demolition; and 
�� electricity. 
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Fifty prosecutions were finalised in 2002-03, of which 38 resulted in a conviction, 2 
were dismissed and 10 were withdrawn.  In the case of four successful prosecutions, 
the Magistrate made a spent conviction order (a conviction not required to be disclosed 
unless required by law).  Details of the 34 remaining successful prosecutions are 
detailed below. 

Please note that “the Act” refers to the Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984 and “the 
Regulations” refers to the Occupational Safety and Health Regulations 1996. 

TABLE 24: WORKSAFE PROSECUTIONS 2002-03 
Summaries of successful WorkSafe prosecutions 

finalised during 2002-03 
Crystal Brook Vineyards Pty Ltd 
The defendant was prosecuted under Section 19(1) of the Act for failing to provide and maintain, so far as 
was practicable, a working environment in which its employees were not exposed to hazards. An employee 
was on a grape harvester, in an area where there were no handrails, attempting to clear a blockage when 
he lost his balance and fell to the ground. The employee landed on his head and suffered severe spinal 
injuries, resulting him in becoming a quadriplegic. The defendant was fined $25,000. 
Fini Building Pty Ltd 
The defendant was prosecuted under regulation 3.54(1)(b)(ii) of the Regulations for failing to ensure that 
openings, which were not lift wells, stairwells or vehicle inspection pits, with dimensions of more than 
200mm x 200mm but less than 2 metres x 2 metres in a concrete floor of a structure at the workplace were 
covered with a material that was strong enough to prevent persons or things entering or falling through the 
openings and which was securely fixed to the floor. An employee suffered several fractures and a 
perforated right lung when an elevated work platform, on which he was working, toppled over, after one of 
its wheels entered a polystyrene foam filled opening. The defendant was fined $2,000. 
Stratco (WA) Pty Ltd 
The defendant was prosecuted under Section 19(1) and 19(7) of the Act for failing to provide and maintain, 
so far as was practicable, a working environment in which its employees were not exposed to hazards and 
by that failure caused serious harm to an employee. An employee was operating a crank press that had 
had its guards removed when his right index finger was crushed, resulting in partial amputation. The 
defendant was fined $7,500. 
Carmelo Gurgone trading as Quality Furniture 
The defendant was prosecuted under Section 19(3)(b) of the Act for failing to notify the Commissioner 
forthwith of an injury to an employee which in the opinion of a medical practitioner was likely to prevent the 
employee being able to work within 10 days of the day on which the injury occurred. The employee had 2 
joints of his right index finger and 1 joint of his right middle finger amputated after it was caught in a spindle 
moulder. The defendant was fined $2,000. 
Rosina Gurgone trading as Quality Furniture 
The defendant was prosecuted under Section 19(3)(b) of the Act for failing to notify the Commissioner 
forthwith of an injury to an employee which in the opinion of a medical practitioner was likely to prevent the 
employee being able to work within 10 days of the day on which the injury occurred. The  circumstances of 
this breach are the same as those described immediately above. The defendant was fined $2,000. 
Terence House trading as House Roofing & Insulation 
The defendant was prosecuted under Section 19(1) of the Act for failing to provide and maintain, so far as 
was practicable, a working environment in which its employees were not exposed to hazards. Workers 
were not provided with a safe system of work for work at heights, on a roof. The defendant was fined 
$2,000. 
Go Crete Pty Ltd 
The defendant was prosecuted under Section 19(1) and 19(7) of the Act for failing to provide and maintain 
a working environment in which its employees were not exposed to hazards and by that failure causing the 
death of an employee.  An employee was electrocuted as he was assisting a director of the company to 
manoeuvre a pre-cast concrete panel using a crane.  The lifting chains on the crane came into contact with 
overhead power conductors that were directly above the footing on which the panel was to rest.  Two 
persons  received an electric shock and one  died.  The defendant was fined $40,000. 
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Summaries of successful WorkSafe prosecutions 
finalised during 2002-03 

Warren Edmund Crawford 
The defendant was prosecuted under Section 55(1) of the Act as a director of a body corporate when that 
body corporate was guilty of an offence under the Act (see case immediately above) when that offence 
was attributable to his neglect.  An employee was electrocuted as he was assisting the defendant 
manoeuvre a pre-cast concrete panel using a crane.  The lifting chains on the crane came into contact with 
overhead power conductors that were directly above the footing on which the panel was to rest.  The 
employee and the defendant each received an electric shock and the employee died.  The defendant was 
fined $25,000. 
Craig Jeffrey Baker trading as Unique Furniture Manufacturers 
The defendant was prosecuted for three breaches of Section 48(4) of the Act for failing to comply with an 
improvement notice within the time specified and one breach of regulation 4.41 for having altered plant , 
namely a panel saw, in a manner which could render the plant a hazard to any person at a workplace, 
when that alteration did not occur by way of dealing with an accident or emergency. The defendant 
received a global fine of $400. 
Westim Pty Ltd trading as WA Timber Sales 
The defendant was prosecuted under regulation 4.55(a) of the Regulations for failing to ensure that an 
industrial lift truck was operated in accordance with AS 2359.2. An investigation of an accident at the 
workplace found forklifts (industrial lift trucks) were being operated at the workplace without the instruction 
and training required by AS2359.2. The defendant was fined $1,000. 
Messina Building Co. Pty Ltd 
The defendant was prosecuted for two breaches of regulation 3.123(1) of the Regulations for being the 
main contractor at a workplace where demolition work other than class 1, class 2 or class 3 demolition 
work was being done, failed to ensure that the work was done in accordance with AS 2601 in that it failed 
to ensure that the electricity service, which was no longer required, was disconnected and sealed off 
before stripping or demolition work commenced and that it failed to prepare the work plan referred to in AS 
2601. An employee was removing internal wall linings of a house when his hatchet hit a live electrical 
cable, receiving a shock resulting in minor hair loss to his chest and arms. The defendant received a global 
fine of $4,000. 
Noel Taylor Enterprises Pty Ltd 
The defendant was prosecuted under regulation 4.37(3)(a) of the Regulations for failing to ensure that, 
where practicable, a pizza roller machine was stopped and all energy sources were isolated using isolation 
devices and locked out using lockout devices and that action to stop the machine and to return it to 
operational status was taken by a person authorised by it. An employee suffered crush lacerations to his 
right middle, ring and little fingers when they were caught in the top set of rollers of the machine while 
attempting to clean them. The defendant was fined $1,000. 
Busselton Bowling Club (Inc) 
The defendant was prosecuted under Section 19(3)(b) of the Act for failing to notify the Commissioner 
forthwith of an injury to an employee which in the opinion of a medical practitioner was likely to prevent the 
employee being able to work within 10 days of the day on which the injury occurred. The employee 
suffered an amputation of the tip of the middle finger on her left hand after it was crushed between a high 
pressure gas cylinder and a piece of timber on which it was resting. The defendant was fined $800. 
Cooley’s Cabinets Pty Ltd 
The defendant was prosecuted under regulation 4.37(1)(b) of the Regulations for failing to provide 
measures to prevent a spindle moulder being used in a manner that could render that plant a hazard to a 
person at a workplace. An employee was using a spindle moulder to cut out the centre panel in two 
wooden doors. The door started vibrating, kicked back and threw his left hand into the cutter. The 
employee suffered an amputation of two fingers. The defendant was fined $1,000. 
Hampton Transport Services Pty Ltd 
The defendant was prosecuted under regulation 4.55 (a) of the Regulations for failing to ensure that an 
industrial lift truck was operated in accordance with AS 2359.2. An investigation into an accident revealed 
that the defendant permitted a 16 year old employee to operate an industrial lift truck. AS 2359.2 requires 
all operators of industrial lift trucks to be at least 18 years old. The defendant was fined $2,500. 
Tony Bashforth 
The defendant was an employee who was prosecuted under Section 20(1)(b) of the Act for failing to take 
reasonable care to avoid adversely affecting the safety of another person, through his actions at work. The 
defendant used his fist to punch the plastic guard of an electronic balancing machine when another 
employee was underneath the guard. The guard broke and the defendant’s fist hit the employee on the 
right side of his forehead, above his eye. The defendant was fined $500. 
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Summaries of successful WorkSafe prosecutions 
finalised during 2002-03 

Mandira Pty Ltd trading as Carewood Furniture 
The defendant was prosecuted under Section 19(1) and 19(7) of the Act for failing to provide and maintain 
a working environment in which its employees were not exposed to hazards and, by that failure, caused 
serious harm to an employee. A fifteen year old employee suffered an amputation of his left middle finger 
above the joint closest to the hand when it was dragged into a spindle moulder. His left index finger was 
also lacerated, requiring stitches. The defendant was fined $5,000. 
Rawling Road Pty Ltd trading as V & V Walsh 
The defendant operated an abattoir and was prosecuted under Section 19(3)(b) of the Act for failing to 
notify the Commissioner forthwith of an injury to an employee which in the opinion of a medical practitioner 
was likely to prevent the employee being able to work within 10 days of the day on which the injury 
occurred.  Whilst the employee was working on a processing rail, the chain on the rail became jammed and 
the employee’s right index finger was crushed between the chain and the rail.  The employee suffered an 
amputation of his index finger.  The defendant did not report the accident until after being issued with a 
notice.  The defendant was fined $1,800. 
WA Meat Marketing Pty Ltd T/A WAMMCO International 
The defendant was prosecuted under regulation 4.37(1)(b) of the Regulations for failing to provide 
measures to prevent, as far as was practicable, the use of plant, namely a conveyor, in a manner that 
could render that plant a hazard to a person in a workplace .  An employee was working on a roller 
conveyor and was required to push and pull boxes of frozen meat.  When the employee returned to his 
duties after a break he placed his left hand (ungloved) on the roller casing and his left middle finger 
became caught in the conveyor chain and sprocket cog.  The defendant was fined $3,000. 
Philip James Brenton 
The defendant was prosecuted under regulation 3.117(2) of the Regulations for doing class 2 demolition 
work without being issued with a licence.  The defendant had applied for an exemption to do the work, but 
the WorkSafe Western Australia Commissioner had not made a decision on the application at the time the 
offence took place.  The defendant was fined $2,000. 
Perth Roofing Company Pty Ltd 
The defendant was prosecuted under regulation 3.55(2) of the Act for failing to ensure that either edge 
protection or a fall injury prevention system was in operation whenever there was a risk that a person could 
fall 3 or more metres from an edge of the workplace.  The defendant was fined $2,500. 
Justin Coulthurst 
The defendant was prosecuted under regulation 3.17(3) of the Regulations for failing to ensure that debris 
from first and subsequent storeys at the workplace were removed by means of a hoisting appliance or a 
completely enclosed chute.  The defendant was fined $500. 
Wembley Constructions Pty Ltd 
The defendant was prosecuted under regulation 3.117(2) of the Regulations for doing class 3 demolition 
work, namely the removal of asbestos cement roofing from a building, without being issued with a licence 
under the Occupational Safety and Health Regulations 1996 made under the Occupational Safety and 
Health Act 1984 to do class 1, class 2 or class 3 demolition work.  The defendant was fined $1,000. 
GVC Hydraulic and Gas Pty Ltd 
The defendant was prosecuted under regulation 3.118(b) of the Regulations for failing to ensure that class 
2 demolition work to be done at the workplace was done by a person who has been issued with a licence 
to do class 1 or class 2 demolition work.  The defendant was fined $1,000. 
JLN Corporation Pty Ltd 
The defendant was prosecuted under regulation 4.53(2) of the Regulations for failing to ensure that a 
person was not lifted or suspended by plant at a workplace, namely a forklift truck, or its attachment, which 
was not plant specifically designed for the lifting or suspending of persons.  The defendant was fined $750. 
Action Supermarkets Pty Ltd 
The defendant was prosecuted under Section 48(4) for failing to comply with an improvement notice within 
the time specified.  The notice required the employer to provide personal protective equipment, in this case 
safety footwear, for employees using a mechanical pallet lifter.  The defendant was fined $2,500. 
Alora Holdings Pty Ltd 
The defendant was prosecuted under regulation 4.44(1)(a) of the Regulations for failing, as far as was 
practicable, to limit the risk by the provision of an appropriate combination of operator protective devices, 
namely, a seat belt or restraint, where there was powered mobile plant (a forklift) and there was a risk that 
plant could overturn.  The defendant was fined $1,000. 
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Summaries of successful WorkSafe prosecutions 
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George Ingram 
The defendant was prosecuted under regulation 3.118(b) of the Regulations failing to ensure that class 2 
demolition work to be done at the workplace was done by a person who has been issued with a licence to 
do class 1 or class 2 demolition work.  The defendant was fined $2,500. 
John Francis Hollywood 
The defendant was prosecuted under regulation 3.55(1)(b) of the Regulations for failing to ensure edge 
protection  was in place where there was a risk a person could fall 2 or more metres from the edge of 
formwork.  The defendant was fined $1,000. 
Glenn Silver 
The defendant was prosecuted under regulation 3.117(2) of the Regulations for  undertaking class 2 
demolition work without holding a class 1 or class 2 demolition licence.  The defendant was fined $1,000. 
Westbeach Corporation Pty Ltd trading as Jag Demolition 
The defendant was prosecuted under regulation 3.55(2) of the Regulations for failing to ensure that edge 
protection that complies with regulation 3.55(5) of the Regulations was provided and kept in place or a fall 
injury prevention system was provided when there was a risk that a person could fall 3 metres or more 
from an edge at the workplace.  The defendant was fined $1,000. 
Daniel Williams 
The defendant was prosecuted under regulation 3.17(3) of the Regulations for failing to ensure that debris 
from first and subsequent storeys at the workplace were removed by means of a hoisting appliance or a 
completely enclosed chute.  The defendant was fined $500. 
Plaistow Nominees Pty Ltd 
The defendant was prosecuted under regulation 4.37(1)(b) of the Regulations for failing to provide 
measures to prevent, as far as was practicable, the use of plant, namely a sanding machine, in a manner 
that could render that plant a hazard to a person at the workplace.   The machine’s emergency stop button 
failed to operate when an accident occurred and had not been functional for three weeks prior to the 
accident but the machine had not been tagged out or removed from service. The defendant was fined 
$750. 
James Newell trading as Leo’s Radiators 
The defendant was prosecuted under Section 19(1) of the Act for failing to provide and maintain a 
workplace in which its employees were not exposed to hazards.  In particular the hazards were loose 
hanging electrical leads and a live light switch that had exposed wiring.  As a result of the state of the roof, 
electrical wiring and installations were exposed to water.  The defendant was fined $7000. 
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Energy Safety 
On 1 July 2002, the Technical & Safety Division of the Office of Energy was transferred 
to the Department of Consumer Employment and Protection (DOCEP), under the 
Machinery of Government reform recommendations.  The title of Energy Safety was 
adopted for this new directorate of DOCEP. 

Energy Safety (through the statutory functions of the Director of Energy Safety) 
regulates to achieve: 

�� the safety of people (public, consumers, workers) and property in respect of 
electricity generation, transmission and distribution; 

�� the safety of people (public, consumers, workers) and property in respect of 
gas distribution systems (operating at up to 1.9 megapascals) and gas 
production plants connected to such systems; 

�� the protection of consumers (all types) through the need for electricity/gas 
supplies to comply with minimum standards of quality, reliability and metering 
accuracy; 

�� the safety of all consumers’ electrical/gas installations (including all types of 
equipment and appliances); and 

�� the efficient use of energy (eg. the star rating scheme for electrical 
appliances). 

Energy Safety also: 

�� promotes electricity/gas safety to the public, consumers and workers 
(particularly energy industry workers) in a variety of ways; and 

�� participates in the State’s emergency management framework, where it has 
responsibility for managing liquid fuel shortage emergencies and representing 
Lifeline organisations at State Emergency Management Committee level. 

Energy Safety - Major achievements 
Gas and Electricity Safety Legislation Amendment Bill 2003 

During the year amendments were made to the Gas Distribution Legislation 
Amendment Bill to include provisions that improved the order-making powers for 
electricity inspectors under the Energy Co-ordination Act 1994.  Following these 
electricity related amendments the Bill was retitled – Gas and Electricity Safety 
Legislation Amendment Bill 2003.  The Bill is now awaiting Government approval for 
introduction into Parliament and it is hoped the Bill will be passed during the coming 
year. 



Department of Consumer and Employment Protection 2002-03 Page:  70 

Gas Standards (Gasfitting and Consumer Gas Installations) Amendment 
Regulations 2003 

An amendment to the Gas Standards (Gasfitting and Consumer Gas Installations) 
Regulations 1999 was made to update the technical requirements for consumers’ gas 
installations.  These regulations deal with the technical and safety aspects of 
consumers’ gas installations and the work of gasfitters in Western Australia. 

Increases in gas and electrical operative licensing fees 

Energy Safety oversaw regulation changes to the Electricity (Licensing) Regulations 
1991 and the Gas Standards (Gasfitting and Consumer Gas Installations) Regulations 
1999 to increase both gas and electrical operative licensing fees from 31 January 
2003.  The latest fee increases are the second last of a series designed to achieve full 
cost recovery for the provision of licensing services by Energy Safety. 

Code of Practice – Power Line Crossings of Navigable Waterways 

Following the recommendations by the Coroner in his report into the death of a man 
when the mast of a yacht made contact with a 22kV overhead line, a Code of Practice - 
Power Line Crossings of Navigable Waterways was published by the Director of 
Energy Safety under the authority of Section 33AA of the Electricity Act 1945. 

Review of the Electricity Regulations 1947 Part IX 

An increasing number of serious electrical accidents involving electrical workers 
prompted a review of work practices currently used within the electrical industry and 
those existing work practices stated in the above regulations.  The review process 
included extensive industry consultation on proposed amendments to Part IX of the 
Electricity Regulations 1947 that seek to achieve safe electrical work by placing clear 
safety responsibilities on electrical employers and employees.  The promulgation for 
the proposed amendments is planned to occur during 2003-04. 

Restricted electrical licence policy 

Industry was consulted on various proposed improvements to the policy for granting 
restricted electrical worker licences.  The feedback from industry was clearly in favour 
of the changes, which will provide improved access to licences, better training and, 
inter alia, more realistic recognition of the electrical training by tradespersons in the 
refrigeration/airconditioning and instrumentation/process control area.  The policy is 
expected to be implemented in July 2003. 
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Review of boards and committees 

The functions and powers of the Electrical Licensing Board have been reviewed as part 
of the second stage of the Machinery of Government Review.  The board will continue 
to grant electrical operative licences with a slightly modified membership that is to 
reinforce end user representation.  Other changes include amendments to the board 
membership structure to include consumer representation and referral of disciplinary 
matters (those that may result in operative licence suspension or cancellation) to the 
proposed State Administrative Tribunal scheduled to commence operations in 
January 2004. 

Energy safety promotion 

A series of presentations on gas safety regulations were delivered in partnership with 
the Master Plumbers’ and Gas Fitters’ Association at metropolitan and regional 
centres.  The objective was to explain the regulation changes and new gas installation 
standards.  Electrical seminars were also conducted at both metropolitan and country 
venues involving presentations on topical issues.  Four editions of the Energy Bulletin 
publication, the major electrical and gas industry communication vehicle of Energy 
Safety, were produced and widely circulated across Western Australian industry. 

A significant radio advertising campaign was performed alerting the community to the 
essential safety requirements of reporting all electric shocks and gas leaks and to 
‘switch off’ the electricity when working in the roof space of dwellings.  Energy Safety 
also sponsored electrical and gas industry safety awards in association with industry 
bodies. 

State emergency management 

Energy Safety maintained its involvement in the emergency management framework 
during the year through: 

�� participation as a member of the State Emergency Management Committee, a 
policy setting body which is chaired by the Police Commissioner in his role as 
State Emergency Co-ordinator; 

�� chairing of the Lifeline Services Group, which operates to maintain a high level 
of cooperation between lifeline organisations and between lifeline and 
emergency services organisations; 

�� participation as a member of the Lifelines Operational Group, which maintains 
a valuable communication network between senior operational personnel of 
the Lifelines.  This network is vital during emergencies; and 

�� participation in a national simulation exercise co-ordinated by the 
Commonwealth through the National Oil Supplies Emergency Committee to 
test the National Liquid Fuel Shortage Operational Response Plan. 
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During the year the State Emergency Management Committee established the Critical 
Infrastructure Project to review the vulnerability of critical infrastructure within the State.  
The Director of Energy Safety was appointed Deputy Chair of the project and Chair of 
the working group responsible for reviewing the vulnerability of the energy sector.   The 
project team has been active in collecting data from industry on their critical 
infrastructure. 

Hydrogen fuel-cell buses 

Energy Safety has begun preparing for new gas technology in the form of buses 
powered by hydrogen fuel cells that will be in Perth towards the end of 2004.  Energy 
Safety will administer the certification of the fuel cells as gas appliances and licensing 
of the operatives who install and service the fuel cells on the buses. 

Other policy work 

Energy Safety contributes to standards development work and during the year was 
represented on a number of national regulatory co-ordination and technical standards 
bodies, including: 

�� National Regulatory Co-ordination Bodies 
o Electrical Regulatory Authorities Council (ERAC) 
o Gas Technical Regulators’ Committee (GTRC) 
o National Uniform Electrical Licensing Advisory Council (NUELAC) 
o National Appliance and Equipment Energy Efficiency Committee (NAEEEC) 
o National Oil Supply Emergency Committee (NOSEC) 

�� National Standards Councils, Boards and Committees 
o Council of Standards Australia (representing the Government of WA) 
o Standards Accreditation Board 
o Electrotechnology Sector Standards Policy Board 
o Gas Technical Standards Council 
o AG6 Gas Installations 
o AG9 Natural Gas Vehicle Technical Standards 
o AG10 Specification For Natural Gas Quality 
o AG11 Gas Component & Industrial Equipment Standards Committee 
o CH-038 Liquefied Petroleum Gas 
o EL1 Wiring Rules and related sub-committees 
o EL2 Electrical Appliance Safety 
o EL4 Electrical Accessory Safety 
o EL11 Electricity Metering 
o EL42 Renewable Energy Power Supply Systems 
o EL43 High Voltage Electrical Installations 
o ME46 Gas Fuel Systems for Vehicle Engines 
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Electrical Safety 
Electrical inspections 

TABLE 25: ELECTRICAL INSPECTIONS 
Electrical Inspection Branch – investigations performed 

Utilities – equipment and practice  40 
Accidents – including fatalities  39 
Breach – of the Electricity Act and Regulations  181 
Audits – contractor / refrig & aircond / appliance retailers  75 
Appliances – prescribed and non prescribed appliances  58 
Incidents – supply and community  42 
Licensing – worker and contractors  43 
Miscellaneous  216 
Total  694 
 

Electrical Inspection Branch – installation inspections 
Total  853 
 

Electrical Inspection Branch – regulatory breach activities 
Prosecutions completed:   
Licensed persons  46 
Unlicensed persons  16 
Total  62 
  
Warnings completed:   
Licensed persons  54 
Unlicensed persons  22 
Total  76 

Energy Safety’s regional inspectors now in DOCEP offices 

The four country-based Energy Safety senior electrical inspectors were relocated to 
combined DOCEP offices at Bunbury, Geraldton, Kalgoorlie and Karratha.  This 
change will result in better services to consumers and industry. 

Electrical installation inspections by supply authorities 

All electricity supply authorities such as Western Power inspect consumer installations 
supplied by their networks or supply systems, under statutory obligations that require 
them to develop and then comply with Inspection System Plans and Policy Statements 
after they are approved by the Director of Energy Safety.  The supply authorities may 
carry out sample inspections in accordance with their approved Plan, rather that 
inspect all installations.  The supply authorities’ inspectors carry out many safety 
inspections across the State via this process.  The inspectors are employed by the 
supply authorities but designated (given their powers) by the Director.  They are 
required to work in accordance with not only the Inspection System Plans but also a 
code of practice issued by the Director. 
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During the year, new Inspection System Plans were approved and compliance audits 
were conducted by Energy Safety at Western Power Corporation (metro operations), 
Robe River Mining Co Pty Ltd  (which services Wickham and Pannawonica), BHP 
Billiton Iron Ore (Newman), WMC Resources (Leinster), Hamersley Iron (Dampier, 
Tom Price, Paraburdoo) and Rottnest Island.  This resulted in some corrective action 
requests being issued to improve compliance. 

Electricity-related accidents 

The following electrical accidents were reported to Energy Safety: 

TABLE 26: ELECTRICAL SHOCKS AND ACCIDENTS 
Electrical shocks  1032 

Electrical accidents1  37 

Total  1069 

Disturbing increase in fatalities 

During the reporting period a total of seven electrocutions occurred including two 
independent accidents that claimed the lives of four people.  Two electrocutions were 
associated with industry work whilst the remaining five occurred at private dwellings.  
This sudden increase in electrocutions compared to previous years (during the past 
twenty years only three years, all prior to 1989/1990, recorded 7 fatalities or more) is of 
concern to the department and preventative measures, including a strategic electrical 
safety advertising campaign, are being considered. 

A brief description of the cause of each of the seven fatalities is as follows: 

�� An electrician was electrocuted whilst attempting to repair a lighting circuit that 
was energised; 

�� A woman and a child were electrocuted whilst using a high-pressure water 
cleaner.  The water cleaner’s electrical cable was damaged and unsafe; 

�� A worker was electrocuted whilst installing a metal street light pole under a 
132kV high voltage power line; 

�� A man (unlicensed) was electrocuted whilst carrying out electrical work in a 
roof space at a domestic residence; and 

�� Two children were electrocuted when they contacted a Western Power 
overhead electrical service cable termination at a house, whilst attempting to 
retrieve a toy Frisbee via the roof of the building. 

The electrical accident rate for the reporting period was 19 accidents per 1,000,000 
(million) population. 

                                            
1 Accidents where injury has been sustained requiring hospital treatment, including seven 
fatalities. 
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TABLE 27: ELECTRICITY RELATED ACCIDENTS 
Electricity related accidents notified per 1,000,000 (million) population 

(not including wilful incidents) 

Year Number Five year average 

1993-94 28 24 

1994-95 27 24 

1995-96 21 24 

1996-97 15 23 

1997-98 11 20 

1998-99 22 19 

1999-00 15 17 

2000-01 12 15 

2001-02 11 14 

2002-03 19 16 
 
Note: These statistics include data published by the State Energy Commission of WA 
(SECWA) which had responsibility for electrical safety regulation up to 31 December 1994. 

Electricity supply investigations 

During the year, Energy Safety carried out many investigations into electricity supply 
related safety incidents, tree-cutting complaints and supply quality/reliability concerns.  
Advice was also provided to the Minister in response to a number of specific requests. 

During 2001-02 Western Power Corporation was prosecuted by the Director of Energy 
Safety for failing to report an incident under regulation 63 of the Electricity (Licensing) 
Regulations 1991.  The incident involved the collision of a barge-mounted derrick with 
a high voltage overhead power line in 1999.  The prosecution was dismissed on a legal 
technicality and an appeal was subsequently lodged in order to clarify the reporting 
obligations under the regulations.  This decision was appealed in the Supreme Court 
and Western Power Corporation was found guilty and fine/costs of $13,257.70 
awarded.  Western Power Corporation is currently appealing this decision. 

On a separate matter Western Power Corporation was convicted for failing to ensure 
its service apparatus was installed or maintained in a safe condition, in three instances.  
The Court directed Western Power Corporation to pay fines/costs totalling $27,833.10 
for these three offences. 

Electricity supply complaints 

Energy Safety received 400 complaints dealing with electricity supply quality and 
reliability under the complaints investigations provisions of the Electricity (Supply 
Standards and System Safety) Regulations 2001. 
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Many of these complaints were from the Koorda, Narembeen and Corrigin area, the 
Toodyay, Northam and York area, and Bremer Bay.  An investigation was carried out 
and it was assessed that upstream, systemic factors such as excessive high-voltage 
feeder lengths and inadequacies in the rural sub-transmission system are the cause of 
most of those complaints, as they result in problems with voltage control, load balance, 
protection system operation and performance under lightning conditions. 

A report was published and Western Power Corporation was requested to provide 
options (conceptual designs and costing) to bring the reliability and quality of supplies 
in each of those areas up to the relevant benchmark standards.  Western Power 
Corporation provided these designs and costing by the end of June 2003 and the 
Director of Energy Safety is expected to release his recommendations for remedial 
action in August 2003. 

Other complaints were identified as being of a more localised nature, requiring action 
such as tree control or local line reconstruction or other minor capital improvements.  
These complaints are being progressively worked through, in liaison with Western 
Power and in most cases remedial action can be readily identified and recommended. 

The remaining complaints were safety issues which were referred to the relevant 
Electricity Supplier (generally Western Power) for immediate investigation and action. 

Licensing of electrical operatives 

At 30 June 2003, there were 22,321 electrical workers, 3,059 electrical contractors and 
240 in-house licence holders registered.  The Electrical Licensing Board grants 
licences to eligible electrical operatives.  The Board’s principal focus and effort (in 
terms of time spent by Board members) is on licence holder discipline. 

Members of the Electrical Licensing Board as at 30 June 2003 were: 

�� Mr R G Pritchard – Chairman, self employed consulting engineer; 
�� Mr R Butterworth – nominated by the Department of Education and Training; 
�� Mr J Murie – nominated by the Communications, Electrical, Plumbing Union; 
�� Mr K Rosher – nominated by the Director of Energy Safety; 
�� Mr J Sweeting- nominated by the Electrical Contractors Association WA; 
�� Mr G Wrigley – nominated by the Chamber of Minerals & Energy and the 

Chamber of Commerce & Industry of WA (Inc); and 
�� Mr R Graham – appointed as a person with knowledge of restricted electrical 

work. 

The Electrical Licensing Board met 23 times during the year.  The Board also 
conducted 19 investigations including 8 formal disciplinary proceedings.  The outcomes 
were: 
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TABLE 28: ELECTRICAL DISCIPLINARY ACTIVITIES 
Interview and inquiry outcome – electrical disciplinary activities 

Electrical contractor licences cancelled  2 

Electrical worker licences cancelled  0 

Electrical contractor licences suspended  0 

Electrical worker licences suspended  10 

Operatives required to undertake a competency assessment   13 

Operatives censured  2 

Operatives required to undertake further training  1 

Gas Safety 
Gas inspection work 

TABLE 29: GAS INSPECTIONS 
Gas Inspection Branch - investigations performed 

Appliance audits  56 

Mine sites  5 

Authorisation holders  29 

Gas suppliers  26 

Regional inspections   154 

Caravans/campervans  81 

Autogas installations  60 

Mobile food vending vans  55 

Marine  10 

Appliance retail outlets  13 

Hire/camping company audits  37 

Total inspections/audits  526 

 
Gas Inspection Branch – installation inspections 

Number of Notices of Defect issued on gas installations   37 

Number of Inspector’s Orders written where gas installations required 
maintenance or repair 

 48 

 
Gas Inspection Branch – incident and regulatory breach 

Total investigations (including fires)  215 

Prosecutions resulting from investigations  10 

Warnings resulting from investigations  6 

 
Gas Inspection Branch – incident/accidents 

Number of reported gas incidents with completed reports  85 

Number of gas accident reports  17 

Gas-related fatalities  1 
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The following information is a brief description of the cause of the single gas fatality: 

�� The gas fatality occurred as a result of a house fire, fuelled by a reticulated 
gas supply, which destroyed the dwelling and led to the victim’s fatal injuries. 

The gas accident rate for the reporting period was nine accidents per 1,000,000 
(million) population. 

TABLE 30: GAS RELATED ACCIDENTS 
Gas related accidents notified per 100,000 population 

Year Number Five year average 

1993-94 9 12 

1994-95 5 10 

1995-96 10 8 

1996-97 4 8 

1997-98 6 7 

1998-99 5 6 

1999-00 3 6 

2000-01 7 5 

2001-02 8 6 

2002-03 9 6 
 
Note: These statistics include data published by SECWA, which had responsibility for gas 
safety regulation up to 31 December 1994.  Gas related accidents are defined as accidents 
causing injury and assessed as having gas as their primary cause. 

Gas quality 

Energy Safety continued to monitor the quality of the natural gas entering the gas 
distribution system from the Dampier to Bunbury Natural Gas Pipeline, Parmelia 
Pipeline (both supplying the south west of the State) and the Goldfields Pipeline 
(supplying Kalgoorlie).  The gas entering the gas distribution system from the pipelines 
has throughout the year complied with the quality specification contained in the Gas 
Standards (Gas Supply and System Safety) Regulations 2000. 

Energy Safety witnessed the collection of natural gas samples for analysis for odorant 
content from the Alinta distribution systems throughout the State.  Of the 25 samples 
analysed only 3 samples indicated insufficient odorant levels.  Remedial action was 
immediately taken by Alinta to increase the odorant level to an acceptable level at the 
three locations. 

Samples of Autogas and Heating Grade LPG were also taken at service stations and 
from LPG reticulation systems throughout WA to assess compliance of the gas 
composition and odorant level to the requirements contained in the regulations.  All 
samples taken were within the required quality specification and had an acceptable 
odorant level. 



Department of Consumer and Employment Protection 2002-03 Page:  79 

Gas supplier inspection plans and policy statements 

Western Australian gas suppliers (both Natural Gas and LP Gas) are required under 
the Gas Standards Act 1972 to inspect consumer installations prior to supplying gas.   
Six years ago, the Minister for Energy granted an exemption to certain gas suppliers 
(subject to the submission and approval of an Inspection Plan and Policy Statement) 
that allows them to do sample inspections complemented with other safety practices.  
Thus gas suppliers carry out sample inspections in accordance with their approved 
plan, rather than inspect all installations.   

Gas suppliers’ inspectors carry out many safety inspections across the State via this 
process.  The inspectors are employed by the gas suppliers but designated (given their 
powers) by the Director.  They are required to work in accordance with not only the 
Inspection Plans but also a Code of Practice issued by the Director.  Every two years, 
gas suppliers review and resubmit their Inspection Plans and Policy Statements for the 
approval of the Director in accordance with guidelines issued by the Director. 

During the year the Director approved new Inspection Plans for BOC Gases and Origin 
Energy, while the Inspectors’ Code of Practice was amended. 

Gas licensing 

At 30 June 2003, there were 6,297 persons registered for gasfitting work.  The Gas 
Licensing Committee, operating under the delegated authority of the Director of Energy 
Safety, interviewed seven gas fitters.  This resulted in five formal inquiries which were 
conducted by the Deputy Director Energy Safety, under the delegated authority of the 
Director.  The outcomes of the interviews/inquiries were: 

TABLE 31: GAS DISCIPLINARY ACTIVITIES 
Interview and inquiry outcome – gas disciplinary activities 

Permits cancelled   0 

Permits suspended  2 

Certificates of Competency suspended  1 

Certificates of Competency cancelled  3 

Gasfitters required to undertake further training  2 

Conditions placed on licence  1 

Performance measures for Output Area Three – Energy Safety 
The Output of Energy Safety Services is the provision of energy safety information and 
advice to Government, industry and the community; the delivery of a range of 
promotional services and the application of firm and fair enforcement to secure 
compliance with energy safety and quality standards. 

The Energy Safety Directorate of the WorkSafe Division of the department mainly 
provides services provided to the community within the Energy Safety Output.  
Additionally, the Strategy Division directly contributes to the Output through the 
provision of communications strategy and services and the co-ordination of policy tasks 
and projects which impact on more than one output. 
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Performance measures 

Table 32 outlines the department’s performance measures and commitments within the 
Output of Energy Safety Services.  Output performance measures are intended to 
provide information that assists to monitor what is being done, account for what has 
been achieved, and improve the provision of goods and services.  The services 
provided within each Output are evaluated in terms of quantity, quality, timeliness and 
cost. 

Quantity measures for 2002-03 

Quantity measures have been developed for each of the services provided within the 
Output of Energy Safety Services.  Each measure represents a unique service area.  
The quantity figures report the actual number of occasions of service delivery. 

Quality measures for 2002-03 

The quality of energy technical and safety regulation services and information and 
education services are evaluated by gathering customer feedback regarding the level 
of service provided.  Additionally, some activities were evaluated for quality by a panel 
of appropriate experts.  Panel members were asked to assess various information and 
education products against set criteria. 

Timeliness measures for 2002-03 

To measure the timeliness of energy safety services provided, customers were asked 
for feedback regarding their perception of the timeliness of service delivery.  
Additionally, the timeliness of some information and education services, on-line and 
hard copy publications, was. 

Cost measures for 2002-03 

The cost measures reflect the full cost, including overheads, of providing the service.  
The proportion of expenditure attributed to the provision of a service is determined by 
the direct allocation of costs consumed by undertaking the activities and tasks required 
to provide the service.  The total cost of the service is then divided by the quantity of 
services provided. 
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TABLE 32:  OUTPUT PERFORMANCE MEASURES – ENERGY SAFETY 

 2002-03 
Target 

2002-03 
Actual 

Quantity   

Energy technical and safety regulation services provided 14,000 18,054 

Information and education services provided to the community 35,000 70,512 

Quality   

Energy technical and safety regulation services meeting quality 
standards 85% 94% 

Information and education services meeting quality standards 85% 90% 

Timeliness   

Energy technical and safety regulation services meeting timeliness 
standards 85% 84% 

Information and education services meeting required response and 
turnaround times 85% 90% 

Cost (Efficiency)   

Average cost per energy technical and safety regulation service $291.50 $256.68 

Average cost per information and education service $20.57 $4.65 
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LABOUR RELATIONS SERVICES 

Overview 
The Labour Relations Division: 

�� provides information through the Wageline enquiry service; 
�� investigates complaints from employees in relation to breaches of awards, 

agreements and industrial laws; 
�� provides labour relations services to and on behalf of Government; and 
�� provides information and education services to employers and employees. 

Key strategies  

The division’s key strategies are to: 

�� develop and continually improve a policy framework for effective workplace 
reform; 

�� provide leadership through strategic advice and support to employers and 
employees; 

�� ensure employers and employees are treated fairly in the workplace; and 
�� become a central information provider offering easy access to workplace 

relations information that is relevant and easy to understand. 

Major achievements 
The commencement of the Labour Relations Reform Act in August 2002 significantly 
modified Western Australia’s labour relations system, and as such the division’s priority 
areas for the year have been: 

�� implementing the Labour Relations Reform Act 2002 including the 
development of regulations; 

�� facilitating the transition to the modified labour relations system and raising 
community awareness through radio and print advertising, distribution of 
publications on changes in the labour relations laws, and conducting seminars 
in the metropolitan and regional areas for employers, employees and industry 
groups; 

�� implementing the Government Wages and Parity Policy and development of 
new collective agreements for the public sector; 

�� the Cole Royal Commission into the building and construction industry and its 
report and recommendations; and 

�� the need to address the growing demand for more flexible work practices for 
employees to balance work and family responsibilities, and paid maternity 
leave. 
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POLICY DIRECTORATE 

Labour Relations Reform Act 2002 

The majority of the provisions of the Labour Relations Reform Act 2002 came into 
effect in August 2002, with the provisions regarding the phasing out of workplace 
agreements and the introduction of the new employer-employee agreements having 
effect in September 2002.  

Four new sets of Regulations to support the Labour Relations Reform Act 2002 were 
developed.  The regulations were primarily concerned with the registration of employer-
employee agreements and were developed in consultation with the WA Industrial 
Relations Commission and the Industrial Magistrates’ Court. 

An education and promotion campaign was conducted to raise awareness of the 
changes introduced by the Labour Relations Reform Act 2002.  This campaign 
included radio and print advertising, and production of a publication providing an 
overview of the changes and five publications addressing specific issues.  A total of 18 
large group seminars were conducted, of which 7 were in regional areas.  In addition, 
extensive on-line information was developed for the department’s website. 

A further advertising campaign was conducted in March 2003 to remind employers and 
employees that some workplace agreements would now cease to have effect. 

Grants for award updating 

Labour Relations administered a grant scheme to assist unions and employer 
organisations in the updating of significant awards in accordance with the new 
requirements in the Industrial Relations Act 1979.  The reforms introduced in August 
2002 include new provisions to facilitate the updating of all awards. 

A total of $258,000 was set aside for the grants scheme.  By the end of the financial 
year, a total of 10 grants had been allocated to union and employer associations with a 
total value of $238,000 if all milestones are achieved.  The project will continue into the 
2003-04 financial year.  

Other significant policy achievements: 

�� a submission was prepared on behalf of the Western Australian Government 
for the 2003 National Wage Case and the 2003 State Wage Case.  This year, 
under the new provisions of the Industrial Relations Act 1979, the State Wage 
Case required consideration by the Commission of the statutory adult 
minimum wage and a new minimum wage for trainees and apprentices, 
including adult apprentices under the Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 
1993; 

�� arrangements to implement the Code of Practice in the Building and 
Construction Industry were concluded with establishment of the Code 
Monitoring Committee, and the appointment of the Private Mediator under the 
Code.  The Code Monitoring Committee has met on a number of occasions 
and considered issues raised by participants within the industry; and 
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�� the required National Competition Policy Review of the Industrial Relations Act 
1979 and Labour Relations Reform Act 2002 were undertaken and reports 
prepared for the Federal Government. 

Submissions were prepared on behalf of the WA Government to the: 

�� Senate Employment, Workplace Relations and Education Legislation 
Committee, regarding the Federal Workplace Relations Termination of 
Employment Bill 2003; 

�� Federal Sex Discrimination Commissioner in support of a national 14 week 
paid maternity leave scheme; and 

�� Senate Employment Workplace Relations and Education Legislation 
Committee, regarding the Inquiry into the Workplace Relations Amendment 
(Protection of the Low Paid) Bill 2003. 

PUBLIC SECTOR DIRECTORATE 

Public sector changes realised 

The objectives of the Government’s Wages and Parity Policy have largely been 
realised.  The majority of public sector employees are now covered by collective 
arrangements.  Agreements were finalised for all major occupational groups including 
police, registered nurses, firefighters, medical practitioners, hospital support workers, 
hospital salaried officers, prison officers and TAFE lecturers. 

Core conditions of employment have been introduced across the public sector covering 
bereavement leave, carer’s leave, cultural/ceremonial leave, 48/52-hour arrangements, 
deferred salary scheme, the re-introduction of days in lieu of public service holidays 
and flexibility in clearing long service leave. 

Other major achievements have been: 

�� introduction of six weeks’ paid parental leave for all public sector employees 
from 1 July 2003; 

�� introduction of common severance and notice provisions for surplus 
employees across the public sector; 

�� development of a fixed term contract policy; and 
�� commencement of updating of public sector awards. 

COMPLIANCE AND EDUCATION DIRECTORATE 

Wageline call centre 

Staffing of the Wageline call centre was enhanced to handle increased calls as a result 
of the information campaign on the Labour Relations Reform Act 2002.  During the four 
months of the campaign Wageline answered on average 592 calls per day, compared 
to 510 per day on average for the previous year.  During August at the height of the 
campaign average number of calls answered was 718 per day. 

Overall Wageline answered more than 139,000 telephone calls and items of 
correspondence this year, compared to 123,566 last year. 
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Despite the increasing complexity of calls and the increased number of calls received, 
the performance indicator of the percentage of calls answered within three minutes has 
increased.  This improved performance was a result of the deployment of additional 
officers into Wageline during the last six months of the year. 

Education 

As a result of the introduction of the labour relations reforms the unit carried out 
185 seminars and 5,489 face-to-face meetings with employers and employees. 

The unit provided extensive support to the Small Business Development Corporation 
(SBDC).  The SBDC conducted its own awareness raising campaign on the new labour 
laws from July to November 2002.  The unit rostered an education officer at SBDC 
each day to help small business understand the new legislation.  The unit maintains a 
close liaison with ongoing referral of matters from SBDC to the unit. 

The unit also conducted a series of seven workshops in conjunction with the Small 
Business Development Corporation on developing an employer-employee agreements 
for small businesses. 

The Education Services Unit liaised extensively with organisations for workers with 
disabilities.  This involved discussions about employment options and suitable 
employment instruments as well as developing a template employer-employee 
agreement and guidelines for general industries as well as a template and guidelines 
specifically tailored for the disability area. 

Compliance 

The department’s industrial inspectors have responsibility for ensuring observance of 
industrial awards, agreements and industrial legislation.   Compliance services for 
Federal awards and agreements are also provided by inspectors in accordance with a 
provision of service contract on behalf of the Federal Department of Employment and 
Workplace Relations. 

Compliance actions resolved this year fell to approximately 800 compared with 1,422 in 
2001-02. 

Implementation of the Labour Relations Reform Act information campaign necessitated 
the shift of resources to education services, primarily staff from the industrial 
inspectorate.  Inspectors were reallocated to information and education activities, policy 
development and as additional support to the Small Business Development 
Corporation to facilitate its information campaign for small business. 

This has resulted in file closure rate dropping by 25% in 2002-03.  The backlog of 
cases opened has increased by 80%.  Programmed inspections have also had to be 
deferred for the time being. 

Scheduled campaigns into the retail and transport industries have been delayed until 
next financial year.  This has led to a reduced number of opened and closed cases. 
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Despite the shift of resources from compliance work to information and education 
activities, Industrial Inspectors recovered $1,473,500 for employers in 2002-03 
compared to $1,342,660 in 2001-02. 

Building Industry and Special Projects Inspectorate (BISPI) 

BISPI was established to monitor observance of industrial laws, industrial awards and 
agreements within the building and construction industry. 

BISPI established a protocol with the WA Police Service, in order that matters of a 
criminal nature may be referred to the appropriate police officers.  Protocols were also 
established with another DOCEP division, WorkSafe, to address overlap with 
occupational safety and health laws. 

BISPI has continued to deal with contentious issues in the building industry, particularly 
freedom of association and right of entry.  An education campaign on right of entry was 
completed including the provision of information to 30 major builders and a seminar 
delivered to the WA Police Service. 

Forty-four complaints were received during the year of which 30 were finalised with the 
remaining 12 still under investigation. 

The division successfully prosecuted one union official for breaches of the State 
freedom of association laws and is currently pursuing prosecution of the union itself 
under Section 96G of the Industrial Relations Act.  Both prosecutions arise from an 
incident at the WA Cricket Association grounds demolition site on 10 January 2002 
where the union official threatened a demolition company because its employees were 
not members of the union. 

BISPI continued to provide assistance to the Royal Commission into the Building and 
Construction Industry.   BISPI staff appeared before the Commission and more recently 
have undertaken a liaison role with the Federal Government’s Interim Building 
Taskforce. 

Targeted education and compliance campaigns 

Education and compliance programs form part of the division’s business plan focusing 
on identified industry sectors to: 

�� raise employer and employee awareness of employment obligations; and 
�� ensure employers observe awards and keep appropriate time and wages 

records. 

Campaigns typically follow initial liaison with the relevant unions and employer 
associations.  Employers are informed of their obligations by letter.  Randomly selected 
businesses are then inspected and any underpayments identified.  If matters are not 
solved voluntarily, they are referred for prosecution in the Industrial Magistrate’s Court. 
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During 2002-03, education compliance campaigns were completed in the restaurant 
and glazing industries. An education campaign within the restaurant industry began in 
October 2001.  Approximately 1,900 businesses were sent information packs outlining 
the relevant award requirements and information on seminars. 

A total of 306 businesses were randomly selected for inspections of which 95 had 
either ceased business, had no employees, operated solely under registered workplace 
agreements or another award.  Of the remaining 211 businesses covered by the 
Restaurants, Tearooms and Catering Award, 98% of businesses inspected were found 
to be in breach of the award.  In particular, a high level of non-monetary breaches 
relating to the failure to comply with the record keeping requirements of the award was 
identified.  Insufficient records affect the potential of inspections to identify monetary 
breaches. 

The high level of non-compliance resulted in the compliance phase being extended to 
December 2002.  Restaurants and cafés have voluntarily rectified underpayments 
totalling $783,000 for over 2,000 employees. 

A targeted campaign into the glazing industry was conducted during November 2002 to 
January 2003 involving the dissemination of information to 120 employers and 
compliance checks for 20 employers to ensure award obligations were being met. 

The department recovered $1,868 in unpaid entitlements from 5 employers. 

Youth campaign 

An education campaign designed to raise young peoples’ awareness of their 
employment rights was undertaken during the year.  Officially launched by the Minister 
in February 2003, the campaign comprised a mail-out of information packages to high 
schools, TAFE colleges and universities, a youth website and a series of press 
advertisements. 

The primary objective was to inform young people where they can obtain information 
about pay rates, conditions of employment and their legal rights at work. 

Performance measures for Output Area Four - Labour Relations 
Services 
The output of Labour Relations Services is the provision and co-ordination of strategic 
labour relations advice and information to government and the public/private sector; 
representation of the State of Western Australia, the Minister and public sector 
employers in industrial tribunals and labour relations forums; facilitation of compliance 
with awards, agreements and labour relations legislation through information and 
inspection activities; and the development and improvement of a policy framework for 
effective labour relations. 
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Services provided to the community within the Labour Relations Output are mainly 
provided by the Labour Relations Division of the department.  Additionally, the Strategy 
Division directly contributes to the Output through the provision of communications 
strategy and services and the co-ordination of policy tasks and projects which impact 
on more than one output. 

Performance measures 

Table 33 outlines the department’s performance measures and commitments within the 
Output of Labour Relations Services.  Output performance measures are intended to 
provide information that assists in monitoring what is being done; accounting for what 
has been achieved; and improving the provision of goods and services.  The services 
provided within each Output are evaluated in terms of the quantity, quality, timeliness 
and cost. 

Quantity measures for 2002-03 

Quantity measures have been developed for each of the services provided within the 
Output of Labour Relations Services.  Each measure presented represents a unique 
service area.  The quantity figures report the actual number of occasions of service 
delivery, or the number of hours of service delivery. 

Quality measures for 2002-03 

The majority of quality measures for the Output of Labour Relations Services are based 
on clients being asked to evaluate the quality services delivered.  Client evaluation of 
services is undertaken for the following performance measures: 

�� Public and private sector clients, perception that advice provided was easy to 
understand, relevant, and provided in a professional manner; 

�� The extent to which information and education activities are consistent with 
Government policy and legislation and an assessment of information carried 
out by a panel of appropriate experts; 

�� The extent to which Wageline clients report that the information provided was 
accurate, relevant and provided in a timely manner; and 

�� Employers’ and employees’ perception that compliance service was provided 
in a professional and timely manner. 

Services to and on behalf of government are evaluated for quality based on the number 
of recommendations which are endorsed, the extent to which ministerial services are 
provided consistent with government policy and a survey of public sector clients to 
determine the extent to which the advice to clients is relevant, understandable and 
provided in a professional manner. 
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Timeliness measures for 2002-03 

To measure the timeliness of services provided, Labour Relations set performance 
standards for the individual activities that constitute a service.  Services to and on 
behalf of government, information and education, and compliance are evaluated by the 
number of services delivered within set timeframes and the extent to which clients 
perceive that services are provided in a timely manner.  The Wageline service is 
evaluated by monitoring the number of calls that are answered within a set timeframe. 

Cost measures for 2002-03 

The cost measures reflect the full cost, including overheads, of providing the service.  
The proportion of Labour Relation’s expenditure attributed to the provision of a service 
is determined by the amount of staff time allocated to undertaking the activities and 
tasks required to provide the service.  The total cost of the service is then divided by 
the quantity of services provided. 

TABLE 33: OUTPUT PERFORMANCE MEASURES – LABOUR RELATIONS 

 2002-03 
Target 

2002-03 
Actual 

Quantity   
Enquiries answered by Wageline 155,000 137,267 
Compliance actions 1,200 876 
Services to and on behalf of Government 40,290 hrs 46,497 
Units of information and education provided to the community 262,750 285,150 

Quality   
Wageline services meeting quality standards 80% 92% 
Compliance actions meeting quality standards 85% 88% 
Services to and on behalf of Government meeting quality 
standards 85% 99% 

Information and education services meeting quality standards 85% 93% 

Timeliness   
Wageline services meeting required timeliness standards 80% 81% 
Compliance actions meeting required timeliness standards 70% 71% 
Services to and on behalf of Government meeting required 
timeliness standards 85% 95% 

Information and education services meeting required response 
and turnaround times 85% 94% 

Cost (Efficiency)   
Average cost per Wageline service $8.99 $10.18 
Average cost per compliance action $2,159.98 $2,485.16 
Average cost per hour of service to and on behalf of 
Government $65.44 $78.18 

Average cost per information and education service $6.66 $4.18 
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Labour Relations prosecutions 
In 2002-03, 21 prosecutions were finalised.  Of these:  

�� ten were settled prior to hearing with the respondent paying either the full 
amount or an offer deemed suitable by the claimant; 

�� five orders for payments were issued by the Industrial Magistrate Court for 
default judgements (Employer did not attend Court ); 

�� two claims were not pursued as the companies were insolvent; 
�� one plea of guilty was entered in relation to a Full Bench application for 

obstruction; and 
�� three claims were dismissed following hearing. Two of these were Federal 

small claims matters taken by the claimants themselves. 

The five prosecution matters and one obstruction matter finalised by hearing during 
2002-03 under the Industrial Relations Act 1979 were: 

TABLE 34: LABOUR RELATIONS PROSECUTIONS 2002-03 

Darcy Alphonso trading as Security K9 Default judgement 
Failed to pay employee award entitlements. Ordered to pay Award entitlements of $1,605.20, 
$6.06 interest and fines of $760.00. Claim paid in full.   

Diane Rowe trading as Pro Team Clean (x 4) Default judgement 
Failed to pay four (4) employees award entitlements. Ordered to pay Award entitlements of 
$3,596.54, Interest $37.82,. Costs $288.68 and Fines of $1,595.00. 
Failed to pay – Warrants of execution issued. 

Brendan Leppard trading as 212 Systems (Full Bench) Guilty plea 
Charged with obstructing an Industrial Inspector. Fined $1350.00 with costs of $575.50.  

Summons issued – matters still proceeding 

There are currently seven outstanding prosecution matters still to be finalised of which: 

�� three are for breaches of State awards; 
�� three for breaches of Federal awards; and 
�� one matter to be finalised for obstruction in accordance with Section 102 of the 

Industrial Relations Act 1979. 
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STRATEGY DIVISION 

Overview 
The Strategy Division works for and on behalf of the Minister, the Director General, the 
DOCEP Corporate Executive, and the various parts of the department.  It operates at a 
strategic level to ensure that the Government’s intended outcomes are met.  The 
Strategy Division develops and supports the implementation of strategic management 
processes that impact across the department. 

The division is responsible for strategic policy development and co-ordination, 
organisational development, the delivery of information, education and communication 
services and the integration and co-ordination of regional services. 

Policy and Planning 
The Policy and Planning Directorate provides strategic direction and services in relation 
to planning and evaluation, and to policy co-ordination, development and 
implementation, to assist DOCEP in achieving its purpose.  During 2002-03 the 
achievements of the directorate included: 

Planning 

�� development and implementation of a comprehensive planning process for 
2003-04; 

�� development and negotiation of the department’s Resource Agreement for 
2003-04, including the implementation of a new output structure and 
performance measurement framework; 

�� implementation of an electronic Corporate Calendar; and 
�� facilitation of a panel contract for market research and community consultation 

and publication of a comprehensive buyers’ guide. 

Policy 

�� development of a Compliance Strategy to support the department’s 
compliance and enforcement activities by providing a framework for 
developing and evaluating compliance programs across the range of 
departmental responsibilities; 

�� completion of a review of boards and committees in line with Machinery of 
Government recommendations.  The Consumer Protection Division will 
undertake implementation of the review outcomes during 2003-04; 

�� development and implementation of a Customer Service Complaints and 
Feedback Database and co-ordinated complaint handling processes across 
the department; 
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�� establishment of the Extended Working Hours Review Panel on behalf of the 
Minister for Consumer and Employment Protection.  The Review Panel will 
seek public comment and make recommendations to the Minister on 
improvements to the State’s occupational safety and health framework to 
address issues associated with the impact of extended working hours; and 

�� co-ordination of a range of DOCEP-wide policy issues and participation in 
cross-government initiatives. 

Communications 
The Communications Directorate is responsible for ensuring that the department's 
activities, policies and relevant issues are effectively communicated to the public and 
other important stakeholders. In addition to providing strategic communications advice 
to management, the directorate used a range of tools in its public relations work this 
year, including: 

�� publications; 
�� campaigns on specific issues or groups of issues; 
�� media liaison; 
�� events and expos; and 
�� on-line services. 

During the year DOCEP issued more than 200 publication titles on a range of issues. 
Most of these publications are also available on the department's website at 
www.docep.wa.gov.au. 

The department continued its strategy of providing regular newsletter or magazine-style 
publications to targeted groups in the community. These publications included the 
quarterly WorkSafe magazine SafetyLine, Energy Bulletins for electricians and 
gasfitters, and newsletters for the motor vehicle sales, finance broking, real estate and 
settlement industries. 

The ThinkSafe television advertising campaign was again a major element of the 
department's efforts to promote priority occupational safety and health issues. The 
campaign ran from 14 April to 28 June 2003 and included statewide television and 
radio advertising, direct-mailed material on the issues and posters. The campaign 
targeted small business in five industries: agriculture and fishing, aged care, 
construction, transport and retail. 

In July, August and September 2002 the Fair Go campaign promoted labour relations 
reforms through press and radio advertising and several forums across the State.  
Radio advertising was also broadcast in March 2003, to promote awareness of a 
further step in the abolition of workplace agreements. 

Throughout the year, Communications co-ordinated attendance at 14 expos and 
several special events, at which it promoted the department's services or issues of 
relevance to those people attending the events.  New expos attended this year 
included the: 



Department of Consumer and Employment Protection 2002-03 Page:  93 

�� North West Expo; 
�� Tool Box Engineering, Machinery & Technology Trade Show; and the 
�� Margaret River Wine Industry Field Days. 

The WorkSafe Western Australia Commission, WorkCover Western Australia and the 
Department of Industry and Resources joined the WorkSafe Division to present three 
Work Safe Forums in Kalgoorlie, Bunbury and Perth on 13, 15 and 30 May 
respectively.  The feedback was very positive with around 85% of those surveyed at 
the forums showing a greater understanding of safety and health issues and solutions. 

The department staged the annual Safety Achievers’ Dinner on 30 May 2003 at the 
Hyatt Regency Hotel. Sixteen gold and 10 silver WorkSafe Plan Certificates of 
Achievement were presented by the Minister for Consumer and Employment Protection 
to companies who scored highly against performance indicators for managing 
occupational safety and health. The winners were: 

WorkSafe Plan Award - gold winners 

�� Aim Maintenance Ltd 
�� Busselton Shire Council 
�� Bartter Steggles 
�� City of Melville 
�� Houghton Wine Company 
�� Integrated Power Service Pty Ltd 
�� Macmahon 
�� Meneghello Galvanizing Service 
�� North West Shelf Phase IV Expansion Project - Kellogg Joint Venture  
�� RCR Tomlinson Pty Ltd - Welshpool 
�� Transfield Worley Woodside Alliance Water Corporation Bulk Water & 

Wastewater Division 
�� Water Corporation Perth Region, Operations Support Branch & Market 

Development Group 
�� West Australian Newspapers Ltd, Production Complex 
�� Western Water Services Pty Ltd 

WorkSafe Plan Award - silver winners 

�� Bunbury Port  Authority 
�� Cape Mentelle Vineyards 
�� City of South Perth 
�� City of Swan 
�� Doric Group 
�� Meneghello Galvanizing Serive 
�� Path Transit Pty Ltd 
�� Town of Victoria Park 
�� Watsons Foods WA 
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WorkSafe awards 

�� E-rig Pty Ltd 
�� Gripsafe Industries Pty Ltd 
�� Halliburton Australia Pty Ltd 
�� Western Solar 
�� Safety Advantage International Pty Ltd 

A notable special event during the year was a one-off agricultural safety day at Nyabing 
in the southern wheatbelt area of the State.  Held in conjunction with the Shire of Kent 
and the industry organisation Farmsafe WA , this successful event promoted key 
on-farm safety hazards for farmers, their workers and family members.  The event was 
accompanied by the release of a series of 11 new DOCEP fact sheets on farm safety 
issues. 

In the on-line environment, DOCEP further integrated its web information, following a 
first-stage website redesign the previous year as a result of the merging of four 
agencies to form the new department. New on-line information was developed for 
young Western Australians, with the most significant component of this being 
information on wages and conditions. 

Communications worked closely with Information Services to develop the DOCEP 
On-line Services Plan (DOS), which maps how the department will undertake the 
significant task of making its transactional material available to clients via the internet.  
The plan is now being implemented. 

A significant change in the day-to-day management of on-line information is due to 
occur in 2003-04 following the introduction of a content-management system (CMS). 
The advent of CMS will allow for the devolution of web-authoring and approval 
processes to approved staff, meaning the department can more effectively manage its 
wealth of on-line information.  Customers will benefit because on-line information will 
consistently have a high-level of accuracy and be more frequently updated. 

Regional services 
DOCEP has a commitment to the delivery of services to regional communities 
throughout Western Australia. 

The creation of DOCEP and the amalgamation of regional offices has provided 
opportunities for making more extensive use of resources based in the regions to 
enhance service delivery outside the metropolitan area. DOCEP currently maintains 
regional offices in Albany, Bunbury, Geraldton, Kalgoorlie and Karratha. 

The extent to which DOCEP services are currently delivered through regional offices 
depends on a range of factors, such as the need for timely and responsive local 
services and local knowledge, the cost effectiveness of having staff permanently 
located in the region, and the extent of regional community expectations and demands 
for local contact with DOCEP staff.   
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The services for which DOCEP takes responsibility are delivered in a variety of ways to 
regional clients, for example from central metropolitan offices, through regional offices, 
and via electronic service delivery. 

In keeping with DOCEP’s Strategic Plan the key role of regional staff is focused on:  

�� compliance; 
�� information and advice; and 
�� education. 

These functions are being carried out by a total of 32 regional staff, operating from five 
regional locations, and taking responsibility for service delivery to the whole of regional 
Western Australia. 

The table below provides details of regional office locations, number of staff, and the 
key services provided from each regional office. 
 
TABLE 35: REGIONAL OFFICES 

Regional details Key services 

Great Southern Region 
Office location - Albany 
Number of staff – 4 

Consumer protection 
Labour relations 

South West Region 
Office location - Bunbury 
Number of staff - 14 

Consumer protection 
Labour relations  
Electrical and gas safety  
Occupational safety and health (OSH)  
 
(Some OSH services, for example those covering the 
forestry, fishing and agriculture industries, are delivered to 
the whole of Western Australia from the office located in 
Bunbury). 

Mid West Region 
Office location - Geraldton 
Number of staff – 4 

Consumer protection 
Labour relations 
Electrical and gas safety 

Goldfields/Esperance Region 
Office location – Kalgoorlie 
Number of staff - 5 

Consumer protection 
Labour relations  
Electrical and gas safety 

North West Region 
Office location – Karratha 
Number of staff - 5 

Consumer protection 
Labour relations  
Electrical and gas safety 
Occupational safety and health 
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During 2002-03 a number of innovations extended and improved DOCEP’s service 
delivery to regional clients including: 

�� co-location of regional staff in a single office in each regional location, for 
better business efficiencies and customer convenience; 

�� appointment of customer service officers. A more streamlined customer 
service has been established through the appointment of new staff and 
transfer of existing staff to front line CSO positions responsible for providing 
front counter services to regional clients, across the range of department 
services; 

�� on-line services:  initial steps were taken to enable a greater number of 
consumer and business transactions to be completed on-line through the 
development of a package of on-line services, for example business names 
registration; 

�� toll-free numbers:  provision of toll-free numbers so that people in the regions 
may access DOCEP services more conveniently and cheaply; and 

�� awareness of DOCEP services:  marketing of DOCEP’s services to regional 
areas through better co-ordinated campaigns, and promotions in which 
regional staff have key input and involvement. 
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CORPORATE SERVICES DIVISION 

Overview 
The Corporate Services Division was created through significant structural reform to 
provide the department with efficient and effective services in the following areas: 

�� financial and administration services; 
�� information technology support services; 
�� human resource management; and 
�� corporate information services. 

The Corporate Services Division is focused on outcomes rather than tasks, activities 
and bureaucracy. The division actively looks for ways to make a valuable contribution 
through improved service delivery. 

Major achievements 
Major achievements by the Corporate Services Division this financial year included: 

�� finalising implementation of Oracle Financials 11i as the new financial 
management information system for the department.  The project went live on 
1 July 2002 to be both on time and within budget. During 2002-03 the project 
was broadened to include a fixed asset module; 

�� developing a set of foundation financial principles to guide financial 
management throughout the new department, including principles to enhance 
management and control of staffing levels; 

�� developing a model for the allocation of financial resources within the 
department to achieve fairness and transparency in the annual internal budget 
process; 

�� developing new corporate policies for corporate credit cards, mobiles 
telephones, procurement and contracts, grievance, expression of interest, 
higher duties and equal employment opportunity; 

�� developing and implementing a new Code of Conduct for the department; 
�� being nominated for a Prime Minister’s Award in relation to the department’s 

commitment to employing people from diverse backgrounds; 
�� amalgamating three former agency payroll systems into a single payroll 

system, resulting in significant administrative and cost savings; 
�� implementing a new Agency Specific Agreement, resulting in many new 

initiatives, including flexible working hours; 
�� developing and implementing an on-line services architecture, and 

commencing the first on-line service project – REVS On-line; 
�� integrating and consolidating the business service links to regional offices; 
�� going live with the Bill of Sale, retail trading and Crimtrac systems; and 
�� rationalising inbound telephone services, resulting in significant cost savings. 
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Ministerial directives 
No Ministerial directives were received during the financial year. 

Customer service and complaints handling 
A new Customer Service Complaints and Feedback System (CSCF) was implemented 
in October 2002.  The system includes standards, a process and database to: 

�� deal with complaints about our services fairly and consistently; 
�� make improvements to our services as a result of customer feedback; 
�� recognise positive feedback from our customers; and 
�� record and monitor customer feedback data. 

For the period between October 2002 and June 2003 the CSCF System was used to 
deal with and record the following feedback from customers: 

�� 66 complaints; 
�� 78 compliments; and 
�� 4 suggestions. 

The outcomes of this feedback were: 

�� 57 complaints (86%) were closed; 
�� 77% of complaints were closed within 10 working days; 
�� 26% of the closed complaints and suggestions resulted in service 

improvements being implemented; 
�� the main areas of dissatisfaction reported by complainants related to staff 

conduct/behaviour and timeliness; and 
�� positive feedback focussed mainly on staff conduct/behaviour and the quality 

of information provided. 

Advertising, marketing and market research 
In accordance with section 175ZE(1) of the Electoral Act 1907, the following 
expenditure was incurred during 2002-03: 

TABLE 36: EXPENDITURE IN RELATION TO ADVERTSING 
 2002-03 
Advertising agencies 

�� Media Decisions WA, Vinten Browning Advertising, 
Dessein Graphics, Toucan Display Systems, JDA 

$553,892 
 

Market research Nil 
Media advertising 

�� State Law Publisher, Marketforce Productions 
$386,153 
 

Direct mail Nil 
Polling Organisations Nil 

TOTAL COST $940,045 
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Freedom of Information (FOI) 
During 2002-03 the FOI policies and procedures from the three former agencies that 
became DOCEP remained in place, therefore FOI requests and outcomes are reported 
here by division. 

Each division has a comprehensive Information Statement, which fulfils the Freedom of 
Information requirements and is lodged with the Information Commissioner.  These 
Information Statements can also be found on the department’s website, at 
www.docep.wa.gov.au. 

There are two FOI Co-ordinators and an FOI Officer, appointed to handle FOI requests.  
If assistance is required to complete a request or inquire into its progress the contact 
details for the FOI Co-ordinators are provided below. 

 

TABLE 37: FREEDOM OF INFORMATION REQUESTS 
Consumer Protection WorkSafe Labour Relations 

Co-ordinator FOI 
Department of Consumer &  
  Employment Protection 
Ground Floor, Forrest Centre 
219 St Georges Terrace 
PERTH  WA  6000 

Co-ordinator FOI 
WorkSafe 
5th Floor, WestCentre 
1260 Hay Street 
WEST PERTH  WA  6005 

Co-ordinator FOI 
Labour Relations 
Dumas House 
2 Havelock Street 
WEST PERTH  WA  6005 

Telephone: (08) 9282-0777 
Facsimile: (08) 9282 0850 
Email: kwills@docep.wa.gov.au 

Telephone: (08) 9327 0771 
Facsimile: (08) 9481 8427 
Email: Ron.E.Reid@docep.wa.gov.au 

Telephone: (08) 9222 7679 
Facsimile: (08) 9222 7777 
Email: 
mwray@docep.wa.gov.au 

 
TABLE 38: SUMMARY OF FOI REQUEST OUTCOMES FOR 2002-03 
 Consumer 

Protection 
WorkSafe Labour Relations 

 NPI PI NPI PI NPI PI 
Granted in full 3 1 84 1 1 - 
Granted in part 2 - 14 - 1 - 
Refused 2 1 2 - 1 - 
Withdrawn 3 - 4 - - - 
Not yet decided 4 2 3 - 1 - 
TOTAL 14 4 107 1 4 - 

NPI =  Non Personal Information 

PI =  Personal Information 

During the 2002-03 financial year: 

�� the Consumer Protection Division received 18 applications under the Freedom 
of Information Act 1992.  Of these 14 related to non-personal information and 
4 were for personal information.  This compares with a total of 29 applications 
received during 2000-01. 
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�� the WorkSafe Division received 428 requests for information.  Of these 89 
required formal Freedom of Information applications, all for non-personal 
information, compared with 72 from the previous year.  During 2002-03 19 
requests for information relating to energy safety were received. 

�� the Labour Relations Division received 4 FOI applications for non-personal 
information, compared with 5 applications the previous year. 

Note: The WorkSafe Division has a comprehensive policy on the release of information to 
interested parties.  This policy allows some documents to be released without going through the 
formal process of a Freedom of Information application.  The recommended approach to access 
information is to put the request in writing. Documents available outside of Freedom of 
Information legislation will be forwarded and details of other documents available and the 
method of accessing will be advised. 

Compliance with Public Sector Standards 
The following information is provided in accordance with Section 31(2) of the Public 
Sector Management Act 1994. 

In the administration of the Department of Consumer and Employment Protection, the 
department has complied with the Public Sector Standards in Human Resource 
Management and the Public Sector Code of Ethics. 

The Department of Consumer and Employment Protection is currently reviewing and 
revising the HR policies and practices to ensure that all policies, practices and 
procedures comply with the public sector’s human resource standards.  A Code of 
Conduct for DOCEP has also been developed and implemented as part of the 
development and revisions of HR policies. 

Applications for breach of standards review and investigations/audits for the period up 
to 30 June 2003 are: 

TABLE 39: APPLICATIONS FOR BREACH OF STANDARDS REVIEW AND 
INVESTIGATIONS/AUDITS 

Number of breaches of Public Sector Standards in Human Resource 
Management as a consequence of a review undertaken with the PSM 
Review Procedures 2001. 

 
4 

Investigations undertaken by OPSSC where there was an adverse opinion. Nil 

Compliance Audits. (These audits are performed by the Public Sector 
Standards Commission and examine how well an agency has met the 
public sector standards.  They are usually only done when an agency's 
performance is under review, or there has been a complaint or appeal 
lodged).  

 

Nil 

Rental Accommodation Fund 
Under the Residential Tenancies Act 1987 the Rental Accommodation Fund was 
established to receive money from tenancy bonds paid to the Department of Consumer 
and Employment Protection’s Bond Administrator, held by financial institutions or in 
real estate agents’ (bond) trust accounts.  All income earned by the fund, and the 
interest payment made to the fund, is to be used to: 

�� reimburse the costs to the department in administering the Act; and 
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�� reimburse the operating expenses of the Small Disputes Division of the Local 
Court, which is the court with jurisdiction in relation to tenancy matters. 

Under clause 3a of Schedule 1 to the Act, with the approval of the Minister, the income 
and interest can also be applied in the payment of grants to non-government agencies 
that provide education or advisory services to tenants. 

If, in the opinion of the Treasurer, there is any surplus income available, he may direct 
that all or part of the money is expended for the purposes of public housing in such 
manner as he may specify. 

Non-government agencies which were recipients of funds from the Rental 
Accommodation Fund this year included:  

�� The Tenants’ Advice Service (central resource unit); 
�� Northern Suburbs Legal Centre (North Metropolitan); 
�� Midland Information, Debt and Legal Centre (East Metropolitan); 
�� Sussex Street Law Service and Gosnells Community Legal Service (South 

East Metropolitan); 
�� Southern Communities Advocacy Legal and Education Services and 

Fremantle Community Legal and Advocacy Centre (South West Metropolitan); 
�� Geraldton Resource Centre (Central Region); 
�� Agencies for South West Accommodation (South West); 
�� Goldfields Community Legal Centre (South Eastern); 
�� Pilbara Legal Service (Pilbara); and 
�� Kimberley Community Legal Centre (Kimberley). 

Waste paper recycling 
Within the department, a culture of recycling and reducing waste paper is encouraged 
through posters and recycling bins.  The department also utilises the Department of 
Treasury and Finance common-use contract for paper recycling. 

Where possible, technology such as email is utilised to ensure the amount of waste 
paper is minimised. 

Risk management plan 
A DOCEP Risk Management Policy has been drafted and will be presented to the 
department’s Corporate Executive for approval.  A DOCEP risk management 
committee will be formed after the policy is approved. 

The risk management committee at WorkSafe continues to convene on a regular basis.  
In May 2002, Stanton Partners completed an internal audit report on WorkSafe risk 
management processes.  The objective of the review was to determine the adequacy 
of the procedures and processes to identify the nature and extent of exposure to risk 
and establish ongoing controls and accountability for risk management. 
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The report gave a satisfactory result for quality of management control and medium 
overall risk exposure. 

One notable activity for the Forrest Centre – two adjacent buildings in Perth’s CBD 
housing a large proportion of DOCEP’s staff - was the contracting of an external 
consultant to train staff on how to handle difficult customers and how to manage 
emergency situations.  

The department also drafted a significant incident plan that would assist senior 
management in implementing crisis management strategies should this be required. 

Energy Smart 
In accordance with the Government’s Energy Smart initiatives the department has 
committed to achieving a 12% reduction in non-transport related energy use by 2006-
07 with a 5% reduction targeted for 2002-03. 

TABLE 40: ENERGY SMART INITIATIVES 
Energy Smart Government 

programs 
2001-02 
baseline 2002-03 (A) Variation 

% (A) 2002-03 (B) Variation 
% (B) 

Energy consumption (Kwh) 2,261,400 2,266,466 0.22% 2,127,041 -6 % 
Energy costs ($) 372,371 391,529    
Greenhouse gas emissions  
(tonnes of CO2) 2,081 2,086    
Performance indicators      
    Kwh/sqm 145 140    
    Kwh/FTE 3,953 3575    
 
Note:  Whilst the energy consumption in 2002-03(A) shows a variation increase of 0.22% on the baseline 
data from the previous year, the 2002-03(B) & Variation (B) data, shows what the total consumption would 
have been had the staff numbers not increased by an average of 39 over the period 1st July 2002 to 30th 
June 2003. This in turn, would have resulted in the 2002-03 total energy consumption decreasing by 6%, 
which is greater than the desired 5% decrease required to comply with the Energy Smart programs. 

DOCEP is committed to making real and ongoing energy cost savings. To co-ordinate 
the introduction of the Energy Smart initiative within DOCEP, the Director General 
appointed a senior officer as Energy Executive. During the year the Energy Executive 
raised staff awareness of energy consumption issues. 

New measures include the significant consolidation of accommodation in the 
metropolitan area, as well as through the co-location of regional offices.  At present the 
department is in the process of applying to the Sustainable Energy Development Office 
for a grant to conduct an energy assessment. The assessment should further identify 
ways of reducing energy costs across DOCEP during 2003-04. 
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OUR STAFF 
As at 30 June 2003, our workforce comprised of 762 staff from a diverse range of 
backgrounds.  This figure includes 49 members of boards who were also paid through 
the payroll system. 

Human resource policies 
DOCEP is developing new human resource (HR) policies and procedures based on 
“best practice principles” to replace those currently in use. 

The Human Resources Advisory Committee (HRAC) continues to ensure that the 
department’s human resource policies and practices comply with relevant legislation 
and meet both departmental and employee needs.  The committee comprises 
management and employee representatives from across DOCEP. 

The following policies have been endorsed and are currently being implemented: 

�� expressions of interest (EOI) policy and guidelines; 
�� higher duties guidelines; and 
�� equal opportunity policy. 

The following policies are currently under development and/or pending approval and 
implementation: 

�� injury management policy and guidelines; 
�� eyesight testing policy and guidelines; 
�� prevention of violence by clients against DOCEP employees policy and 

guidelines; 
�� prevention of bullying amongst DOCEP employees policy; and 
�� performance development system. 

The HR Directorate is also assisting the WorkSafe Division develop an Inspector 
Development system.  This system will be used to assist new inspectors gain the 
required skills, knowledge and competencies to do their jobs well and be considered for 
progression to the next level. 

A Code of Conduct was developed and implemented in March 2003.  The code 
provides clear guidance for all DOCEP staff on the expected standards of personal and 
professional behaviour, use of official information, public comment and the 
management of private interests. 

Recruitment, selection and redeployment 
The introduction of recruitment and selection policy and guidelines in 2001-02 led to 
improvements in the way employees are recruited and selected.  For instance, DOCEP 
has conducted a range of “application pool” recruitment drives.  The adoption of pool 
recruitment means significant reductions in advertising costs and time spent by staff 
participating in selection panels and drafting selection reports. 
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The total number of redeployees has been reduced from six at 30 June 2002, to five as 
at June 30, 2003.  DOCEP continues to provide encouragement, support and 
opportunities to these redeployees, so they can find alternative employment. 

In May 2003, DOCEP implemented a new Expressions of Interest (EOI) Policy and 
guidelines to more effectively manage the manner in which EOIs are conducted and 
extended.  The new policy provided managers with increased flexibility to deal with 
expressions of interest, whilst at the same time emphasising management 
accountability.   

DOCEP prides itself in its achievements in the area of the employment of people with 
disabilities.  For instance, DOCEP’s commitment to the employment of people with 
disabilities, in conjunction with Bizlink WA, has resulted in the receipt of the “Employer 
of the Decade Award”.  DOCEP has also been nominated for a Prime Minister’s Award, 
which exemplifies its efforts in this regard. 

Performance development system 
Since its creation on 1 July 2001, DOCEP has operated without a unified approach to 
performance management and development.  The Learning and Development Team of 
the HR Directorate has addressed this problem by the development of a new flexible 
system, which focuses on managing the skills and knowledge needed to achieve 
personal goals and work requirements.  The system is currently under development 
and subject to Corporate Executive’s approval. 

Learning and development 
In September 2002, DOCEP’s newly-appointed grievance officers participated in 
training organised by the HR Directorate and designed to complement DOCEP’s 
recently implemented Grievance resolution policy and procedures.  It consisted of a 
two day course, during which participants were taught a range of skills, including 
mediation and conciliation.   

During October and November 2002, the HR Directorate conducted compulsory 
training for all staff as part of the implementation of DOCEP’s Equal Opportunity policy.  
The training program consisted of two major components: 

�� a full-day compulsory training session for all managerial staff, ranging from the 
Director-General through to line managers; and 

�� a half-day session for all remaining staff. 

February 2003 marked the engagement of two skilled learning and development 
practitioners on a part time basis.  A skilled assistant was recruited in March 2003 to 
provide administrative support and assistance.  Together, these officers make up the 
Learning and Development Team (LDT).  The LDT are currently involved in the: 

�� provision of high quality advice to various areas across DOCEP; 
�� co-ordination of external training activities; 
�� provision of consultancy services to develop the skills of internal staff; and 
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�� development of training programs such as leadership training for managers, 
etc. 

Occupational Safety and Health Committee 
February 2003 marked the inaugural meeting of DOCEP’s Occupational Safety and 
Health Committee (OSH). Since that time, the committee has met on five separate 
occasions, during which a range of issues and initiatives were discussed/enacted.  
Examples affirming DOCEP’s commitment to occupational safety and health include: 

�� the development and implementation of a new incident reporting format for 
DOCEP, which will be based on a similar system existing within the WorkSafe 
Division; 

�� the creation of an OSH Policy Review Sub-Committee; 
�� the development of a protocol for the provision of first aid in DOCEP; 
�� the training of first aid officers and provision of new first aid kits on each floor 

and in every DOCEP vehicle; 
�� occupational safety and health training for all Consumer Protection safety and 

health representatives; and 
�� a new hazard reporting system is set to be implemented across DOCEP in the 

next financial year. 

Workers’ compensation and rehabilitation statistics 
TABLE 41: WORKERS’ COMPENSATION 

Total number of active claims during 2002-03 19 

Total number of new workers’ compensation claims received during the year 
2002-03 7 

Total cost of all claims $125,000 

Human Resource Management System 
Due to the impending cessation of the Government contract with Fujitsu Australia for 
computerised personnel and payroll services, DOCEP will make the transition to the 
CONCEPT Alesco system.  A project team has been established to ensure the 
transition from Fujitsu to the new service provider is as smooth as possible. 

Particular attention will be focussed on effectively managing the change management 
process, including: 

�� the provision of training for managers and staff to embrace the new system’s 
web kiosk facilities; 

�� encouraging managers to utilise the system to its fullest potential and reap the 
potential improvements in efficiency and time savings; and 

�� the development of new policies and procedures to complement the needs of 
the new system. 
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Equal opportunity outcomes 
TABLE 42: EMPLOYEES BY SALARY LEVEL AND GENDER 

Salary Levels Women Men 

$0 to $35 951 105 56 

$35 951 to $41 420 111 39 

$41 421 to $46 640 54 33 

$46 641 to $51 883 30 62 

$51 884 to $60 377 44 93 

$60 378 to $70 355 15 42 

$70 356 to $79 686 16 32 

$79 687 to $91 298 2 16 

$91 299 to $103 693 4 3 

Greater than $103 693 1 4 

Totals 382 380 
 
NOTE:  The above figures include 49 members of boards who are paid through the payroll 
system. 

Achieving a more equitable gender balance 
DOCEP recognises that achieving an equitable gender balance is closely linked to the 
achievement of the Equal Opportunity Management Plan.  In this respect, 
mixed-gender selection panels are used to avoid potential single-gender biases. 

Similarly, all staff participated in compulsory training in Equal Opportunity principles, in 
particular, the importance of treating both genders equally and fairly. 

Language and cultural diversity outcomes 
DOCEP is committed to having an equitable and diverse workforce at all levels of 
employment, which is representative of the Western Australian community. 

The department continues to ensure that it advertises as widely as possible to attract a 
diverse field of applicants. 

All DOCEP publications are available in alternative formats upon request.  In limited 
instances, publications are translated into other languages. 

Balancing work and family 
DOCEP has family-friendly work practices available to employees to assist them in 
balancing their work and family responsibilities. 

For instance, family rooms have been located at the Forrest Centre and Westcentre 
buildings, where staff can work and oversee the care of family members when normal 
day-care arrangements are unavailable. 
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Employees also have access to flexible working hours and flexible leave arrangements, 
and are able to work from home, or on a part-time basis where that is practicable. 

Policies and programs targeting youth aged 12 to 25 
Wherever possible, particularly for entry-level positions, young people are encouraged 
to apply for temporary and permanent jobs. 

For instance, the HR Directorate is providing long-term clerical traineeships to two 
trainees.  These traineeships are designed to provide them with the skills and 
competencies necessary to compete effectively for future employment. 

DOCEP will continue to offer traineeships to indigenous Australians and disabled 
people as part of its commitment to the Equity and Diversity Plan 2001 to 2005. 

An internal youth traineeship network has also been established within DOCEP.  The 
aim of this network is to bring the trainees together on a regular basis to share ideas, 
gain a sense of camaraderie and encourage each other. 

Public Service General Agreement 
The transition of staff previously on Workplace Agreements (WPA) or Enterprise 
Bargaining Agreements (EBA) to the new Public Service General Agreement 2002 was 
achieved effectively and efficiently. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

Enabling legislation 
The Department of Consumer and Employment Protection was established as a 
department under Section 21 of the Public Sector Management Act 1994. 

Legislation administered 
The department assists the Minister with the administration of legislation listed in 
Appendix One. 

Legislation affecting departmental activities 
In the performance of its functions the department complies with the following relevant 
written laws: 

�� A New Tax System (Fringe Benefits Reporting) Act (1999); 
�� A New Tax System (Goods and Services Tax) Act (1999); 
�� Anti-Corruption Commission Act (1988); 
�� Appropriation (Consolidated Fund) Act (1999); 
�� Disability Services Act (1993); 
�� Electoral Act (1907); 
�� Equal Opportunity Act (1984); 
�� Financial Administration and Audit Act (1985); 
�� Freedom of Information Act (1992); 
�� Government Employees’ Housing Act (1964); 
�� Government Employees’ Superannuation Act (1987); 
�� Industrial Relations Act (1979); 
�� Library Board of Western Australia Act (1951); 
�� Minimum Conditions of Employment Act (1993); 
�� Mutual Recognition (Western Australia) Act (1995); 
�� Occupational Safety and Health Act (1984); 
�� Occupational Safety and Health Regulations (1996); 
�� Occupiers’ Liability Act (1985); 
�� Public and Bank Holidays Act (1972); 
�� Public Sector Management Act (1994); 
�� Public Sector Management (Redeployment and Redundancy) Regulations 

(1994); 
�� Salaries and Allowances Act (1975); 
�� State Supply Commission Act (1991); 
�� Workers’ Compensation and Rehabilitation Act (1981); and 
�� Workplace Agreements Act (1993). 
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The following written laws also impact on the department’s activities: 

�� Constitution Act (1889); 
�� Constitution Acts Amendment Act (1899); 
�� Defence Act (1903); 
�� Criminal Code Act Compilation Act (1913); 
�� Trade Practices Act (1974); 
�� Interpretation Act (1984); 
�� Competition Policy Reform (WA) Act (1996); 
�� Interpretation Act 1984); 
�� Coroners Act (1996); 
�� Evidence Act (1906); and 
�� Treasurer’s Advance Authorisation Supply, Loan and Appropriation and 

Financial Agreements Acts. 

In the financial administration of the department we have, to the best of our knowledge, 
complied with the requirements of the Financial Administration and Audit Act (1985) 
and every other relevant law and exercised controls which provide reasonable 
assurance that the receipt and expenditure of moneys and acquisition and disposal of 
public property and incurring liabilities have been in accordance with legislative 
provisions.  At the date of signing I am not aware of any circumstances that would 
render the particulars included in this statement misleading or inaccurate. 

 
 
David Goodwin 
Principal Accounting Officer 
 
 
 

 
Brian Bradley 
Accountable Officer 

30 August 2003 
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

 

 

CERTIFICATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
 

The accompanying financial statements of the Department of Consumer and 
Employment Protection have been prepared in compliance with the provisions of the 
Financial Administration and Audit Act 1985 from proper accounts and records to 
present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year ending 30 June 2003 and 
the financial position as at 30 June 2003. 

 

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the 
particulars included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate. 

 

 

David Goodwin 
Principal Accounting Officer 

 

 

  
Brian Bradley 
Accountable Officer 

 
30 August 2003 
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Department of Consumer and Employment Protection
Statement of Financial Performance
for the year ended 30 June 2003

Note 2003 2002
$'000 $'000

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses from ordinary activities
Employee expenses 4 39,769 33,110
Supplies and services 5 7,459 10,114
Depreciation expense 6 2,054 1,223
Administration expenses 7 4,631 4,541
Accommodation expenses 8 4,703 3,519
Grants and subsidies 9 460 349
Capital user charge 10 405 540
Carrying value of assets disposed of 15 1 63
Other expense from ordinary activities 11 66 1

Total cost of services 59,548 53,460

Revenues from ordinary activities
Revenue from operating activities
User charges and fees 12 13,971 11,006
Commonwealth grants and contributions 13 365 316

Revenue from non-operating activities
Other revenues from ordinary activities 14 639 539
Proceeds from sale of assets 8 4
Total revenues from ordinary activities 14,983 11,865

NET COST OF SERVICES 44,565 41,595

REVENUES FROM STATE GOVERNMENT 16
Output Appropriation 42,775 37,087
Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer 794 798
Resources received free of charge 721 355

Total revenues from State Government 44,290 38,240

Change in net assets before restructuring (275) (3,355)

Net revenues from restructuring 17 0 224

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS AFTER RESTRUCTURING (275) (3,131)

The Statement of Financial Performance should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Department of Consumer and Employment Protection
Statement of Financial Position
as at 30 June 2003

Note 2003 2002
$'000 $'000

Current Assets
Cash assets 27 (a) 2,719 5,601
Restricted cash assets 18 2,938 147
Receivables 19 4,227 3,853
Amounts receivable for outputs 20 1,944 1,543
Other assets 21 651 526

Total Current Assets 12,479 11,670

Non-Current Assets
Restricted cash assets 18 1,263 963
Property, plant, equipment and vehicles 22 4,875 3,601
Other assets 21 8 23
Total Non-Current Assets 6,146 4,587

TOTAL ASSETS 18,625 16,257

Current Liabilities
Payables 23 1,108 3,069
Unearned revenues 25 247 205
Provisions 24 5,432 4,346
Other liabilities 25 1,004 778

Total Current Liabilities 7,791 8,398

Non-Current Liabilities
Payables 23 684 39
Provisions 24 3,595 2,796
Total Non-Current Liabilities 4,279 2,835

Total Liabilities 12,070 11,233

Equity 26
Contributed equity 4,420 2,613
Accumulated surplus 2,135 2,410

Total Equity 6,555 5,023

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 18,625 16,256

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Department of Consumer and Employment Protection
Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 30 June 2003

Note 2003 2002
$'000 $'000

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Output appropriations 40,831 35,544
Capital contributions 2,156 2,613
Holding account drawdowns 1,543 0
Cash from other Govt dept re leave transferred 53 0

Net cash provided by State Government 44,583 38,157

Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Employee costs (33,789) (27,471)
Superannuation (3,862) (2,406)
Supplies and services (17,734) (17,361)
Capital User Charge (405) (540)
GST payments on purchases (2,024) (2,019)
Other payments (66) (127)

Receipts
User charges and fees 13,275 8,741
Commonwealth grants and contributions 365 316

GST receipts on sales 192 154
GST receipts from taxation authority 2,196 1,602
Other receipts 639 545

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 27 (b) (41,213) (38,566)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sale of non-current assets 8 4
Purchase of non-current assets (3,169) (1,099)

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities (3,161) (1,095)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held 209 (1,504)

Cash assets at the beginning of the financial year 6,711 8,215

CASH ASSETS AT THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR 27 (a) 6,920 6,711

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.



 

Department of Consumer and Employment Protection 2002-03 Page:  115 

 

Department of Consumer and Employment Protection
Output Schedule of Expenses and Revenues
for the year ended 30 June 2003

2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses from ordinary activities
Employee expenses 20,435 17,295 10,330 9,535 3,330 0 5,674 6,281 39,769 33,111
Supplies and services 3,833 7,427 1,937 2,374 625 0 1,064 312 7,459 10,113
Depreciation expense 1,055 966 534 106 172 0 293 151 2,054 1,223
Administration expenses 2,380 2,469 1,203 1,149 388 0 661 923 4,631 4,541
Accommodation expenses 2,417 1,528 1,222 1,166 394 0 671 825 4,703 3,519
Grants and subsidies 236 126 119 223 39 0 66 0 460 349
Capital User Charge 208 493 105 0 34 0 58 47 405 540
Loss on sale of assets 1 63 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 63
Other expenses from ordinary activities 34 0 17 1 6 0 9 0 66 1
Total cost of services 30,598 30,367 15,467 14,554 4,987 0 8,497 8,539 59,549 53,460

Revenues from ordinary activities
User Charges and Fees 7,179 10,002 3,629 1,004 1,170 0 1,993 0 13,971 11,006
Commonwealth grants and contributions 188 92 95 24 31 0 52 200 365 316
Other revenues 328 0 166 521 54 0 91 19 639 540

Proceeds from sale of assets 4 4 2 0 1 0 1 0 8 4

Total revenues from ordinary activities 7,699 10,098 3,892 1,549 1,255 0 2,138 219 14,983 11,866

NET COST OF SERVICES 22,899 20,269 11,575 13,005 3,732 0 6,359 8,320 44,565 41,594

REVENUES FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Output appropriation 21,980 17,137 11,110 12,218 3,582 0 6,103 7,732 42,775 37,087
Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer 408 87 206 293 66 0 113 417 794 797
Resources received free of charge 370 178 187 91 60 0 103 86 721 355
Total revenues from State Government 22,758 17,402 11,504 12,602 3,709 0 6,319 8,235 44,290 38,239

Change in net assets before restructuring (141) (2,867) (71) (403) (23) 0 (39) (85) (275) (3,355)

Net revenues from restructuring 224 0 224

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS AFTER RESTRUCTURING (141) (2,643) (71) (403) (23) 0 (39) (85) (275) (3,131)

The Output Schedule of Expenses and Revenues should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Consumer Protection and 
Business Regulation

Occupational Safety and 
Health Services TotalEnergy Safety and 

Quality Services Labour Relations Services
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Department of Consumer and Employment Protection
Summary of Consolidated Fund Appropriations and Revenue Estimates
for the year ended 30 June 2003

2003 2003 2003 2002
Estimate Actual Variance Actual Actual Variance

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
PURCHASE OF OUTPUTS
Item 56 Net amount appropriated to purchase outputs 42,857 42,657 (200) 42,657 36,969 5,688

Amount Authorised by Other Statutes
- Salaries and Allowances Act 1975 118 118 0 118 118 0
Total appropriations provided to purchase outputs 42,975 42,775 (200) 42,775 37,087 (5,688)

CAPITAL
Item 141 Capital Contribution 1,956 2,156 200 2,156 2,613 (457)

GRAND TOTAL OF APPROPRIATIONS 44,931 44,931 0 44,931 39,700 (5,231)

Details of Expenses by Outputs
Consumer Protection and Business Regulation 31,127 30,598 (529) 30,598 30,363 235
Occupational Safety and Health services 12,743 15,467 2,724 15,467 14,554 913
Energy Safety and Quality Services 4,801 4,987 186 4,987 0 4,987
Labour Relations Services 8,374 8,497 123 8,497 8,539 (42)
Total Cost of Outputs 57,045 59,549 2,504 59,549 53,456 6,093
Less total revenues from ordinary activities 14,080 14,983 903 14,983 11,861 3,122
Net Cost of Outputs 42,965 44,565 1,600 44,565 41,595 2,970
Adjustments (1) 10 (1,790) (1,780) (1,790) (4,508) 2,718
Total appropriations provided to purchase outputs 42,975 42,775 (200) 42,775 37,087 5,688

Capital Expenditure
Purchase of non-current physical assets 1,739 2,156 417 2,156 2,315 (159)
Adjustments for other funding sources 217 0 (217) 0 298 (298)
Capital Contribution (appropriation) 1,956 2,156 200 2,156 2,613 (457)

DETAILS OF REVENUE ESTIMATES
Revenues disclosed as Administered Revenues 4,247 3,928 (319) 3,928 4,221 (293)

(1) Adjustments are related to movements in cash balances and other accrual items such as receivables, payables and superannuation.

The Summary of Consolidated Fund Appropriations and Revenue Estimates has been prepared on an accrual basis.
The Summary of Consolidated Fund Appropriations, Variance to Budget and Actual should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
This Summary provides the basis for the Explanatory Statement information requirements of TI 945, set out in Note 31



Department of Consumer and Employment Protection 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2003 
 

Department of Consumer and Employment Protection 2002-03 Page:  117 

1. Departmental mission and funding 

The Department of Consumer and Employment Protection (DOCEP) is an agency of the 
Government of Western Australia and seeks to create a trading and employment environment that 
protects consumers and workers. 

The Department is predominantly funded by Parliamentary appropriations and supplemented by 
external fees and charges. 

In the process of reporting on the Department as a single entity, all intra-entity transactions and 
balances have been eliminated. 

2. Significant accounting policies 

The following accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation of the financial statements.  
Unless otherwise stated these policies are consistent with those adopted in the previous year. 

General Statement 

The financial statements constitute a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in 
accordance with Accounting Standards, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative 
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, and Urgent Issues Group (UIG) 
Consensus Views as applied by the Treasurer’s Instructions.  Several of these are modified by the 
Treasurer’s Instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording.  The Financial 
Administration and Audit Act and the Treasurer’s Instructions are legislative provisions governing 
the preparation of financial statements and take precedence over accounting Standards, 
Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board, and UIG Consensus Views.  The modifications are intended to fulfil 
the requirements of general application to the public sector, together with the need for greater 
disclosure and also to satisfy accountability requirements. 

If any such modification has a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, 
details of that modification and where practicable, the resulting financial effect, are disclosed in 
individual notes to these financial statements. 

Basis of Accounting 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Accounting Standard AAS29. 

The statements have been prepared on an accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost 
convention. 

Administered assets, liabilities, expenses and revenues are not integral to the Department in 
carrying out its functions and are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements, forming part of 
the general purpose financial report of the Department.  The administered items are disclosed on 
the same basis as is described above for the financial statements of the Department.  The 
administered assets, liabilities, expenses and revenues are those which the Government requires 
the Department to administer on its behalf.  The assets do not render any service potential or future 
economic benefits to the Department, the liabilities do not require the future sacrifice of service 
potential or future economic benefits of the Department, and the expenses and revenues are not 
attributable to the Department. 

As the administered assets, liabilities, expenses and revenues are not recognised in the principal 
financial statements of the Department, the disclosure requirements of Accounting Standards AAS 
33, Presentation and Disclosure of Financial Instruments, are not applied to administered 
transactions. 
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(a) Output Appropriations 

Output Appropriations are recognised as revenues in the period in which the Department 
gains control of the appropriated funds.  The Department gains control of appropriated 
funds at the time those funds are deposited into the Department's bank account or 
credited to the holding account held at the Department of Treasury and Finance. 

(b) Contributed Equity 

Under UIG 38 “Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities“ 
transfers in the nature of equity contributions must be designated by the Government 
(owners) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) before such 
transfers can be recognised as equity contributions in the financial statements.  Capital 
contributions (appropriations) have been designated as contributions by owners and have 
been credited directly to Contributed Equity in the Statement of Financial Position. 

(c) Net Appropriation Determination 

Pursuant to section 23A of the Financial Administration and Audit Act, the net 
appropriation determination by the Treasurer provides for retention of the following 
moneys received by the Department: 

�� proceeds from fees and charges; 

�� Commonwealth specific purpose grants and contributions; 

�� revenues derived from the sale of real property; one-off revenues with a 
value of less than $10,000 derived from the sale of property other than real 
property; and 

�� other departmental revenue. 

In accordance with the determination, the Department retained $14,983m in 2003 
($11,861m in 2002). 

Retained revenues may only be applied to the outputs specified in the 2002-03 Budget 
Statements. 

(d) Grants and Other Contributions 

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions are recognised as revenue 
when the Department obtains control over the assets comprising the contributions.  
Control is normally obtained upon their receipt. 

Contributions are recognised at their fair value.  Contributions of services are only 
recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services would be 
purchased if not donated. 

(e) Revenue Recognition 

Revenue from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets and the rendering of services 
is recognised when the Department has passed control of the goods or other assets or 
delivery of the service to the customer. 

(f) Acquisitions of assets 

The cost method of accounting is used for all acquisitions of assets. Cost is measured as 
the fair value of the assets given up or liabilities undertaken at the date of acquisition plus 
incidental costs directly attributable to the acquisition. 

Assets acquired at no cost or for nominal consideration, are initially recognised at their fair 
value at the date of acquisition. 
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(g) Depreciation of non-current assets 

All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their 
estimated useful lives in a manner which reflects the consumption of their future economic 
benefits. 

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis, using rates which are reviewed 
annually.  Expected useful lives for each class of depreciable asset are: 

 

Computer Hardware   3 years 

Computer Software   3 years 

Furniture and Fittings  10 years 

Office equipment    5 years 

Vehicles    5 years 

(h) Leases 

The Department has entered into a number of operating lease arrangements for the rent of 
the office building where the lessor effectively retains all of the risks and benefits incident 
to ownership of the items held under the operating leases.  Equal instalments of the lease 
payments are charged to the Statement of Financial Performance over the lease term, as 
this is representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased property. 

(i) Cash 

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash includes cash assets and restricted 
cash assets. 

(j) Accrued Salaries 

The accrued salaries suspense account (refer note 18) consists of amounts paid annually 
into a suspense account over a period of 10 financial years to largely meet the additional 
cash outflow in each eleventh year when 27 paydays occur in that year instead of the 
normal 26.  No interest is received on this account. 

Accrued salaries (refer note 25) represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of 
the financial year, as the end of the last pay period for that financial year does not coincide 
with the end of the financial year.  Accrued salaries are settled within a few days of the 
financial year end.  The Department considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to 
be equivalent to the net fair value. 

(k) Receivables 

Receivables are recognised at the amounts receivable, as they are due for settlement no 
more than 30 days from the date of recognition. 

Collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Debts, which are known to 
be uncollectable, are written off.  A provision for doubtful debts is raised where some 
doubt as to collection exists. 

Interest revenues are recognized as they are accrued. 

(l) Licences 

(i) Software 

Significant costs associated with the acquisition or development of computer software are 
capitalised and amortised on a straight-line basis over the periods of the expected benefit. 

(ii) Web site costs 
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The department considers that it is not possible that any economic benefit of its web sites 
can be reliably determined or measured.  Therefore costs in relation to web sites 
controlled by the Department are charged as expenses. 

(m) Payables 

Payables, including accruals not yet billed, are recognised when the Department becomes 
obliged to make future payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services. Payables 
are generally settled within 30 days. 

 
(n) Employee benefits 

Annual leave 

This benefit is recognised at the reporting date in respect to employees' services up to that 
date and is measured at the nominal amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are 
settled. 

Long service leave 

The liability for long service leave expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting 
date is recognised in the provisions for employee benefits and is measured at the nominal 
amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled.   The liability for long service 
leave expected to be settled more than 12 months from the reporting date is recognised in 
the provisions for employee benefits and is measured at the present value of expected 
future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the 
reporting date.  Consideration is given, when assessing expected future payments, to 
expected future wage and salary levels including relevant on costs, experience of 
employee departures and periods of service.   

Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on 
national government bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as 
possible, the estimated future cash outflows.  

Superannuation 

Staff may contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefits pension scheme now 
closed to new members, or to the Gold State Superannuation Scheme, a defined benefit 
lump sum scheme now also closed to new members.  All staff who do not contribute to 
either of these schemes become non-contributory members of the West State 
Superannuation Scheme, an accumulation fund complying with the Commonwealth 
Government's Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992.  All of these schemes 
are administered by the Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB). 

The superannuation expense comprises the following elements: 

 (i) change in the unfunded employer's liability in respect of current 
employees who are members of the Pension Scheme and current employees 
who accrued a benefit on transfer from that Scheme to the Gold State 
Superannuation Scheme; and 

 (ii) employer contributions paid to the Gold State Superannuation Scheme 
and the West State Superannuation Scheme. 

The superannuation expense does not include payment of pensions to retirees, as this 
does not constitute part of the cost of services provided by the Department in the current 
year. 

A revenue “Liabilities assumed by the Treasurer” equivalent to (i) is recognised under 
Revenues from State Government in the Statement of Financial Performance as the 
unfunded liability is assumed by the Treasurer.  The GESB makes the benefit payments 
and is recouped by the Treasurer. 
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The Department is funded for employer contributions in respect of the Gold State 
Superannuation Scheme and the West State Superannuation Scheme. These 
contributions were paid to the GESB during the year. The GESB subsequently paid the 
employer contributions in respect of the Gold State Superannuation Scheme to the 
Consolidated Fund. 

Employee benefit on-costs 

Employee benefit on-costs are recognised and included in employee benefit liabilities and 
costs when the employee benefits to which they relate are recognised as liabilities and 
expenses.  (See notes 4 and 24). 

(o) Resources Received Free of Charge or For Nominal Value 

Resources received free of charge or for nominal value, which can be reliably measured, 
are recognised as revenues and as assets or expenses as appropriate at fair value. 

(p) Comparative Figures 

Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified so as to be comparable with the 
figures presented in the current financial year. 

(q) Rounding of amounts 

Amounts in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, 
or in certain cases, to the nearest dollar. 

3. Outputs of the Department  

Information about the Department's outputs and the expenses and revenues, which are reliably 
attributable to those outputs, is set out in the Output Schedule.  Information about expenses, 
revenues, assets and liabilities administered by the Department are given in notes 36, 38 and 
39. 

The four key outputs of the Department: 

Output 1: Consumer Protection and Business Regulation Services 

The provision of consumer protection advice, information, education and business 
regulation services. 

Output 2: Occupational Safety and Health Services 

The provision of occupational safety and health information, education and regulation 
services. 

Output 3: Energy Safety and Quality Services 

The provision of energy safety and quality information, education and regulation 
services. 

Output 4: Labour Relations Services 

The provision of labour relations advice, information, education and compliance 
services.  
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2003 2002
$'000 $'000

4. Employee expenses
Wages and salaries 32,500 27,920
Superannuation 3,862 3,218
Long service leave 548 365
Annual leave 775 217
Other related expenses 2,084 1,389

39,769 33,110

The employee expenses include superannuation, workers compensation premiums and other
employment on-costs associated with the recognition of annual and long service leave liability.  The
related on-costs liability is included in employee benefits liabilities at Note 24.
The Technical Services division of the Office of Energy, comprising of 46 employees, merged with
DOCEP with effect from 1 July 2002.

5. Supplies and Services
Consultants and contractors 4494 8664
Materials 881 352
Repairs and maintenance 0 190
Travel 0 197
Insurance 233 97
Motor vehicles 1213 279
Other 638 335

7459 10114

6. Depreciation expense
Computer Hardware 1,369 569
Computer Software 254 88
Furniture and Fittings 252 427
Telecommunications 0 4
Vehicles 17 17
Office Equipment 162 118

2,054 1,223

7. Administration expenses
Communications 1,615 1,502
Consumables 1,612 1,431
Maintenance 518 816
Other 886 794

4,631 4,541

8. Accommodation expenses
Lease rentals 4,537 3,281
Repairs and maintenance 35 212
Cleaning 131 27

4,703 3,519

9. Grants and subsidies
Consumer Credit Legal Services 81 126
Farmsafe WA 70 90
Asbestos Diseases Society 83 53
Chamber of Commerce & Industry WA 50 40
Unions WA 50 40
Small Business Development 20 0
Unions & Associations - award updating 106 0

460 349
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2003 2002
$'000 $'000

10. Capital User Charge
Capital User Charge 405 540

A capital user charge rate of 8% has been set by Government and represents the opportunity cost of
capital invested in the net assets of the Department used in the provision of outputs.  The charge is
calculated on the net assets adjusted to take account of exempt assets.  Payments are made to the
Department of Treasury and Finance on a quarterly basis.

11. Other expenses from ordinary activities
Adjustments from prior year 66 1

12. User charges and fees
User charges and fees 13,971 11,006

User charges and fees breakdown
Real Estate & Settlement Agents Board - recoup of costs 7,219 4,993
Business names 1,068 1,035
REVS 1,808 1,850
Trading Standards 253 254
Worksafe 904 1,004
Energy Safety 2,221 0
Plumbers 480 7
Other 18 1,862
Total User Charges and Fees 13,971 11,006

13. Commonwealth grants and contributions
Indian Ocean Territories 165 116
Compliance and Information Services (1) 200 200

365 316
(1) Federal funding for the delivery of compliance and information services.

14. Other revenues from ordinary activities
Other revenue 639 521
Government Vehicle Scheme - employee contributions 0 18
Miscellaneous revenue 0 1

639 539

15. Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets
Gain on Disposal of Non-Current Assets
Computers - Hardware 8 4

Loss on Disposal of Non-Current Assets
Computers - Hardware 0 (63)
Office equipment (1) 0
Net gain/(loss) 7 (59)
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2003 2002
$'000 $'000

16. Revenues from State Government
Appropriation revenue received during the year:
Output appropriations (1) 42,775 37,087

42,775 37,087

The following liabilities have been assumed by the
Treasurer during the financial year:
Superannuation (2) 794 798
Total liabilities assumed by the Treasurer 794 798

Resources received free of charge (3)
Determined on the basis of the following estimates provided by
agencies:
Office of the Auditor General 111 47
Department of Land Administration 0 1
Crown Solicitor's Office 542 214
Department of Justice 0 91
Commercial Property Office 68 2
Department of Racing, Gaming and Liquor 0 1
Total resources received free of charge 721 355

Total revenues from State Government 44,290 38,240

(1) Output appropriations are accrual amounts reflecting the full cost of outputs delivered.  The
appropriation revenue comprises a cash component and a receivable (asset).  The receivable
(holding account) comprises the depreciation expense for the year and any agreed increases
in leave liability during the year.

(2) The assumption of the superannuation liability by the Treasurer is only a notional revenue to
offset the notional superannuation expense reported in respect of current employees who are
members of the pension scheme and current employees who have a transfer benefit
entitlement under the Gold State scheme.

(3) Where assets or services have been received free of charge for nominal consideration, the
Department recognises revenues (except where the contributions of assets or services are
in the nature of contributions by owners in which case the Department shall make a direct
adjustment to equity) equivalent to the fair value of the assets and/or the fair value of those
services that can be reliably determined and which would have been purchased if not donated,
and those fair values shall be recognised as assets or expenses, as applicable.

17. Net revenues/(expense) from restructuring
Net capital contributed - restructure of the Plumbers Licensing
Board on 1st March 2002 0 224

18. Restricted cash assets
Current
Consumer Credit Trust Account 544 39
Departmental Receipts in Suspense 140 100
Commonwealth Government - Indian Ocean Territories 8 8
Safetyline Institute 76 0
Capital contributions not spent 2,170 0

2,938 147
Non-Current
Accrued salaries suspense account (1) 1,263 963

(1) Amount held in the suspense account is only to be used for the purpose of meeting the 27th pay
in a financial year that occurs every 11 years.
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2003 2002
$'000 $'000

19. Receivables
Current
Trade debtors 4,050 3,313
Provision for doubtful debts (11) (11)
GST receivables 188 551

4,227 3,853

20. Amounts receivable for outputs
Current 1,944 1,543

This asset represents the non-cash component of output appropriations.  It is restricted in that it can
only be used for asset replacement or payment of leave liability.

21. Other assets
Current
Other including prepayments 651 526

651 526

Non-current
Prepayments 8 23

8 23

22. Property, plant, equipment and vehicles

Computer hardware
At cost 3,153 2,203
Accumulated depreciation (1,923) (569)

1,230 1,634

Computer software
At cost 588 367
Accumulated depreciation (339) (88)

249 279

Furniture and fittings
At cost 3,607 1,557
Accumulated depreciation (677) (427)

2,930 1,130

Telecommunications
At cost 0 18
Accumulated depreciation 0 (4)

0 14

Vehicles
At cost 80 80
Accumulated depreciation (33) (17)

47 64

Office equipment
At cost 668 600
Accumulated depreciation (249) (118)

419 481

Total
At cost 8,096 4,825
Accumulated depreciation (3,221) (1,223)
Total Property, Plant, Equipment and Vehicles 4,875 3,601
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2003 2002
$'000 $'000

Reconciliations
Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant, equipment and vehicles at the beginning
and end of the current and previous financial year are set out below.

Computer hardware
Carrying amount at start of year 1,634 1,490
Reclassifications 149 0
Write-offs - opening balance variance 1 0
Transfer from Office of Energy 123 0
Additions 692 762
Disposals 0 (48)
Depreciation (1,369) (569)
Carrying amount at end of year 1,230 1,634

Computer software
Carrying amount at start of year 278 326
Reclassifications 9 0
Additions 216 41
Disposals 0 0
Depreciation (254) (88)
Carrying amount at end of year 249 279

Furniture and fittings
Carrying amount at start of year 1,130 1,545
Reclassifications (1) 0
Transfer from Office of Energy 1 0
Additions 2,052 16
Disposals 0 (5)
Depreciation (252) (427)
Carrying amount at end of year 2,930 1,130

Telecommunications
Carrying amount at start of year 14 0
Reclassifications (14) 0
Additions 0 18
Disposals 0 0
Depreciation 0 (4)
Carrying amount at end of year 0 14

Vehicles
Carrying amount at start of year 64 80
Additions 0 0
Disposals 0 0
Depreciation (17) (17)
Carrying amount at end of year 47 64

Office equipment
Carrying amount at start of year 481 341
Reclassifications (143) 0
Write-offs - opening balance variance (1) 0
Transfer from Office of Energy 36 0
Additions 209 263
Disposals (1) (4)
Depreciation (162) (118)
Carrying amount at end of year 419 481
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2003 2002
$'000 $'000

Total - Property, Plant, Equipment and Vehicles
Carrying amount at start of year 3,601 3,783
Reclassifications 0 0
Write-offs - opening balance variance 0 0
Transfer from Office of Energy 160 0
Additions 3,169 1,099
Disposals (1) (57)
Depreciation (2,054) (1,223)
Carrying amount at end of year 4,875 3,601

23. Payables
Current
Trade payables 1,108 1,739
Redundancy payments 0 1,331

1,108 3,069
Non-current
Trade payables
Other 684 39

684 39

24. Provisions
Current
Annual leave 3,191 2,154
Long service leave 2,241 2,192

5,432 4,346
Non-current
Long service leave 3,595 2,796

3,595 2,796

The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment
on-costs including superannuation and workers compensation premiums.  The liability for such
on-costs is included in the figures.  The associated expense is included under the Employee Expenses
at Note 4.

The Department considers the carrying amount of employee benefits to approximate the net fair value.

Employee Benefit Liabilities
The aggregate employee benefit liability recognised and included in the financial statements
is as follows:
Provision for employee benefits:
Current 5,432 4,346
Non-current 3,595 2,796

9,027 7,142

25. Other liabilities
Current
Accrued salaries (1) 929 664
Remunerator 16 16
Unearned revenue - Plumbers licensing Board 247 205
Other 59 98

1,251 983

(1) Amount owing for 7 working days 20/6/03 to 30/6/03 (2002 - 21/6/02 to 28/6/02, 6 working days).
Accrued salaries are settled within a few working days of the financial year end.  The carrying
amount of accrued salaries is equivalent to the net fair value.
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2003 2002
$'000 $'000

26. Equity
Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the Department.  The Government holds
the equity interest in the Department on behalf of the community.

Contributed equity
Opening balance 2,613 0
Capital contribution (1) 2,156 2,613
Contributions/(Withdrawals) by owners (2) (349) 0
Closing balance 4,420 2,613

(1) Capital contributions have been designated as contributions by owners and are credited directly
to equity in the Statement of Financial Position.

(2) The withdrawal arises from the transfer of the Technical Services Division of Office of Energy
to the Department of Consumer and Employment Protection from 1 July 2002.  Liabilities assumed
exceeded assets by $348,944.

Accumulated surplus/(deficiency)
Opening balance 2,410 5,542
Change in net assets (275) (3,132)
Closing balance 2,135 2,410

27. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows
(a) Reconciliation of cash
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the
related items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:

Cash assets 2,719 5,601
Restricted cash assets (refer to Note 18) 4,201 1,110

6,920 6,711

(b) Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by/(used in) operating activities

Net cost of services (44,565) (41,596)

Non-cash items:
Depreciation expense 2,054 1,223
Superannuation expense 794 797
Resources received free of charge 721 355
Net (gain)/loss on sale of property, plant and equipment (7) 59

(Increase)/decrease in assets:
Current receivables (3) (740) (2,548)
Other current assets (110) 37
Non-current assets 0 (23)

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:
Current payables (3) (1,961) 1,719
Current provisions 525 911
Unearned revenue 42 358
Non-current payables 645 0
Other liabilities 226 0
Non current provisions 799 405

Net GST receipts/payments (1) 364 (51)
Change in GST in receivables/payables (2) 0 (212)

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities (41,213) (38,566)

(1) This is the net GST paid/received i.e.. Cash transactions.
(2) This reverses out the GST in accounts receivable and payable.
(3) Note that ATO receivable/payable in respect of GST and receivable/payable in respect of the

sale/purchase of non-current assets are not included in these items as they are not reconciling items.
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2003 2002
$'000 $'000

28. Commitments for expenditure
(a) Lease commitments
Commitments in relation to leases contracted for at reporting date but not recognised
as liabilities are payable:
Within 1 year 6,100 140
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 22,800 60
Later than 5 years 9,700 0

38,600 200
Representing:
Cancelable operating leases
Non-cancellable operating leases 38,600 200

(b) Other expenditure commitments
Within 1 year (1) 0 161
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 0 0
Later than 5 years 0 0

0 161

(1) These commitments are inclusive of GST and are for the outstanding payments to ASG for the
implementation of the Oracle Financials system.

29. Contingent Liabilities
In addition to the liabilities incorporated in the financial statements, the Department has the following
contingent liabilities:

(a) The State of Western Australia has granted a deed of indemnity dated 7 February 2001 to the liquidators of
specified finance companies in respect to actions pursuant to their duties as appointed liquidators.  It is not
practicable to estimate the amount of the potential liability.  There are several other claims that have been lodged
to the Finance Brokers Supervisory Board by investors.  The potential liability is difficult to calculate at present
and it is also not clear which agencies, if any, may be liable.

30. Events occurring after reporting date
The department is not aware of any events occurring after the reporting date.

31. Explanatory statement
The Summary of Consolidated Fund Appropriations and Revenue Estimates discloses appropriations
and other statutes expenditure estimates, the actual expenditures made and revenue estimates and
payments into the Consolidated Fund Appropriations are now on an accrual basis.

The following explanations are provided in accordance with Treasurer's Instruction 945.
Significant variations are considered to be those greater than 10%.

(i) Significant variances between estimate and actual - Total appropriation to purchase outputs:
Although there was no significant variance in the total appropriation, there were significant
offsetting variances in the following output expenditures:

2003 2003
Estimate Actual Variation

$000 $000 $000

Consumer Protection and Business Regulation 31,127 30,598 (529)
The variance is mainly attributed to under spending on Finance Brokers
matters due to the legal processes currently underway.

Occupational Safety and Health Services 12,743 15,467 2,724
The variance is mainly attributed to a greater focus and resources on
occupational safety and health matters.

Total Revenues from Ordinary Activities 14,080 14,983 903
The variance is mainly due to the Worksafe division receiving more
revenue than anticpated from their user fees and charges.
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(ii) Significant variances between actual and prior year actual - Total appropriation
to purchase outputs.

2003 2002
Actual Actual Variation

$000 $000 $000

Occupational Safety and Health Services 15,467 14,554 913
The variance is mainly due to the Worksafe division receiving more
revenue than anticpated from their user fees and charges.

Energy Safety and Quality Services 4,987 0 4,987
The variance is due to the Technical Services Division of the Office of
Energy being merged with the Worksafe division of DOCEP with effect
from 1 July 2002.

Total Revenues from Ordinary Activities 14,983 11,861 3,122
The variance is mainly due to the merger of the Technical Services
division of the Office of Energy with DOCEP and also due to the
Worksafe division receiving more revenue than anticipated from their
user fees and charges.

(iv) Significant variances between actual and prior year actual - Capital Contribution:
2003 2002

Actual Actual Variation
$000 $000 $000

Capital expenditure 2,156 2,613 (457)
The variance is mainly due to funding being partly provided for capital
expenditure with funds from the Holding account.

32. Financial instruments
(a) Interest Rate Risk Exposure
Currently the department has no exposure to interest rate risk or repricing maturities as its operating bank
account is a non-interest bearing account and its financial instruments are therefore stated at their net
fair value.

(b) Credit Risk Exposure
All financial assets are unsecured.
Amounts owing by other government agencies are guaranteed and therefore no credit risk exists in
respect of these amounts.  In respect of other financial assets the carrying amount represent the
department's maximum exposure to credit risk in respect of those amounts.

33. Remuneration and Retirement Benefits of Senior Officers
Remuneration
The number of senior officers, whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation and other benefits for
the financial year, fall within the following bands are:

$ 2003 2002
70,001 - 80,000 0 0
80,001 - 90,000 1 2

90,001 - 100,000 13 6
100,001 - 110,000 4 5
110,001 - 120,000 5 0
120,001 - 130,000 0 1
130,001 - 140,000 0 0
140,001 - 150,000 0 1
150,001 - 160,000 1 1
160,001 - 170,000 0 0
170,001 - 180,000 1 0

The total remuneration of senior officers is: 2,660 1,716

The superannuation included here represents the superannuation expense incurred by the Department
in respect of senior officers.
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2003 2002
$'000 $'000

34. Related bodies
The Department has no related bodies.

35. Affiliated bodies
The Department has no affiliated bodies.

36. Trust and Restricted Cash Accounts
Summary Details
Trust Accounts (Controlled)
Consumer Credit Act (WA) 544 39
Departmental Receipts in Suspense 140 113

684 152
Trust Accounts (Administered)
Rental Accommodation Fund 43,904 37,604

Restricted Cash Accounts
Safetyline Institute 76 63
Indian Ocean Territories (11) 2

65 65

Detailed Breakdown
Trust Accounts
Consumer Credit Act (WA) (1)
Opening balance 39 39
Receipts: 505 0
Payments: 0 0
Closing balance 544 39

Departmental Receipts in Suspense (2)
Opening balance 113 113
Receipts: 45 0
Payments: (18) 0
Closing balance 140 113

Administered
Rental Accommodation Fund (3)
Opening balance 37,604 38,395
Receipts: 34,461 28,419
Payments: (28,161) (29,210)
Closing balance 43,904 37,604

(1) Holds funds pending distribution in accordance with the Consumer Credit (WA) Act 1986 or
court direction.
(2) Holds funds pending identification of the purpose for which the monies were received.
(3) Holds rental security bonds and the income there from in accordance with clause 3(1) of
schedule 1 of the Residential Tenancies Act.
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2003 2002
$'000 $'000

Restricted Cash Accounts
Safetyline Institute (4)
Opening balance 63 49
Receipts: 13 14
Payments: 0 0
Closing balance 76 63

Indian Ocean Territories (5)
Opening balance 2 26
Receipts: 165 122
Payments: (178) (146)
Closing balance (11) 2

(4) The fund was created under the State Trading Concerns Act 1916 and controls income
received in respect of the provisions of copyright materials and a relevant trade mark advertising
opportunities or similar arrangements.
(5) DOCEP has a service delivery agreement with the Commonwealth Government to undertake
to provide its normal service to the Christmas and Cocos Islands.  The shortfall of funds will be
recouped during 2003-04.

37. Supplementary financial information
Write-Offs
During the financial year $5,775.65 was written off under the authority of:

The Accountable Officer 6 13
6 13

Losses through Theft, Defaults and Other Causes
Losses of public monies and public and other property through
theft or default 39 0
Amount recovered 39 0

Gifts of Public Property
The Department received no gifts of public property.
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2003 2002
$'000 $'000

38. Administered Expenses and Revenues
Expenses
Receipts paid into Consolidated Fund 3,928 4,227
Total administered expenses 3,928 4,227

Revenues
Regulatory fees and charges 3,928 4,221
Total administered revenues 3,928 4,221

Payments of Fees and Fines to the Consolidated Fund.  DOCEP is responsible for the
collection of certain fees and fines.  These are not classified as operating revenue and
expenses and are credited to the Consolidated Fund.

Collections made during the year:
Business Names Registrations 2493 2881
Other Registration Fees 96 80
Credit Providers 388 452
Employment Agents 60 36
Finance Brokers 253 58
Land Valuers 23 155
Motor Vehicle Dealers 521 396
Travel Agents 61 163
Plumbers 5 0
Petroleum Pricing 2 0
Other 26 0
Total 3928 4221

39. Administered Assets and Liabilities
Current Assets
Cash Assets 0 (11)
Receivables 22 12
Total administered current assets 22 1

Total Administered Assets 22 1

Current Liabilities
Payables 22 11
Total administered current liabilities 22 11

Total Administered Liabilities 22 11

The administered assets, liabilities, expenses and revenues are those which the
Government requires the department to administer on its behalf.
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Appendices 
 
 

Appendix One - Legislation administered by the department 
 
The Department assists the Minister with the administration of the following Acts 
of Parliament: 
 
Acts Amendment and Repeal Industrial Relations Act (No.2) 1984 – this Act 
consolidated, amended and replaced the Industrial Arbitration Act (date), and 
amended the Industrial Relations Act (1979).  This Act has transitional provisions 
which still apply.  
Acts Amendment (Occupational Health, Safety and Welfare) Act 1987 
Associations Incorporation Act 1987 – provides a means by which 
associations (such as clubs and societies) can become incorporated bodies 
(limited to securities over crops, livestock and wool). 
Auction Sales Act 1973 – provides for the licensing of auctioneers. 
Bills of Sale Act 1899 – provides for the creation of personal property securities 
and originally provided a registration scheme covering most personal property.  
The Chattels Securities Act (1987) has amended the operation of this Act and 
limited its scope. 
Bread Act 1982 – provides for a system of licensing bake-houses and limits 
trading and baking hours. 
Builders’ Registration Act 1939 – provides for a system of registration and 
discipline of builders and for the establishment of the Building Disputes Tribunal. 
Business Names Act 1962 – establishes a system of registration of business 
names. 
Charitable Collections Act 1946 – establishes a system for licensing of 
charitable organisations and inspection of their financial records. 
Chattel Securities Act 1987 – provides for a system of creation and registration 
of personal property securities.  At present operation of the Act is limited to 
registering securities over motor vehicles and recreational boats. 
Commercial Tenancy (Retail Shops) Agreements Act 1985 – regulates some 
aspects of the relationship between commercial landlords and tenants in relation 
to retail shops and provides for a dispute resolution process. 
Companies (Co-operative) Act 1943 – regulates the formation of cooperative 
Companies and their management. 
Competition Policy Reform Act 1996 – applies certain parts of the Trade 
Practices Act 1974 of the Commonwealth as the law of Western Australia, to 
prohibit all persons carrying on business in from engaging in anti-competitive 
conduct. 
Competition Policy (Taxation) Act 1996 – provides the power to collect certain 
fees imposed by the Competition Policy Reform Act (date) as taxes, as required 
by the Constitution Acts Amendment Act 1899. 
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Conspiracy and Protection of Property Act 1900 – protects persons who 
combine together to take industrial action, from being liable to be convicted of the 
crime of conspiracy.   
Construction Industry Portable Paid Long Service Leave Act 1985 – provides 
portable long service leave entitlements to employees in the construction 
industry.   
Consumer Affairs Act 1971 – establishes the Ministry of Fair Trading (originally 
Consumer Affairs) and the office of Commissioner for Fair Trading.  Describes 
the functions of the Ministry and empowers the Commissioner to undertake those 
functions and do other things in relation to them. 
Consumer Credit (Western Australia) Act 1996 – regulates all forms of 
consumer credit including home loans and applies to all credit providers including 
banks, building societies and credit unions.  From 1 June 2002 also regulates 
short term credit providers (pay-day lenders). 
Cooperative and Provident Societies Act 1903 
Credit Act 1984) – regulates the provision of credit for private purposes in 
amounts less than $20,000.  Largely superseded by the Consumer Credit 
(Western Australia) Act 1966). 

Credit (Administration) Act 1984 – establishes a licensing system for credit 
providers who provide credit under the Credit Act 1984). 
Debt Collectors Licensing Act 1964 – establishes a licensing and disciplinary 
system for debt collectors. 
Disposal of Uncollected Goods Act 1970 – provides a statutory system to 
provide for the orderly sale and disposal of uncollected goods and goods the 
owners of which cannot be traced. 
Distress for Rent Abolition Act 1936 – abolished, subject to the operation of 
the Property Law Act (date), the remedy of distress (seizure of personal property) 
for arrears of rent. 
Door to Door Trading Act 1987 – regulates the conduct of businesses engaged 
in door to door trading and provides consumer remedies for goods or services 
purchased in the course of door to door trading. 
Employment Agents Act 1976 – establishes a licensing and disciplinary system 
for employment agents. 
Fair Trading Act 1987 – deals with misleading or deceptive conduct and related 
issues, pyramid sales schemes and related issues, consumer warranties, and 
provides for creation of codes of conduct for businesses. 
Finance Brokers Control Act 1975 – establishes the Finance Brokers 
Supervisory Board and provides for a system of licensing and disciplining of 
finance brokers. 
Hairdressers Registration Act 1946 – establishes the Hairdressers Registration 
Board and provides for a system of registering and disciplining hairdressers. 
Hire Purchase Act 1959 – regulates the provisions of hire purchase finance.  
Operation of the Act is affected by the Credit Act 1984. 
Home Building Contracts Act 1991 – regulates contracts between consumers 
and builders for performing home building work and makes provision for home 
indemnity insurance. 
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Industrial Relations Amendment Act 1993 – amended the Industrial Relations 
Act 1979. 
Industrial Relations Amendment Act 1995 – provided further amendments to 
the Industrial Relations Act (1979).   
Industrial Relations Act 1979 – establishes the Western Australian Industrial 
Relations Commission, and provides the framework for award and agreement 
making and the resolution of industrial disputes.   
Industrial Relations Legislation Amendment and Repeal Act 1995 – 
amended the Industrial Relations Act (1979) and repealed various redundant 
statutes.    
Labour Relations Legislation Reform Act 1997 – amended the Industrial 
Relations Act 1979 and the Workplace Agreements Act 1993. 
Labour Relations Reform Act 2002 – amended the Industrial Relations Act 
1979, the Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993 and provided for the 
repeal of the Workplace Agreements Act 1993. 
Land Valuers Licensing Act 1978 – establishes Land Valuers Licensing Board 
and provides for a system of licensing and disciplining of land valuers. 
Law Reform (Common Employment) Act 1951 – places vicarious liability on 
employers for injury to an employee caused by negligence of a fellow employee. 
Limited Partnership Act 1909 – regulates the creation of limited partnerships 
and the rights and obligations of members of limited partnerships. 
Long Service Leave Act 1958 – provides a long service leave entitlement for 
employees whose employment is not subject to an award or other industrial 
instrument.  
Metric Conversion Act 1972 – provides for the use of the metric system of 
measurement to replace previous references to physical quantities in other 
legislation. 
Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993 – provides a safety net of 
minimum conditions of employment for all employees in the state labour relations 
system. 
Motor Vehicle Dealers Act 1973 – establishes the Motor Vehicle Dealers 
Licensing Board and provides for a licensing and discipline system for motor 
vehicle dealers, yard managers and salespersons. 

New Tax System Price Exploitation Code (Western Australia) Act 1999 – 
applies the provisions of the Commonwealth's New Tax System Price 
Exploitation Code to individuals and partnerships. 
New Tax System Price Exploitation Code (Taxing) Act 1999 – supports the 
introduction of the New Tax System Price Exploitation Code by imposing any 
necessary fees. 
Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984 
Occupational Safety and Health (Validation) Act 1998 
Painters Registration Act 1961 – establishes the Painters’ Registration Board 
and provides for a system of registration and disciplining of painters. 
Petroleum Products Pricing Act 1983 – provides for control of petroleum 
product prices in circumstances specified in the Act. 
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Petroleum Retailers Rights and Liabilities Act 1982 – deals with the rights and 
liabilities of persons in businesses occupying land for the purpose of selling 
petroleum products. 
Public and Bank Holidays Act 1972 – prescribes the public holidays and bank 
holidays which are to be observed within Western Australia.   
Real Estate and Business Agents 1978 – establishes the Real Estate and 
Business Agents Supervisory Board and provides for a system of licensing and 
discipline for real estate and business agents. 
Residential Tenancies Act 1987 – regulates the formation of residential tenancy 
agreements and the conduct of the parties bound by those agreements. 
Retail Trading Hours Act 1987 – provides for the regulation of trading hours to 
be observed by businesses operating in Western Australia. 
Retirement Villages Act 1992 – regulates the establishment of retirement 
villages and the rights of residents of retirement villages. 
Sale of Goods Act 1895 – to be read in conjunction with the Fair Trading Act 
1987.  Implies into contracts, in circumstances described in the Act, terms and 
conditions relating to the sale of goods. 
Sale of Goods (Vienna Convention) Act 1986 – incorporates into Western 
Australian law the provisions of the United Nations Convention on Contracts for 
the international sale of goods. 
Settlement Agents Act 1981 – establishes Settlement Agents Supervisory 
Board and provides for a licensing and disciplinary system for settlement agents. 
Shearers’ Accommodation Act 1912. 
Street Collections (Regulation) Act 1940 – establishes a system for regulating 
the conduct of street collections. 
Sunday Entertainment Act (1979) – regulates the ability of businesses to open 
on Sundays. 
Timber Industry Regulation Act 1926. 
Trading Stamp Act 1981 – prohibits the redemption of “third party trading 
stamps”. 
Travel Agents Act 1985 – provides for a system of licensing of travel agents. 
Water Services Co-ordination Act (Part 5 only) 1995 – establishes the 
Plumbers Licensing Board and provides for a system of registering and 
disciplining plumbers. 
Weights and Measures Act 1915 – provides for uniform standards of weighing 
and measurement in Western Australia and for the maintenance of standard 
weights and measures. 
Wheat Products (Prices Fixation) Act 1938 – provides for the establishment of 
the Wheat Products Prices Committee and for the committee to have the power 
to fix minimum and maximum prices for the sale of wheat and wheat products 
(not operating). 
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Workmen’s Wages Act 1898 – provides for wages of people employed in 
manual labour be paid weekly unless the employee otherwise agrees in writing, 
and for employees to secure payment of their wages against money due to their 
employer. 
Workplace Agreements Act 1993 –This Act has been repealed and will cease 
to have effect in September 2003.  
 

Energy-related legislation 

 
Energy Co-ordination Act 1994 (major parts) 
Electricity Act 1945 (most parts) 
Gas Standards Act 1972 
Gas Standards (Gasfitting and Consumer Gas Installations) 1999 
Liquid Petroleum Gas Act 1956 
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Appendix Two - Changes in Written Law 

  

WORKSAFE 

 
Amendments during the year were: 
 

Occupational Safety and Health Act Amendment 
Title Gazettal Date Page 

Occupational Safety and Health Amendment 
Bill 2002 

21 Jan 2003 134 

 
The Occupational Safety and Health Amendment Act 2002 amended the 
Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984 to include members of the Western 
Australian Police Service.  The legislation comes into effect 12 months following 
assent by Parliament on 3 January 2003.  There is a transitional period of nine 
months to allow for the election and training of safety and health representatives. 
 

Occupational Safety and Health Amendment Regulations 
Number Gazettal date Pages 

(No. 7) 2002 10 Jan 2003 63-75 
(No. 3) 2003 8 April 2003 1108-1113 
(No. 4) 2003 27 June 2003 2432-2434 
 
The Occupational Safety and Health Amendment Regulations (No.7) 2002 
updates referenced Australian Standards contained within the Regulations and 
listed in Schedule 1 of the Occupational Safety and Health Regulations 1996. 
 
The Occupational Safety and Health Amendment Regulations (No.3) 2003 
establish an operating standard for drivers of commercial vehicles.   
 
The Occupational Safety and Health Amendment Regulations (No.4) 2003 
increases, from 1 July 2003, the fees and charges stated in:  
 
�� Schedule 6.1 - Rate payable for assessments and tests; 
�� Schedule 6.1A - Fees under Part 3 Division 9;  
�� Schedule 6.2 - Fees under Part 4 Division 2;  
�� Schedule 6.2A - Fees under Part 5 Division 4; and 
�� Schedule 6.3 - Fees under Part 6. 
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CONSUMER PROTECTION 

 

Home Building Contracts Amendment Act 2002 

 
This Act came into effect on 20 November 2002. It contains amendments to the 
compulsory home indemnity insurance scheme as part of the Government’s 
response to difficulties in the home indemnity insurance market arising from the 
collapse of the HIH Insurance Group and difficulties in the international insurance 
market resulting from the World Trade Centre terrorist attack of 11 September 
2001. 
 
The major features of the Act are: 
 
(i) provisions for the temporary suspension of the HII scheme; 
(ii) the removal of mandatory HII benefits for developers, ie. loss of deposit 

and non-completion costs; 
(iii) provisions to allow for mutual or similar schemes to compete with private 

insurers in the HII market;  
(iv) provisions stating that it is an offence to fail to comply with conditions set 

out in regulations; and 
(v) provisions to allow registered builders to construct a home for themselves 

once in every six years without first obtaining a home indemnity insurance 
policy. 

 

Home Building Contracts (Home Indemnity Insurance — Multi-storey 
Mult-unit Developments Exemption) Regulations 2002 

 
These Regulations are a further element of the Government’s response to 
difficulties in the home indemnity insurance market. The Regulations exempt a 
retirement village that is intended to be leased to all residents from the home 
indemnity insurance requirements set out in Part 3A of the Home Building 
Contracts Act 1991. 
 
The Amendment Regulations enable an owner/developer of this type of 
retirement village to make a commercial decision about whether or not to require 
their builder to take out home indemnity insurance. The owner/developer can 
assess the financial risks of such a decision and decide whether the builder 
should obtain home indemnity insurance or take advantage of the exemption.  
 
For consumer protection purposes, the owner/developer would bear the risk of 
this decision rather than the prospective residents of the retirement village. The 
owner/developer would be legally responsible for ensuring that the retirement 
village is built to specification. These obligations are imposed by any contract 
which may be in place with the resident, and the owner/developer’s general 
responsibilities under the Fair Trading Act 1987 and Trade Practices Act 1974.  In 
addition, under the Retirement Villages Act 1992, various dispute resolution 
mechanisms are established which retirement village residents can access in the 
event of disputes with the owner/developer of the retirement village. 
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The Retirement Villages Act 1992 also provides for a resident’s premium to be 
held in trust by the administering body of the retirement village. As a result, in the 
event that the property was not completed, the resident’s deposit would be 
protected. 
 
The Amendment Regulations provide that in taking up the exemption, the 
owner/developer must lodge a memorial on the certificate of title indicating that 
home indemnity insurance has not been obtained.  If the owner of the retirement 
village wishes to sell within six years, home indemnity insurance must be 
obtained. This measure will ensure that people who purchase a dwelling within a 
retirement village are protected in the same way as other residential property 
purchasers under the Home Building Contracts Act 1991.  After six years from 
practical completion, the term of home indemnity insurance required under the 
Home Building Contracts Act 1991, the memorial may be lifted and the dwellings 
sold without the need to obtain home indemnity insurance. 
 
The Regulations also consolidate existing home indemnity insurance exemptions 
for multi-storey, multi-unit developments and State Housing Commission 
developments with the new retirement village exemptions. 
 

Consumer Credit (Western Australia) Amendment Act 2003 

 
This Act, which received Assent on 30 June 2003, implements application of laws 
legislation so that the Consumer Credit Code (as in force from time to time in 
Queensland) applies in WA as template legislation.  The Act contains special 
provisions whereby amendments to the Code in Queensland, will only apply as 
law in Western Australia following an Order being published in the Gazette by the 
Governor.  The Order will not be able to be made unless each House of this 
Parliament has first approved a draft of the Order. A motion will be required to be 
placed on the Notice Paper seeking approval of the Order.  The Order will set out 
the proposed amendments for consideration, which will mean that Parliament will 
be fully informed of the content of the amendments. 
 
By adopting the Queensland Consumer Credit Code, the Act also resulted in the 
introduction into Western Australia of changes to that Code that require the 
publishing of mandatory comparison rates for fixed-term consumer credit 
products by credit providers. 
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Appendix Three - Instruments of Declaration, Co-agency 
Agreements and Memoranda of Understanding 
 
 

WorkSafe 

 
The Minister for Consumer and Employment Protection enters into Instruments of 
Declaration with the Minister for State Development under Section 4(3) of the 
Occupational Safety and Health Act, and during 2002-03 the following 
instruments were in operation.   
 
�� BHP Iron Ore’s dry-docking operations at Nelson Point; 
�� part of Griffin Coal Mining Company Ltd operations in Collie; and 
�� any railway or rolling stock operated, managed or controlled by the Pilbara 

Rail Company Pty Ltd. 
 
Co-agency Agreements in place during 2002-03 were with: 
 
��Department of Industry and Resources (Explosives and Dangerous Goods); 
��Australian Marine Safety Authority; and 
��Department for Planning and Infrastructure 

- fatigue management in the omnibus industry 
- marine safety; and 
- rail safety. 

 
Memoranda of understanding also exist with the Commonwealth Government for 
the provision of inspection services to Commonwealth Government workplaces 
and to workplaces on Cocos and Christmas Islands. 
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Appendix Four - DOCEP Office Locations 
 
Consumer Protection - Perth Regional offices 
Forrest Centre  
219 St Georges Terrace ALBANY 
PERTH WA 6000 Unit 2/129 Aberdeen Street 
Telephone: 1300 30 40 54 PO Box 832 
Facsimile: 9282 0850 ALBANY WA 6330 
Email: on-line@mft.wa.gov.au  
Web: www.docep.wa.gov.au Consumer Protection: 9842 8366 
 Labour Relations: 9842 8279 
Labour Relations - Perth  
Dumas House BUNBURY 
3rd Floor, 2 Havelock Street 8th Floor 
WEST PERTH WA 6005 61 Victoria Street 
Telephone: 9222 7700 PO Box 1065 
Facsimile: 9222 7777 BUNBURY WA 6231 
Email: labourrelations@docep.wa.gov.au  
Web: www.docep.wa.gov.au Consumer Protection: 9791 7134 
 Labour Relations: 99791 2136 
WorkSafe - Perth WorkSafe: 9791 7211 
Westcentre Energy Safety: 9791 7211 
5th Floor 1260 Hay Street  
WEST PERTH WA 6005 GERALDTON 
Telephone: 9327 8777 Shop 3 Post Office Plaza 
Facsimile: 9321 8973 50-52 Durlacher Street 
Email: safety@docep.wa.gov.au PO Box 1477 
Web: www.safetyline.wa.gov.au GERALDTON WA 6530 
  
Energy Safety - Perth Consumer Protection: 9964 5644 
20 Southport Street Labour Relations: 9965 4163 
WEST LEEDERVILLE WA 6007  
Telephone: 9422 5200 2/8 Chapman Road 
Facsimile: 9422 5244 PO Box 2126 
Email: energysafety@docep.wa.gov.au GERALDTON WA 6531 
Web: www.docep.wa.gov.au  
 Energy Safety: 9964 5133 
  
 KALGOORLIE 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Viskovich House 
377 Hannan Street 
PO Box 10154 
KALGOORLIE WA 6433 
 
Consumer Protection: 9021 5966 
Labour Relations: 9021 0811 
Energy Safety: 9021 0811 

  
 KARRATHA 
 Unit 9 

Karratha Village Shopping Centre 
Sharpe Avenue 
PO Box 5 
KARRATHA WA 6714 
Consumer Protection: 99144 1478 
Labour Relations: 9185 1911 
WorkSafe: 9185 1911 
Energy Safety: 9144 2800 
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Appendix Five - Consumer Protection Regulatory Boards and Affiliated Committees/tribunals 
 
The boards in the Consumer and Employment Protection portfolio have a range of functions including licensing of participants in relevant 
industries, investigating complaints about the conduct of industry participants and taking disciplinary action where appropriate.  Below is a brief 
summary of the functions of each board. 

 

 
BOARD 

REAL ESTATE & 
BUSINESS 
AGENTS’ 

SUPERVISORY 
BOARD 

SETTLEMENT 
AGENTS 

SUPERVISORY 
BOARD 

LAND VALUERS 
LICENSING 

BOARD 
BUILDERSREGIST
RATION BOARD 

PAINTERS 
REGISTRATION 

BOARD 

MOTOR VEHICLE 
DEALERS 

LICENSING 
BOARD 

HAIRDRESSERS 
REGISTRATION 

BOARD 

PLUMBERS 
LICENSING 

BOARD 

 
Legislation 

Real Estate & 
Business Agents 
Act 1978 

Settlement Agents 
Act 1981 

Land Valuers 
Licensing Act 1978 

Builders’ 
Registration Act 
1939 

Painters’ 
Registration Act 
1961 

Motor Vehicle 
Dealers Act 1973 

Hairdressers 
Registration Act 
1946 

Water Services 
Co-ordination 
Amendment Act 
1999 

Principal functions         
Licensing Licensing of real 

estate agents and 
registration of 
developers and 
sales 
representatives 

Licensing of 
settlement agents 

Licensing of land 
valuers 

Registration of 
builders 

Registration of 
painters 

Licensing of motor 
vehicle dealers, car 
market operators, 
yard managers & 
salespersons 

Registration of 
Hairdressers 

Licensing of 
plumbers and 
tradespersons 

Investigation 
 

Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes No Yes NO 
Disciplinary action 
 YES Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes 

Management of funds Yes Yes No Yes  Yes No Yes  Yes 
Other    Set workmanship 

standards 
Set workmanship 
standards 
Make work orders  

Set standards for 
business premises 

Holding 
examinations 

 

SOURCE OF FUNDING Self funded 
(licence and 
registration fees 
and interest on 
investments)  

Self funded 
(licence and 

registration fees 
and interest on 
investments) 

Consumer 
Protection 
(CONSOLID
ATED 
FUND) 

Self funded 
(Registration fees, 
building licence 
levies, complaint 
application fees 

Self funded  
(Registration fees) 

Consumer 
Protection 
(Consolidated 
Fund) 

Self funded  
(Registration fees) 

Self funded  
(Licence fees) 

EMPLOYMENT OF STAFF Employed by Board Employed by 
Board 

Employees of 
Consumer 
Protection 

EMPLOYED 
BY BOARD 

Employed by Board Employees of 
Consumer 
Protection 

Employed by Board Employed by Board 

NUMBER OF ENTITIES 
REGULATED 
(approx) 

2850 agents 
8000 sales 
representatives 

615 agents 470 valuers 4950 builders 2520 painters 780 Motor Dealers 
880 Yard Managers 
1800 Salespersons 

4400 hairdressers 1800 Lic Plumbers 
1200 
Tradespersons 
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Consumer Protection committees and Building Disputes Tribunal 

 
Below is a brief summary of the functions of each committee, and the Building Disputes Tribunal, which fall within the Consumer and 
Employment Protection portfolio: 
 

 
BOARD / COMMITTEE 

BUILDING DISPUTES 
TRIBUNAL 

PRICES ADVISORY 
COMMITTEE 

HOME BUYERS 
ASSISTANCE 

ADVISORY 
COMMITTEE 

RETAIL SHOPS 
ADVISORY 

COMMITTEE 
CONSUMER PRODUCT 
SAFETY COMMITTEE 

CHARITABLE 
COLLECTIONS 

ADVISORY 
COMMITTEE 

LEGISLATION 
 

Builders’ Registration Act 
1939 

Petroleum Products 
Pricing Act 1983 

Real Estate and 
Business Agents Act 
1978 

Retail Trading Hours Act 
1987 

Consumer Affairs Act 
1971 

Charitable Collections 
Act 1946 

PRINCIPAL 
FUNCTIONS 

To hear and settle 
contractual and 
workmanship disputes 
between consumers and 
builders.  

To advise the Minister or 
Commissioner whether 
or not petroleum 
products or services 
should be declared. 

To consider applications 
for financial assistance 
from first home buyers 
and make 
recommendations to 
REBA. 

To investigate and make 
recommendations to the 
Minister relating to the 
operation and 
administration of the Act. 

Make recommendations 
to the Commissioner for 
Fair Trading that prohibit 
or restrict the supply of 
goods. 

To advise the Minister in 
relation to applications 
for licences. 

 

 To advise the Minister or 
Commissioner whether 
or not maximum  prices 
should be fixed in 
relation to declared 
petroleum products or 
services. 

 Make recommendations 
to the Commissioner of 
Fair Trading on the issue 
of permits to remain 
open or to provide goods 
or services that are not 
prescribed. 

 To conduct inquiries and 
make recommendations 
to the Minister in respect 
of the revocation of 
licenses. 

SOURCE OF FUNDING 
 

Builders’ Registration 
Board. 

Consumer Protection 
(Consolidated Fund). 

Real Estate and 
Business Agents 
Supervisory Board 
(REBA) 

Consumer Protection 
(Consolidated Fund). 

Consumer Protection 
(Consolidated Fund) 

Consumer Protection 
(Consolidated Fund). 
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Appendix Six – Outcome Two Effectiveness Criteria 
SUMMARY OF CRITERIA (ELEMENTS) USED FOR OUTCOME TWO 
OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH EFFECTIVENESS MEASURE, as from 
1 January 2003* 

 
Work at heights 

�� Practicable control measures have been 
implemented and maintained to eliminate or reduce 
risk associated with work at heights. 

�� There is a safe means of access and egress to work 
at heights. 

�� People required to work at heights have been 
provided with adequate information instruction and 
training. 

 
Forklifts 

�� The maintenance record is complete. 
�� The operator is trained in accordance with NOHSC 

1006 (2001) (or training is in progress) and to the 
competency requirements of NOHSC 7019 (1992). 

�� The forklift is in good working order. 
�� A capacity chart is provided. 
�� An operator’s manual is provided. 
�� The work is organised for the safety of the operator 

and others. 
 
Electricity 

�� Electrical installations are maintained to minimise the 
risk of electric shock or fire. 

�� Hand-held or portable equipment is protected by 
RCDs. 

�� Flexible cords are used in a safe manner. 
�� Electrical installations are protected from damage 

that would increase the risk of electrical shock or fire. 
�� The work is organised for the safety of employees 

and others at workplaces. 
 
Hazardous substances 

��The register of hazardous substances is complete and 
readily available. 

�� Hazardous substances are properly labelled. 
��Risk assessment has been completed for all 

hazardous substances and the assessment is 
recorded in the register. 

��Practicable control measures have been implemented 
and maintained to reduce the risk associated with use 
of hazardous substances. 

��People required to work with hazardous substances 
have been provided with adequate information, 
instruction and training. 

��Health surveillance is undertaken where appropriate. 

Slips & trips* 

�� Everyone in the workplace has been provided 
with adequate information, instruction and 
training on how to manage slip, trip and fall 
hazards. 

�� Practicable control measures have been 
implemented and maintained to eliminate or 
reduce risk associated with slipping, tripping and 
falling resulting from such factors such as worn 
or poorly drained floor surfaces, water or other 
materials, poor housekeeping, trip hazards, 
poorly marked access ways, poorly marked 
changes in floor surfaces, glare or sharp 
changes in lighting levels.   

 
Manual handling (particularly lifting) 

�� Practicable control measures have been 
implemented and maintained to eliminate or 
reduce risk associated with manual handling 
work activity (emphasis on lifting).  The control 
measures have addressed all significant risk 
factors. 

�� Everyone involved in organising and 
implementing manual handling processes; or 
tasks where manual handling hazards have been 
identified; have been provided with adequate 
information, instruction and training (emphasis on 
lifting). 

 
New & young workers 

�� Information, instruction and training has been 
provided for the following items: 
1. emergency evacuation and other relevant 

emergency procedures; 
2. hazard reporting and accident reporting 

procedures; 
3. how to reduce the risk of injury or harm for 

hazards new & young workers may be 
exposed to in the course of their work; and 

4. the use, maintenance and storage of PPE. 
�� Supervisors ensure that new & young workers 

are working in accordance with safety 
instructions including instructions regarding 
skylarking, initiation ceremonies and bullying. 

�� Employers ensure the risk of injury or harm to 
visitors is reduced by means appropriate for the 
workplace and the type of work activity. 

 
* Slips & trips replaced demolition as a priority area 

on 1 January 2003.  The Criteria (elements) for 
Demolition can be found in the 2001-02 Annual 
Report. 
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Notes to Table 5 
i  Table 5 records actual elements checked during priority investigations, so it excludes elements 

that were not applicable at the time of the investigation. 
 PIRs are completed during the course of proactive investigations in high risk industry subgroups 

which have been identified on the basis of lost time injury and disease statistic, or during the 
course of reactive investigations.  Consequently, the results reported are based on a sample of 
workplaces that is biased toward high-risk areas.  Therefore, although the results reflect the 
compliance levels found in workplaces visited by inspectors, it may not represent all workplaces 
in Western Australia. 

ii  There may be multiple Priority Investigation Reports completed at some types of workplaces. 
iii  The Priority Investigation checklist for demolition contains one element for work at heights and 

one for manual handling.  When visiting demolition sites, inspectors are only required to 
complete one Priority Investigation Report. 

 During 2002-03 the priority area of demolition was only for the period 1 July 2002 – 31 
December 2002. 

iv  The priority area of slips and trips was for the period 1 January 2003 – 30 June 2003. 

Notes to Table 6 
v  Where a nil target is presented, the target represents the desired trend for the community. 

Notes to Table 7B 
vi  This data is supplied by Western Power and is based on a manual recording system.  Western 

Power advises that the introduction of a new electronic fault active model data management 
system is imminent. 

Notes to Table 8 
vii  The calculated 2002-03 result is inclusive of both natural gas and liquid petroleum gas quality 

assessments. 


